
010849



Sm



IL
rm strong results in reduced water usage electricity and

greenhouse gases at our communities We are taking

action in our daily work environments and Aim Green

by reducing paper usage in our offices and by shifting

am pleased to present Aimco
more than half of our advertising from print to electronic

Corporate Citizenship Report for
media These efforts result in greater efficiencies and

2009 Believing that corporate
are more considerate of the environment

stewardship is integral to Aimcos

mission our team has woven the None of this could he done without the energy and

tenets of corporate citizenship into innovation of the Aimco team Their professional and

al aspects of our business model
personal contributions diverse backgrounds and

and across all organizational levels Our corporate talents are directly related to the success of the

citizenship efforts further company values of company and the satisfaction of our residents By

integrity respect collaboration customer focus
offering hundreds of training courses and personalized

and performance How we conduct our business development plans providing scholarships for

can be just as important as what we do and both college-bound children of team members recognizing

are key to Aimcos success teammates who excel and paying for performance

Aimco works to be an employer of choice
Corporate Citizenship Council composed of team

members representing diverse cross-section of Each day our team members strive to create high

business units leads our companywide initiatives
quality living experience for the families who call Aimco

This group takes close look at opportunities for home Whether responding to maintenance requests

environmental sustainability resident satisfaction team
assisting new residents with their leases or organizing

engagement stakeholder concerns community service community activities our teams realize that resident

and corporate governance The Council challenges us satisfaction is the foundation of our success We

to build on solid accomphshments in these areas by conduct series of resident surveys and welcome

establishing still higher company goals and benchmarks
regular feedback on whether Aimco is meeting the high

and by implementinq new initiatives where cost standards we have set for ourselves

effective

As we enter new decade Aimco will continue working

highlight of Aimcos Corporate Citizenship Program in partnership with key external stakeholders at the

in 2009 was our first national days of community local state and federal levels of government on vital

service In celebration of the fifth anniversary of our issues facing our communities and our industry We

Aimcc Cares philanthropic program we mobilized
place premium on gaining the trust and support of

teams across the country to contribute thousands of allies across the country and working collaboratively

company-paid volunteer hours to address important on public policy to benefit our residents our business

local priorities Team members responded with and our shareholders

enthusiasm and dedication lending hand to help

organizations that assist thousands of people Please take look at this years report hope you will

nationwide Aimco Cares reflects our commitment to share my excitement for all that the Aimco team has

volunteerism as well as Aimcos core value of giving
accomplished Of course this is work in progress and

back to communities in which we work and live much remains to be done But as leading provider

of rental housing we have an enormous opportunity

Aimcc is also maintaining clear focus on and responsibility to have positive impact on our

environmental sustainability While apartment homes communities Aimco is ready for the challenge

are by definition sustainable compact developments

that minimize environmental footprints and more

efficieitly use scarce resources our focus has been to

upgrade and retrofit our portfolio to save energy and

water while at the same time reducing costs Four years Terry Considine Chairman and CEO

after formalizing our conservation programs we see Apartment Investment and Management Company



it

it

twi

ii

Lt

lilt

vfl

1I
fl

1y

ii





Revitalizing

Neighborhoods
Aimcos Willow Bend in Chicagocr1c House in Baltimore and Ingram Square inveedng NeL1
San Antonio also were finalized in 2009

At Aimco we believe that everyone can realizeAimco apartment living is the smart choice for
the dream of living in good quality home Asnearly half million residents across the United
one of the largest providers of affordable housingStates College students young families urban
in the nation our goal is to provide safe andprofessionals and senior citizens looking for the
comfortable home for every customer In public-combination of convenience and customer service
private partnerships with the Department ofchoose Aimco
Housing and Urban Development and stateapartments as their
and local governments Aimco has preservedVI VA homes Aimcos
apartments for low-income residents at timediverse portfolio offers
when financial markets are uncertain and theapartments to fit every
nations affordable housing stock is dwindlingIii budget from luxurious

to affordable from
Working to address the nations need for

garden style to high affordable housing also comes with goal of
rise with locations in

providing apartment homes that meet high
_____ both urban

settings standards For the last three years Aimco hasand quiet suburbs
received top honors from the National AffordableAs one of the largest Housing Management Association for having theowners of apartments most affordable apartment communities that haveAimco plays major achieved the Community of Quality designationrole in meeting the

for outstanding physical
______________________

nations housing
surroundings residentneeds
service and management
practicesAimco strives to be an outstanding community

partner helping to stimulate economic

development and revitalize neighborhoods in key
markets nationwide Aimco uses resources to

IN LOS ANGELES
repurpose restore and renovate older buildings AIMCO PARTNERED
in premier locations Redeve oping exis ng

FOR AFFORDABLEstructures rather than engaging in ground-up

HOUSING TO PRESERVE
construction promotes urban infill while making

AND RENOVATE NEARLYefficient use of local infrastructure

300 HOMES AT THE HISTORIC VAN NUYS
APARTMENTS BY RESTORING THE ORIGINAL

In Pacifica California Aimco recently completed
GRANDEUR OF THE 1911 STRUCTUREthe renovation of 63 units at The Bluffs an
AIMCO HAS HELPED TO ANCHOR THEapartment community in the heart of this

REViTALiZATION OF THE SURROUNDINGoceanside town picturesque ocean view
NEIGHBORHOOD AND WILL KEEP HOUSINGmodern in-home amenities new fitness center AFFORDABLE FOR SENIOR AND DISABLEDand jogging path remind residents why the Bluffs
RESiDENTS FOR 55 YEARS

is great place to call home Major upgrades to



/\rn is iveflknown as one of ihe largest owners
a.d nanagers of aparments in the county But

our eputation for
quality comes from having .L.-

satisfied residents \Ae continuaily strive to offer ar

outstanding resident experience looking for ways
to enhance the bnnefits we provide to CLiStorflers

who choose an AImCO aparh-nent as their home

Launched in 2O9
Aimcos new For residents senior Communities Aimco
FCustomer vebsite 55 Resident Service Coordinators RSCs serv
for apartment as dedicated iaisons between residents and
huntes provides cornmurity agencies RSCs help ensure that older
aotalo GVmaiO LC10Q1c geL the ervce dfld Suppot tley iced
on each Aimco iO niaiitain indcpedence end experience higher

prooerty and quality of life

qives customers

descriptive profile
Aimco coniiriualiy seeks ad esponos to

of rngh
rue on eabark All v1jp raic pr

and pralra
oi Moie 0-Day nd Sc rice Hequest

SUc 0-i rvs Far ay ws ivo fr

neasl puhlic
0O UPlt hat FPsIoe Is ve

PSOO atv tc0 ng sioei jrre ua- UT an nco
-- commUnitygrocry sores and cuiuii al activities n.nake

every online search more personal Aimco team
merabers are available 24 hours day days
week to participate in virtual chats with iJotential

resdE nts arrange apartment tours and guide
the eictronic ieasng process

Aimcc seks oppotunitjes to eniich the expeience
of new and long-tine residents aike in 2009 we
cffere new Residen Discount Program which

gives ncc broaks on menu of poducts ranging
from niture in pet medications to mailing

servicas and office supplies

The true tei of resident satisfaction howcve
come each day as Leam woi hard to provide

resporsive effectiv3 scrvice Th xectc
-rersaTio05 for resdents Aimco has dcsrred
ivebte for quickly u0miiting service ruquestc

iewinq comrnuniy announcemmn snd nakjno
0.1na ar.-jers /-J no 24 -hour main onanc
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Building

FirstRate Team

Aimco strives to create positive team-

centered work envfronment To help employees

grow professionally and provide the best service

possible to residents each team member has

customized professional development plan
The Supporting Top Performance training

program is designed to build skills and help front

line team members achieve specific on-the-job

goals throughout their first year of employment
In addition all Aimco team members complete
annual online training in compliance matters

legal and regulatory requirements and workplace

policies and procedures to help maintain

productive and positive work environment

AIMCOS CASTLEWOOD COMMUNITY IN IOWA RECEIVED

THE 2009 AWARD OF EXCELLENCE FROM THE

DAVENPORT HANDICAPPED DEVELOPMENT CENTER IN
Celebrating the achievements of our talented

RECOGNITION OF ITS RECORD OF HiRING PERSONS
women and men is part of Aimco culture

WITH DISABILITIES
Each quarter the Aiming for the Stars program

recognizes colleagues in the categories

of outstanding citizenship customer service team

Advancing and nurturing the educational goals
effort and individual achIevement Whether

of team members and their children are high
team member works in leasing office manages

priorities Aimco team members are eligible for
an Aimco community oversees programs in our

tuition reimbursement which provides financial corporate office

assistance for career enhancement and continuing
or is the first

education For children of employees Aimco responder to

continues to offer competitive college scholarship
resident

program which awarded 82 scholarships in 2009 maintenance

and 245 scholarships over the last four years
needs each

effort is essential

For team members confronting particularly and often worthy

challenging personal issues the Aimco Employee of special

Assistance Program responds with direct acknowledgement

counseling and network of referral services

When team members face emergency situations
EO TERRY CONSIDINE cONGRATULATES ALLEN

FOR
and find themselves in unexpected financial

THE NORTHEAST AREA AND 23-YEAR AIMCO TEAM
distress Aimco responds with the Aimco Cares MEMBER FOR HIS OUTSTANDING EFFORTS TO IMPROVE
4U program which provides short-term funds BUSINESS PRACTICES AND HELP COMMUNITIES SAVE
to help colleagues weather tough times and get MONEY ON ENERGY
back on their feet
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Across the country

Aimco teams made

.... positive impact in 2009

Ij
home in Pawtucket

Rhode Island to

delivering food and

school supplies to

victims of the Atlanta

flood to serving meals

at the Miami Rescue

Mission Aimco

volunteers in Michigan

took part in city-
presenting the Adult Lifesaver Award given to

wide effort to beau ify the green space and parks an individual who performed an act of lifesaving

along the river and employees from the area heroism
landscaped the grounds outside veterans

home in Bethesda From volunteering time to raising funds Aimco

made difference in 2009 To help meet the needs
In De ver Aimcos

of our military and their families the company
construction services allocated $235000 raised from participants and
team ackled the

sponsors for the Aimco Cares Golf Classic to

complete remodel of
three worthy non-profit organizations Sentinels

kitchen in Champa
of Freedom which assists severely wounded

House transitional
returning veterans the Tragedy Assistance

home for women and
Program for Survivors which provides support

their children operated services to families of fallen soldiers and Fisher

by the Denver Rescue
House which provides temporary housing to

Missic.n
families of veterans undergoing specialized medical

treatment away from home
The team volunteered labor with support from

several Aimco vendors who donated appliances

cabinets and flooring for the project Aimcos

DenvEr Area Office also served as sponsors of the

American Red Cross Breakfast of Champions

Ii
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Promoting
Sustainable

Communities
800 METRIC TONS OF GREENHOUSE GAS

EMISSIONS ELIMINATED

Preserving and protecting scarce natural resources

is an Aimco corporate value In 2009 Aimco JU LJU GALLONS OF GASOLINE SAVED

launched Corporate Citizenship Council with .i ru-v-

broad participation from every corner of the
UJ LJUL THERMS OF NATURAL GAS

company The goal of the Council is to drive
CONSERVED

business practices that meet specific goais of 000 000 KWH OF ELECTRICITY USAGE

stewardship and sustalnability while providing REDUCED
value to Aimco our shareholders residents

stakeholders and the broader community Aimco ESTIMATED SAVINGS FROM AIMCOS

allocates financial resources to preserve
CONSERVATION PROGRAMS FROM 20062009

environmental ones We have dedicated

conservation team that has designed energy and

water conservation programs that achieve greater Eleven Aimco properties in the Phoenix area

efficiencies reduce utility costs for residents and have embraced an onsite recycling pilot program

are beneficial to the environment Participation has been tremendous and the

program is slated to expand to all communities

in the region

Weatherization and energy

conservation projects at Aimco

affordable communities also are

making critical difference in

energy consumption and costs The installation

of low-flow showerheads and faucets replacement

of inefficient lighting and tune-ups on HVAC

equipment reduce annual water consumption and

energy usage

As we seek ways to preserve the environment

we continue to evaluate alternative energy sources

such as solar for both heating and electricity

generation Recently

Aimco installed solar

water heating system

foraswimmingpool

in Florida and is

exploring the use of

solar photovoltaic

panels at properties in

several areas across

the country

uIIII1

13



11

14



Cu tva rig

Part ers ps
In close coordination

with the City of

Airnco partners with communities residents Dayton Environmental

government and our industry to effectively Health Department
address public policy challenges In 2009 and with the Ohio

Aimco worked with members of Congress on office of Housing and

comprehensive legislation to preserve affordable Urban Development
housing and with industry groups on Aimco eradicated the

environmental tax health and safety and problem and was
sustainable development initiatives On the local credited with setting
state and national levels Aimco collaborates with positive example
non-profits government agencies and elected for other apartment
officials to stimulate economic development and owners in the state

address community needs for the benefit of our and across the

residents and the cities in which they live country Most

importantly senior

___________
In California Aimco residents are now enjoying healthy community
works in close

centered living environment_fP partnership with the

City of Los Angeles On national level Aimco has partnered with

and the LA Business the Department of Housing and Urban

Council on strategies Development to create 26 Neighborhood Network
to meet the Citys need Computei Centers The Centers feature multi

for affordable and service technology and training to enhance
sustainable housing iesidents computer skills and give them access
For the past several to electronic job searching tools

years Aimco has

GE ES sponsored the annual

OLLE DY Mayors Housing

RE Summit gathering

SE of business

CE ES DE governmental and

citizen leaders focused

UTY on addressing urgent

housing needs In 2009

Aimco co-hosted the

Sustainability Summit

that brought together leaders from across the

country to discuss practical ways to build

green economy

Aimco also seeks to be proactive in addressing

and managing issues In Dayton Ohio team SC iT EY DE RER

members engaged local and state agencies to PER SO AXWELL EBR TE

combat the nationwide epidemic of bed bugs that $6 DE OF ME

had impacted the Biltmore Towers senior TYS TE OD

apartment community

15



Trusted Leadership

Aimco is committed to doing business the

right way Underlying our business activities

is focus on staying true to our core values

Maintaining high ethical standards and Aimcos Board of Directors is elected annually

unquestioned integrity defines Aimcos and 90% are independent members Aimcos

corporate practices and culture Aimcos Board adopted majority vote standard in

Code of Ethics has been adopted by each
uncontested director elections policy that

and every team member puts us in the forefront of industry peers

.J Aimco has been leader
To ensure compliance and strict adherence

ORIIYS

the establishment and to government regulations and industry

9lkFI implementation of solid
standards Aimco team members must pass

lpIs corporate governance
annual courses including Fair Housing the

practices adopting policies
Fair Labor Standards Act REIT requirements

and procedures long
and Aimcos Code of Ethics

_..S_J1._ before they became

T- industry requirements

Aimco has been recognized for sound

ii
governance and according to RiskMetrics

Ji

exceeded 100% of the companies in the real

AIMCO WAS RECOGNIZED IN FORTUNE estate sector and 98% of the SP 500

si MAGAZINES ANNUAL SURVEY OF THE companies
WORLDS MOST ADMIRED COMPANiES

16



AIMCO
Apartment Investment and Management Company

Dear Fellow Shareholder

On behalf of our team across the country Im pleased to provide you with our 2009 Corporate

Citizenship Report 2009 10-K and Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held

April 26 2010 in Miami Florida

Notwithstanding The Great Recession Aimco ended 2009 in stable position with significantly

improved portfolio solid operating platform and stronger balance sheet Despite an economically

turbulent year total portfolio net operating income produced by our same-store conventional properties

conventional redevelopment properties and affordable properties was down just 0.5% from 2008

Aimco owns and operates diverse portfolio of primarily BIB quality apartments Over the last

several years we have sold numerous properties and re-deployed capital to the top 20 markets To

strengthen our presence in these large and liquid markets and to maximize potential rent growth we

continue to sell lower rated properties and reduce our presence in weaker markets During 2009 we sold

90 properties for $1.3 billion with net cash proceeds to Aimco of $407 million Repositioning of our

portfolio has resulted in increased average rents UP by more than 40 percent over the last five years

In 2009 we scaled back our redevelopment efforts in response to capital market and economic

uncertainty We invested $56 million to complete 33 of our 37 active conventional redevelopment

projects bringing 681 units on line We increased average daily occupancy in our redevelopment

portfolio from 85.2% in December 2008 to 95.2% in December 2009 As the economy recovers we have

deep pipeline of redevelopment opportunities and platform in place that allows us to ramp up

redevelopment activity when we see the opportunity to generate attractive financial returns

When wrote to you last year emphasized that our focus in 2009 would be on liquidity and balance

sheet safety am pleased to report that we made substantial progress on both fronts Most significantly

we used proceeds from property sales to reduce our recourse Term Debt from $400 million at the

beginning of 2009 to $45 million today We ended 2009 with no money drawn on our revolving line of

credit At the beginning of 2009 Aimcos share of property debt maturing during 2009 through 2011 was

$656 million During the year through refinancing repayment and property sales we reduced these

maturities by 75% or $490 million and eliminated all 2010 debt maturities We currently have four loans

with appropriate collateral totaling approximately $100 million that mature in 2011

Full year funds from operations or FF0 per share before operating real estate impairments and

the Casden Properties LLC impairment was consistent with guidance provided at the beginning of the

year adjusted for dilution from property sales This marks Aimcos 16th consecutive quarter of FF0

within guidance One key to hitting this mark was identifying and achieving greater efficiencies in the

daily management of all aspects of our business Through an organizational restructuring that began in

fourth quarter 2008 Aimco reduced 2009 spending for offsite costs including general and administrative

expenses by 36% or $86 million from 2008 levels Our team aggressively trimmed property costs by

renegotiating contracted services and by lowering turn costs administrative expenses marketing spend

and utility costs We maintained spending focused on property quality and the customer experience

We remain focused on resident service and retention During fourth quarter 2009 we retained

approximately 67% of our customers which was an increase of 50 basis points over fourth quarter 2008

Our national average daily occupancy rate exceeded 95% Most telling in 2009 our resident satisfaction

scores were UP an indication that our commitment to customer service is appreciated



An excellent resident experience results from the hard work and dedication of first-rate team From

community managers to maintenance supervisors leasing agents corporate executives and office

support teams am privileged to work with colleagues who do their best each day for our customers

and our company

It is my expectation that business conditions will remain difficult in 2010 as the economy adjusts to

reduced stimulus spending increased regulation higher taxes and eventually higher interest rates

Nevertheless am cautiously optimistic that Aimco is poised for solid progress in the year ahead

Here are some reasons for my optimism Our business model is simplified and focused on operations

and opportunistic redevelopment Our capital is allocated primarily across the top 20 markets and this

diversification reduces the volatility of our results Our property operations are effective and improving

We expect to continue to upgrade the quality of our portfolio by recycling capital selling lower rated

properties and reinvesting proceeds in combination of redevelopment and acquisitions Our balance

sheet is in good shape with little entity risk and limited re-funding or re-pricing risk If property values are

beginning to recover as seems the case our financial leverage will magnify that improvement

As the year unfolds we will continue to meet our business goals with integrity and in the spirit of

good corporate citizenship am pleased by the progress of our multi-disciplinary Corporate Citizenship

Council as it works to improve our business systems continue our commitment to environmental

stewardship and impact positively our communities all while benefiting Aimco shareholders Through

our Aimco Cares philanthropic program we will once again work in partnership with local non-profits

and agencies to address key community priorities while supporting our own for example by providing

scholarships for children of team members supporting team members called to active duty in our armed

services and helping teammates who face unexpected calamities

As we build on our progress in 2009 and prepare for the challenges ahead in 2010 am grateful for

the talent commitment and support of our leadership and the entire Aimco team The men and women on

our team have my professional and personal respect My colleagues on the Aimco Board of Directors

contribute invaluable counsel insight and camaraderie for which am especially thankful

With new decade already begun Aimco remains dedicated to yielding positive results for our

residents our team members and our valued shareholders

look forward to seeing you in Miami at our Annual Meeting on April 26

Sincerely

Terry Considine

Chairman and CEO
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides safe harborforforward-looking statements

in certain circumstances Certain information included in this Annual Report contains or may contain information

that is forward-looking within the meaning of the federal securities laws including without limitation statements

regarding the effect of acquisitions and redevelopments our future financial performance including our ability to

maintain current or meet projected occupancy rent levels and same store results and the effect of government

regulations Actual results may differ mate rially from those described in these forward-looking statements and in

addition will be affected by variety of risks and factors some of which are beyond our control including without

limitation financing risks including the availability and cost of financing and the risk that our cash flows from

operations may be insufficient to meet required payments ofprincipal and interest earnings may not be sufficient to

maintain compliance with debt covenants real estate risks including fluctuations in real estate values and the

general economic climate in the markets in which we operate and competition for residents in such markets

national and local economic conditions the terms of governmental regulations that affect us and interpretations of

those regulations the competitive environment in which we operate the timing of acquisitions and dispositions

insurance risk including the cost of insurance natural disasters and severe weather such as hurricanes litigation

including costs associated with prosecuting or defending claims and any adverse outcomes energy costs and

possible environmental liabilities including costs fines or penalties that may be incurred due to necessary

remediation of contamination ofproperties presently owned orpreviously owned by us In adthtion our current and

continuing qualification as real estate investment trust involves the application of highly technical and complex

provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and depends on our ability to meet the various requirements imposed by the

Internal Revenue Code through actual operating results distribution levels and diversity of stock ownership

Readers should carefully review our financial statements and the notes thereto as well as the section entitled Risk

Factors described in Item JA of this Annual Report and the other documents we file from time to time with the

Securities and Exchange Commission

PART

Item Business

The Company

Apartment Investment and Management Company or Aimco is Maryland corporation incorporated on

January 10 1994 We are self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust or REIT engaged in the

acquisition ownership management and redevelopment of apartment properties We primarily invest in the 20

largest U.S markets as measured by total market capitalization which is the total market value of institutional-

grade apartment properties in particular market We define these markets as target markets and they possess the

following characteristics high concentration of population and apartment units geographic and employment

diversification and historically strong returns with reduced volatility as part of diversified portfolio We are one of

the largest owners and operators of apartment properties in the United States

We own an equity interest in and consolidate the majority of the properties in our owned real estate portfolio

These properties represent the consolidated real estate holdings in our financial statements which we refer to as

consolidated properties In addition we have an equity interest in but do not consolidate for financial statement

purposes certain properties that are accounted for under the equity or cost methods These properties represent our

investment in unconsolidated real estate partnerships in our financial statements which we refer to as unconsol

idated properties Additionally we provide property management and asset management services to certain

properties and in certain cases we may indirectly own generally less than one percent
of the operations of such



properties through partnership syndication or other fund Our equity holdings and managed properties are as

follows as of December 31 2009

Total Portfolio

Properties Units

Consolidated properties 426 95202

Unconsolidated properties 77 8478

Property management 22 2095

Asset management 345 29879

Total 870 135654

Through our wholly-owned subsidiaries AIMCO-GP Inc and AIMCO-LP Trust we own majority of the

ownership interests AIMCO Properties L.P which we refer to as the Aimco Operating Partnership As of

December 31 2009 we held an interest of approximately 93% in the common partnership units and equivalents of

the Aimco Operating Partnership We conduct substantially all of our business and own substantially all of our

assets through the Aimco Operating Partnership Interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership that are held by

limited partners other than Aimco are referred to as OP Units OP Units include common OP Units partnership

preferred units or preferred OP Units and high performance partnership units or High Performance Units

Generally after holding period of twelve months holders of common OP Units may redeem such units for cash or

at the Aimco Operating Partnerships option Aimco Class Common Stock which We refer to as Common Stock

At December 31 2009 we had 116479791 shares of our Common Stockoutstanding and the Aimco Operating

Partnership had 8374233 common OP Units and equivalents outstanding for combined total of

124854024 shares of Common Stock and OP Units outstanding excluding preferred OP Units

Since our initial public offering in July 1994 we have completed numerous transactions including purchases

of properties and interests in entities that own or manage properties expanding our portfolio of owned or managed

properties from 132 properties with 29343 apartment units to peak of over 2100 properties with 379000

apartment units As of December 31 2009 our portfolio of owned and/or managed properties consists of 870

properties with 135654 apartment units

Except as the context otherwise requires we our us and the Company refer to Aimco the Aimco

Operating Partnership and their consolidated entities collectively As used herein and except where the context

otherwise requires partnership refers to limited partnership or limited liability company and partner refers

to limited partner in limited partnership or member in limited liability company

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q our Current Reports on Form 8-K and

any amendments to any of those reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available free

of charge as soon as reasonably practicable through our website at www.aimco.com The information contained on

our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol AW In 2009 our chief executive officer submitted his annual corporate governance

listing standards certification to the New York Stock Exchange which certification was unqualified

Fmancial Information About Industry Segments

We operate in two reportable segments real estate owning operating and redeveloping apartments and

investment management portfolio management and asset management which are further discussed in the Business

Overview For further information on these segments see Note 17 of the consolidated fmancial statements in

Item and Management Discussion and Analysis in Item

Busmess Overview

Our principal fmancial objective is to increase long-term stockholder value both as measured by Net Asset

Value which is the estimated fair value of our assets net of debt or NAy and total shareholder return



We strive to meet our objectives through

property operations using scale and technology to increase the effectiveness and efficiency of attracting

and retaining apartment residents

portfolio management allocating capital among geographic markets and apartment property types

primarily Class and quality apartments that are well located within the 20 largest U.S markets

through sales redevelopment and/or acquisitions

managing our cost and risk of capital by using leverage that is largely long-term laddered in maturity non-

recourse and property specific and

reducing our general and administrative and certain other costs through outsourcing and standardization

Our business is organized around two core activities Property Operations and Investment Management These

core activities along with our financial strategy are described in more detaiL below

Property Operations

Our portfolio is comprised of two business components conventional and affordable Our conventional

operations which provide 88% of our property net operating income and are market-rate apartments with rents paid

by the resident include 243 properties with 74030 units Our affordable operations provide 12% of our property net

operating income and consist of 260 properties with 29650 units with rents that are generally paid in whole or part

by government agency Affordable properties tend to have relatively more stable rents and higher occupancy due

to government rent payments and thus are much less affected by market fluctuations

We operate broad range of property types from suburban garden-style to urban high-rise properties in

44 states the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico at range of average monthly rental rates On average our

portfolio rents are somewhat above the
average rents in the local markets This diversification in geography

insulates us to some degree from inevitable downturns in any one market

Our property operations currently are organized into five areas which are further subdivided according to our

target markets To manage our nationwide portfolio more efficiently and to increase the benefits from our local

management expertise we have given direct responsibility for operations within each area to an area operations

leader with regular senior management reviews To enable the area operations leaders to focus on sales and service

as well as to improve financial control and budgeting we have dedicated an area fmancial officer to support each

area operations leader and with the exception of routine maintenance our specialized Construction Services group

manages all on-site improvements thus reducing the need for the area operations leaders to spend time on oversight

of construction projects

We seek to improve our oversight of property operations by developing better systems standardizing business

goals operational measurements and internal reporting and enhancing financial controls over field operations Our

objectives are to focus on the areas discussed below

Customer Service Our operatmg culture is focused on our residents Our goal is to provide our residents

with consistent service in clean safe and attractive communities We evaluate our performance through

customer satisfaction tracking system In addition we emphasize the quality of our on-site employees

through recruiting training and retention programs which we believe contributes to improved customer

service and leads to increased occupancy rates and enhanced operational performance

Resident Selection and Retention In apartment properties neighbors are meaningful part of the product

together with the location of the property and the physical quality of the apartment units Part of our property

operations strategy is to focus on resident acquisition and retention attracting and retaining credit-worthy

residents who are good neighbors We have structured goals and coaching for all of our sales personnel

tracking system for inquiries and standardized renewal communication program We have standardized

residential financial stability requirements and have policies and monitoring practices to maintain our

resident quality



Revenue Management For our conventional properties we have centralized revenue management

system that leverages people processes and technology to work in partnership with our area operational

management teams to develop rental rate pricing We seek to increase revenue by optimizing the balance

between rental and occupancy rates We are also focused .on the automation of on-site operations as we
believe that timely and accurate collection of property performance and resident profile data will enable us to

maximize revenue through better property management and leasing decisions We have standardized

policies for new and renewal pricing with timely data and analyses by floor-plan thereby enabling us to

maximize our ability to modify pricing even in challenging sub-markets

Controlling Expenses Cost controls are accomplished by local focus at the area level and by taking

advantage of economies of scale at the corporate level As result of the size of our portfolio and our area

concentrations of properties we have the ability to spread over large property base the fixed costs for

general and administrative expenditures and certain operating functions such as purchasing insurance and

infonnation technology

Ancillary Services We believe that our ownership and management of properties provide us with unique

access to customer base that allows us to provide additional services and thereby increase occupancy and

rents while also generating incremental revenue We currently provide cable television telephone services

appliance rental and carport garage and storage space rental at certain properties

Maintaining and Imp roving Property Quality We believe that the physical condition and amenities of our

apartment properties are important factors in our ability to maintain and increase rental rates In 2009 we
spent $70.3 million Aimcos share or $723 per owned apartment unit for Capital Replacements which

represent the share of additions that are deemed to replace the consumed portion of acquired capital assets

Additionally we spent $53.4 million Aimcos share or $549 per owned apartment unit for Capital

Improvements which are non-redevelopment capital additions that are made to enhance the value

profitability or useful life of an asset from its original purchase condition

Investment Management

Investment management includes activities related to our owned portfolio of properties as well as services

provided to affiliated
partnerships Investment management includes portfolio strategy capital allocation joint

ventures tax credit syndication acquisitions dispositions and other transaction activities Within our owned

portfolio we refer to these activities as Portfolio Management and their benefit is seen in
property operating results

and investment gains For affiliated partnerships we refer to these activities as asset management for which we are

separately compensated through fees paid by third party investors

Portfolio Management

Portfolio Management involves the ongoing allocation of investment capital to meet our geographic and

product type goals We target geographic balance inAimco diversified portfolio in order to optimize nsk adjusted

returns and to avoid the nsk of undue concentration in any particular market We also seek to balance the portfolio

by product type with both high quality properties in excellent locations and also high land value properties that

support redevelopment activities We intend to slightly reduce our allocation of capital to affordable properties to

10% of our NAy

Our geographic allocation
strategy focuses on our target markets to reduce volatility in and our dependence on

particular areas of the country We believe our target markets are deep relatively liquid and
possess desirable long-

term growth charactenstics They are pnmarily coastal markets and also include number of Sun Belt cities and

Chicago Illinois We may also invest in other markets on an opportunistic basis We intend to upgrade the quality of

our portfolio through the sale of approximately 5% to 10% of our portfolio annually with the proceeds generally

used to increase our allocation of capital to well located properties within our target markets through capital

investments redevelopment or acquisitions We expect that increased geographic focus will also add to our

investment knowledge and increase operating efficiencies based on local economies of scale



Our portfolio management activities include strategic portfolio and capital allocation decisions including

transactions to buy sell or modify our ownership interest in properties including through the use of partnerships and

joint ventures and to increase our investment in existing properties through redevelopment The purpose
of these

transactions is to adjust Aimcos investments to reflect our decisions regarding target allocations to geographic

markets and to investment types

We believe redevelopment of certain properties in supenor locations provides advantages over ground up

development enabling us to generate rents comparable to new properties with lower fmancial risk in less time and

with reduced delays associated with governmental permits and authorizations Redevelopment work also includes

seeking entitlements from local governments which enhance the value of our existing portfolio by increasing

density that is the right to add residential units to site We have historically undertaken range of redevelopment

projects
from those in which substantial number of all available units are vacated for significant renovations to the

property to those in which there is significant renovation such as exteriors common areas or unit improvements

typically done upon lease expirations without the need to vacate units on any wholesale or substantial basis We

have specialized Redevelopment and Construction Services group to oversee these projects

During 2009 we increased our allocation of capital to our target markets by disposing of 68 conventional

properties located primarily outside of our target markets or in less desirable locations within our target markets and

by investing $66.8 million in redevelopment of conventional properties As of Iecember 312009 our conventional

portfolio included 243 properties with 74030 units in 38 markets As of December 31 2009 conventional

properties in our target markets comprised 88% of our NAY attributable to our conventional properties Our top five

markets by net operating income contribution include the metropolitan areas of Washington D.C Los Angeles

California Other Florida which is comprised of Ft Lauderdale Jacksonville Orlando Palm Beach County and

Tampa Chicago Illinois and Boston Massachusetts

During 2009 we invested $46.0 million in redevelopment of affordable properties funded primarily by

proceeds from the sale of tax credits to institutional partners As with conventional properties we also seek to

dispose of properties that are inconsistent with our long-term investment and operating strategies During 2009 we

sold 22 properties from our affordable portfolio As of December 31 2009 our affordable portfolio included 260

properties with 29650 units

Financial Strategy

We are focused on maintaining safe balance sheet including minimizing or eliminating our recourse debt and

near term property debt maturities as well as minimizing our cost of capital on risk adjusted basis We primarily

use non-recourse and amortizing property debt with laddered maturities and minimize reliance on corporate debt

The lower risk inherent in non-recourse property debt permits us to operate with higher debt leverage and lower

weighted average cost of capital We use floating rate property and corporate debt to provide lower interest costs

over time at level that considers acceptable earnings volatility

During 2009 using proceeds from asset dispositions werepaid $310.0 million of our term loan which matures

in March 2011 leaving remaining outstanding balance of $90.0 million at December 31 2009 We repaid an

additional $45 million through February 26 2010 leaving remaining outstanding balance of $45 million

During 2009 we also focused on reducing refunding risk by accelerating refinancing of property loans

maturing prior to 2012 At the beginning of 2009 property debt totaling $753.0 million was scheduled to mature

prior to 2012 During 2009 through refinancing repayment and property sales we reduced these maturities by

69% or $516.3 million and eliminated all 2010 property debt maturities As of December 31 2009 five loans

totaling $236.7 miffion were scheduled to mature in 2011 During January 2010 we extended the maturity of one of

these loans for $65.0 million to 2013 We expect to refinance the remaining four loans totaling $171.7 million

$101.2 million Aimcos share at their maturity

As of December 31 2009 we had $180.0 million revolving credit facility and borrowings available of

$136.2 million after giving effect to $43.8 million outstanding for undrawn letters of credit The revolving credit

facility matures in May 2011 and has one year extension option subject ito certain terms



Competition

In attracting and retaining residents to occupy our properties we compete with numerous other housing

alternatives Our properties compete directly with other rental apartments as well as condominiums and smgle

family homes that are available for rent or purchase in the markets in which our properties are located Principal

factors of competition include rent or price charged attractiveness of the location and property and quality and

breadth of services The number of competitive properties relative to demand particular area has matenal

effect on our ability to lease apartment units at oUr properties and on the rents we charge In certain markets there

exists oversupply of single family homes and condominiums and reduction of households both of which affect the

pricing and occupancy of our rental apartments Additionally we compete with other real estate investors including

other apartment RE1Ts pension and investment funds partnerships and investment companies in acquiring

redeveloping and managing apartment properties This competition affects our ability to acquire properties we want

to add to our portfolio and the price that we pay in such acquisitions

Taxation

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended which we refer to

as the Code commencing with our taxable
year

ended December 31 1994 and intend to continue to operate in such

manner Our current and continuing qualification as REIT depends on our ability to meet the various

requirements imposed by the Code which relate to organizational structure distribution levels diversity of stock

ownership and certain restrictions with regard to owned assets and categories of income If we qualify for taxation as

REIT we will generally not be subject to United States Federal corporate income tax on our taxable income that is

currently distributed to stockholders This treatment substantially eliminates the double taxation at the corporate

and stockholder levels that generally results from an investment in corporation

Even if we qualify as REIT we may be subject to United States Federal income and excise taxes in various

situations such as on our undistributed income We also will be required to pay 100% tax on any net income on

non-arms length transactions between us and TRS described below and on any net income from sales of

property that was property held for sale to customers in the ordinary course We and our stockholders may be subject

to state or local taxation in various state or local jurisdictions including those in which we transact business or our

stockholders reside In addition we could also be subject to the alternative minimum tax or AMT on our items of

tax preference The state and local tax laws may not conform to the United States Federal income tax treatment Any
taxes imposed on us reduce our operating cash flow and net income

Certain of our operations or portion thereof including property management asset management and risk are

conducted through taxable REIT subsidiaries each of which we refer to as TRS ATRS is C-corporation that has

not elected REIT status and as such is subject to United States Federal corporate income tax We use TRS entities

to facilitate our ability to offer certain services and activities to our residents and investment partners as these

services and activities generally cannot be offered directly by the REIT

Regulation

General

Apartment properties and their owners are subject to various laws ordinances and regulations including those

related to real estate broker licensing and regulations relating to recreational facilities such as swimming pools

activity centers and other common areas Changes in laws increasing the potential habthty for environmental

conditions existing on properties or increasing the restrictions on discharges or other conditions as well as changes

in laws affecting development construction and safety requirements may result significant unanticipated

expenditures which would adversely affect our net income and cash flows from operating activities In addition

future enactment of rent control or rent stabilization laws such as legislation that has been considered in New York

or other laws regulating multifamily housing may reduce rental revenue or increase operating costs in particular

markets



Environmental

Various Federal state and local laws subject property owners or operators to liability for management and the

costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous substances present on property Such laws often impose

liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for the release or presence
of

the hazardous substances In connection with the ownership operation and management of properties we could

potentially be liable for environmental habihties or costs associated with our pioperties or properties we acquire or

manage in the future These and other risks related to environmental matters are described in more detail in Item 1A
Risk Factors

Insurance

Our primary lines of insurance coverage are property general liability and workers compensation We believe

that our insurance
coverages adequately insure our properties against the risk of loss attributable to fire earthquake

hurricane tornado flood terrorism and other perils and adequately insure us against other risk Our coverage

includes deductibles retentions and limits that are customary in the industry We have established loss prevention

loss mitigation claims handling litigation management and loss reserving procedures to manage our exposure

Employees

At December 31 2009 we had approximately 3500 employees of which approximately 2800 were at the

property level performing various on-site functions with the balance managing corporate and area operatiOns

including investment and debt transactions legal fmancial reporting accounting information systems human

resources and other support functions As of December 31 2009 unions represented 115 of our employees We have

never experienced work stoppage and believe we maintain satisfactory relations with our employees

Item 1A Risk Factors

The risk factors noted in this section and other factors noted throughout this Annual Report describe certain

risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-

looking statement

Our existing and future debt financing could render us unable to operate result in foreclosure on our

properties prevent us from making distributions on our equity or otherwise adversely affect our liquidity

We are subject to the risk that our cash flow from operations will be insufficient to make required payments of

principal and interest and the risk that existing indebtedness may not be refinanced or that the terms of any

refmancing will not be as favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness If we fail to make required payments of

principal and interest on secured debt our lenders could foreclose on the properties and other collateral securing

such debt which would result in loss of income and asset value to us As of December 31 2009 substantially all of

the properties that we owned or controlled were encumbered by debt Our organizational documents do not limit the

amount of debt that we may incur and we have significant amounts of debt outstanding Payments of principal and

interest may leave us with insufficient cash resources to operate our properties or pay distributions required to be

paid in order to maintain our qualification as REIT

Our strategy is generally to incur debt to increase the return on our equity while maintaining acceptable

coverage ratios For the
year ended December 31 2009 as calculated based on the provisions in our credit

agreement which is further discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item we had ratio of

earnings before interest taxes arid depreciation and amortization to debt service of 1.591 and ratio of earnings to

fixed charges of 1.361 On February 2010 we and our lenders agreed to reduce the covenant ratios of earnings

before interest taxes and depreciation and amortization to debt service and earnings to fixed charges from 1.501

and 1.301 respectively to 1.401 and 1.201 respectively We expect to remain in compliance with these

covenants

At December 31 2009 we had swap positions with two financial institutions totaling $353.1 miffion The

related swap agreements provide for collateral calls to maintain specified loan-to-value ratios In the event the



values of the real estate properties serving as collateral under these agreements decline we may be required to

provide additional collateral pursuant to the swap agreements which would adversely affect our cash flows

Disruptions in the financial markets could affect our ability to obtain financing and the cost of available

financing and could adversely affect our liquidity

Our ability to obtain financing and the cost of such fmancing depends on the overall condition of the United

States credit markets and to an important extent in 2009 on the level of involvement of certain government

sponsored entities specifically Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or Freddie Mac and Federal National

Mortgage Association or Fannie Mae in secondary credit markets During 2009 the United States credit markets

outside of multi-family experienced significant liquidity disruptions which caused the spreads on debt fmancings

to widen considerably and made obtaining financing both non-recourse property debt and corporate borrowings

such as our term loan or revolving credit facility more difficult

Further or prolonged disruptions the credit markets could result Freddie Mac or Fanme Mae reducing

their level of involvement in secondary credit markets which would adversely affect our ability to obtain non-

recourse property debt financing Additionally further or prolonged disruptions in the credit markets may also

affect our ability to renew our credit facthty with similarcommitments when it matures May 2012 inclusive of

one year extension option

If our ability to obtain fmancing is adversely affected we may be unable to satisfy scheduled maturities on

existing financing through other sources of liquidity which could result in lender foreclosure on the properties

securing such debt and loss of income and asset value each of which would adversely affect our liquidity

Increases in interest rates would increase our interest expense and reduce our profitability

As of December31 2009 we had approximately $654 million of variable-rate indebtedness outstandmg and

$67 nulhon of variable rate preferred stock outstanding Of the total debt subject to variable interest rates floating

rate tax-exempt bond fmancmg was about two-thirds or $433 million Floating rate tax-exempt bond fmancmg is

benchmarked against the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association Municipal Swap Index or SIFMA
rate which since 1989 has averaged 73% of the 30-day LIBOR rate At December 31 2009 we had approximately

$440.9 million in cash and cash equivalents restricted cash and notes receivable the majority of which bear interest

The effect of our interest-bearing assets would partially reduce the effect of an increase in variable interest rates If

this histoncal relationship continues we estimate that an increase in 30-day LIBOR of 100 basis pomts 73 basis

points for tax-exempt mterest rates with constant credit nsk spreads would result in net mcome being reduced by

$1.1 million and income attributable to Aimco common stockholders being reduced by $1.5 million on an annual

basis

Failure to generate sufficient net operating income may adversely affect our liquidity limit our ability to

fund necessary capital expenditures or adversely affect our ability to pay dividends

Our ability to fund
necessary capital expenditures on our properties depends on among other things our ability

to generate net operating income in excess of required debt payments If we are unable to fund capital expenditures

on our properties we may not be able to preserve the competitiveness of our properties which could adversely

affect our net operating income

Our ability to make payments to our investors depends on our ability to generate net operating mcome excess

of required debt payments and capital expenditure requirements Our net operating mcome and liquidity may be

adversely affected by events or conditions beyond our control including

the general economic climate

an inflationary environment in which the costs to operate and maintain our properties increase at rate

greater than our ability to increase rents only upon renewal of existing leases or at the inception of new

leases

competition from other apartment communities and other housing options



local conditions such as loss of jobs unemployment rates or an increase in the supply of apartments that

might adversely affect apartment occupancy or rental rates

changes in governmental regulations and the related cost of compliance

increases in operating costs including real estate taxes due to inflation and other factors which may not be

offset by increased rents

changes in tax laws and housing laws including the enactment of rent control laws or other laws regulating

multifamily housing and

changes in interest rates and the availability of fmancing

Covenant restrictions may limit our ability to make payments to our investors

Some of our debt and other securities contain covenants that restrict our ability to make distributions or other

payments to our investors unless certain financial tests or other criteria are satisfied Our credit facility provides

among other things that we may make distributions to our investors during any four consecutive fiscal quarters
in an

aggregate amount that does not exceed the greater of 95% of our Funds From Operations for such period subject to

certain non-cash adjustments or such amount as may be necessary to maintain our RE1T status Our outstanding

classes of preferred stock prohibit the payment of dividends on our Common Stock if we fail to pay the dividends to

which the holders of the preferred stock are entitled

Because real estate investments are relatively iiiquid we may not be able to sell properties when

appropriate

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid and cannot always be sold quickly Our freedom to sell properties

is also restricted by REIT tax rules Thus we may not be able to change our portfolio promptly in response to

changes in economic or other market conditions Our ability to dispose of assets in the future will depend on

prevailing economic and market conditions mcludmg the cost and availability of fmancmg This could have

material adverse effect on our fmancial condition or results of operations

Competition could limit our ability to lease apartments or increase or maintain rents

Our apartment properties compete for residents with other housing alternatives including other rental

apartments condominiums and single-family homes that are available for rent as well as new and existing

condominiums and single-family homes for sale Competitive residential housing in particular area could

adversely affect our ability to lease apartments and to increase or maintain rental rates The current challenges in the

credit and housing markets have increased housing inventory that competes with our apartment properties

Our subsidiaries may be prohibited from making distributions and other payments to us

All of our properties are owned and all of our operations are conducted by the Aimco Operating Partnership

and our other subsidiaries As result we depend on distributions and other payments from our subsidiaries in order

to satisfy our fmancial obligations and make payments to our investors The ability of our subsidiaries to make such

distributions and other payments depends on their earnings and cash flows and may be subject to statutory or

contractual limitations As an equity investor in our subsidiaries our right to receive assets upon their liquidation or

reorganization will be effectively subordinated to the claims of their creditors To the extent that we are recognized

as creditor of such subsidiaries our claims may still be subordinate to any security interest in or other lien on their

assets and to any of their debt or other obligations that are senior to our claims

Redevelopment and construction risks could affect our profitability

We intend to continue to redevelop certain of our properties These activities are subject to the following risks

we may be unable to obtain or experience delays in obtaining necessary zoning occupancy or other

required governmental or third party permits and authorizations which could result in increased costs or the

delay or abandonment of opportunities
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we may incur costs that exceed our original estimates due to increased material labor or other costs such as

litigation

we may be unable to complete construction and lease up of property on schedule resulting in increased

construction and financing costs and decrease in expected rental revenues

occupancy rates and rents at property may fail to meet our expectations for number of reasons including

changes in market and economic conditions beyond our control and the development by competitors of

competing communities

we may be unable to obtain fmancing with favorable terms or at all for the proposed development of

property which may cause us to delay or abandon an opportunity

we may abandon opportunities that we have already begun to explore for number of reasons including

changes in local market conditions or increases in construction or fmancing costs and as result we may
fail to recover expenses already incurred in exploring those opportunities

we may incur liabilities to third parties during the redevelopment process for example in connection with

resident lease terminations or managing existing improvements on the site prior to resident lease

terminations and

loss of key member of project team could adversely affect our ability to deliver redevelopment projects on

time and within our budget

We are insured for certain risks and the cost of insurance increased claims activity or losses resulting

from casualty events may affect our operating results and financial condition

We are insured for portion of our consolidated properties exposure to casualty losses resulting from fire

earthquake hurricane tornado flood and other perils which insurance is subject to deductibles and self-insurance

retention We recognize casualty losses or gains based on the net book value of the affected property and the amount

of and any related insurance proceeds In many instances the actual cost to repair or replace the property may

exceed its net book value and any insurance proceeds We also insure certain unconsolidated properties for portion

of their exposure to such losses With respect to our consolidated properties we recognize the uninsured portion of

losses as part of casualty losses in the penods in which they are incurred In addition we are self-insured for

portion of our exposure to third party claims related to our employee health insurance plans workers compen

sation coverage and general liability exposure With respect to our insurance obligations to unconsolidated

properties and our exposure to claims of third parties we establish reserves at levels that reflect our known and

estimated losses The ultimate cost of losses and the impact of unforeseen events may vary materially from recorded

reserves and variances may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition We purchase insurance

or reinsurance where we insure unconsolidated properties to reduce our exposure to losses and limit our financial

losses on large individual risks The availability and cost of insurance are determined by market conditions outside

our control No assurance can be made that we will be able to obtain andmaintain insurance at the same levels and

on the same terms as we do today If we are not able to obtain or maintain insurance in amounts we consider

appropriate for our business or if the cost of obtaining such insurance increases matenally we may have to retain

larger portion of the potential loss associated with our exposures to risks

Natural disasters and severe weather may affect our operating results and financial condition

Natural disasters and severe weather such as humcanes may result in significant damage to our properties The

extent of our casualty losses and loss in operating income connection with such events is function of the seventy

of the event and the total amount of
exposure

in the affected area When we have geographic concentration of

exposures single catastrophe such as an earthquake or destructive weather event such as hurricane affecting

region may have significant negative effect on our financial condition and results of operations We cannot

accurately predict natural disasters or severe weather or the number and type of such events that will affect us As

result our operating and financial results may vary significantly from one period to the next Although we anticipate

and plan for losses there can be no assurance that our financial results will not be adversely affected by our exposure
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to losses arising from natural disasters or severe weather in the future that exceed our previous experience and

assumptions

We depend on our senior management

Our success depends upon the retention of our senior management including Terry Considine our chief

executive officer We have succession planmng and talent development process that is designed to identify

potential replacements and develop our team members to provide depth in the organization and bench of talent on

which to draw However there are no assurances that we would be able to fmd qualified replacements for the

individuals who make up our senior management if their services were no longer available The loss of services of

one or more members of our senior management team could have material adverse effect on our business

fmancial condition and results of operations We do not currently maintain key-man life insurance for any of our

employees

If we are not successful in our acquisition of properties our results of operations could be adversely

affected

The selective acquisition of properties is component of our strategy However we may not be able to

complete transactions successfully in the future Although we seek to acquire properties when such acquisitions

increase our net income Funds From Operations or net asset value such transactions may fail to perform in

accordance with our expectations In particular following acquisition the value and operational performance of

property may be diminished if obsolescence or neighborhood changes occur before we are able to redevelop or sell

the property

We may be subject to litigation associated with partnership transactions that could increase our expenses

and prevent completion of beneficial transactions

We have engaged and mtend to continue to engage the selective acquisition of interests partnerships

controlled by us that own apartment properties In some cases we have acquired the general partner of partnership

and then made an offer to acquire the limited partners mterests the partnership In these transactions we may be

subject to litigation based on claims that we as the general partner have breached our fiduciary duty to our limited

partners or that the transaction violates the relevant partnership agreement or state law Although we mtend to

comply with our fiduciary obligations and the relevant partnership agreements we may mcur additional costs in

connection with the defense or settlement of this type of litigation In somi cases this type of litigation may

adversely affect our desire to proceed with or our ability to complete particular transaction Any litigation of this

type could also have matenal adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations

Government housing regulations may limit the opportunities at some of our properties and failure to com

ply with resident qualification requirements may result in financial penalties and/or loss of benefits such

as rental revenues paid by government agencies

We own consolidated and unconsolidated equity interests in certain properties and manage other properties

that benefit from governmental programs intended to provide housing to people with low or moderate incomes

These programs which are usually administered by the U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development or

HUD or state housing finance agencies typically provide mortgage insurance favorable fmancing terms tax-credit

equity or rental assistance payments to the property owners As condition of the receipt of assistance under these

programs the properties must comply with various requirements which typically limit rents to pre-approved

amounts and impose restnctions on resident incomes Failure to comply with these requirements and restnctions

may result fmancial penalties or loss of benefits We usually need to obtain the approval of HUD order to

acquire or dispose of sigmficant mterest in or manage HUD-assisted property We may not always receive such

approval

During 2009 2008 and 2007 for continuing operations our rental revenues include $140.3 million

$132.3 million and $121.4 million respectively of subsidies from government agencies Any loss of such benefits

would adversely affect our liquidity and results of operations
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Laws benefiting disabled persons may result in our incurrence of unanticipated expenses

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 or ADA all places intended to be used by the public are

required to meet certain Federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons Likewise the Fair

Housing Amendments Act of 1988 or FHAA requires apartment properties first occupied after March 13 1990 to

be accessible to the handicapped These and other Federal state and local laws may require modifications to our

properties or affect renovations of the properties Noncompliance with these laws could result in the imposition of

fines or an award of damages to private litigants and also could result in an order to correct any non-complying
feature which could result in substantial capital expenditures Although we believe that our properties are

substantially in compliance with present requirements we may incur unanticipated expenses to comply with

the ADA and the FHAA in connection with the ongoing operation or redevelopment of our properties

Potential liability or other expenditures associated with potential environmental contamination may be

costly

Various Federal state and local laws subject property owners or operators to liability for management and the

costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous substances
present on property including lead-based paint

Such laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for

the release or presence
of the hazardous substances The

presence of or the failure to manage or remedy properly

hazardous substances may adversely affect occupancy at affected
apartment communities and the ability to sell or

finance affected properties In addition to the costs associated with investigation and remediation actions brought by

government agencies and potential fines or penalties imposed by such agencies in connection therewith the

presence of hazardous substances on property could result in claims by private plaintiffs for personal injury

disease disability or other infirmities Various laws also impose liability for the cost of removal remediation or

disposal of hazardous substances through licensed disposal or treatment facility Anyone who arranges for the

disposal or treatment of hazardous substances is potentially liable under such laws These laws often impose

liability whether or not the person arranging for the disposal ever owned or operated the disposal facility In

connection with the ownership operation and management of properties we could potentially be liable for

environmental liabilities or costs associated with our properties or properties we acquire or manage in the future

Moisture infiltration and resulting mold remediation may be costly

We have been named as defendant in lawsuits that have alleged personal injury and
property damage as

result of the presence of mold In addition we are aware of lawsuits agamst owners and managers of multifanuly

properties asserting claims of personal injury and property damage caused by the
presence of mold some of which

have resulted in substantial monetary judgments or settlements We have only lumted insurance coverage for

property damage loss claims arising from the presence of mold and for personal injury claims related to mold

exposure We have implemented policies procedures third-party audits and
training and include detailed

moisture intrusion and mold assessment during acquisition due diligence We believe these measures will prevent or

eliminate mold exposure from our properties and will minimize the effects that mold may have on our residents To

date we have not incurred any material costs or liabilities relating to claims of mold exposure or to abate mold

conditions Because the law regarding mold is unsettled and subject to change we can make no assurance that

liabilities resulting from the presence of or exposure to mold will not have material adverse effect on our

consolidated financial condition or results of operations

We may fail to qualify as REIT

If we fail to qualify as REIT we will not be allowed deduction for dividends paid to our stockholders in

computing our taxable income and we will be subject to Federal income tax at regular corporate rates including

any applicable alternative minimum tax This would substantially reduce our funds available for payment to our

investors Unless entitled to relief under certain provisions of the Code we also would be disqualified from taxation

as REITfor the four taxable years following the year during which we ceased to qualify as REIT In addition our

failure to qualify as REIT would place us in defaUlt under our primary credit facilities
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We believe that we operate and have always operated in manner that enables us to meet the requirements for

qualification as REIT for Federal income tax purposes Our continued qualification as RE1T will depend on our

satisfaction of certain asset income investment organizational distribution stockholder ownership and other

requirements on continuing basis Our ability to satisfy the asset tests depends upon our analysis of the fair market

values of our assets some of which are not susceptible to precise determination and for which we will not obtain

independent appraisals Our compliance with the REIT income and quarterly asset requirements also depends upon

our ability to manage successfully the composition of our income and assets on an ongoing basis Moreover the

proper classification of an instrument as debt or equity for Federal income tax purposes may be uncertain in some

circumstances which could affect the application of the REIT qualification requirements Accordingly there can be

no assurancethat the Internal Revenue Service or the iRS will not contend that our interests in subsidiaries or other

issuers constitutes violation of the REIT requirements Moreover future economic market legal tax or other

considerations may cause us to fail to qualify as REIT or our Board of Directors may determine to revoke our

RE1T status

REIT distribution requirements limit our available cash

As RE1T we are subject to annual distribution requirements which generally limit the amount of cash we

retain for other business purposes including amounts to fund our growth We generally must distribute annually at

least 90% of our net REIT taxable income excluding any net capital gain in order for our distributed earnings not to

be subject to corporate income tax We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the

requirements of the Code However differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual

receipt of cash could require us to sell assets or borrow funds on short-term or long-term basis to meet the 90%

distribution requirement of the Code

We have in the past chosen and may in the future choose to pay dividends in our own stock in which

case you may be required to pay income taxes in excess of the cash dividends you receive

We have in the past distributed and may in the future distribute taxable dividends that are payable in cash and

shares of our Common Stock Stockholders subject to the payment of income tax receiving such dividends will be

required to include the full amount of the dividend as taxable income to the extent of our current and accumulated

earnings and profits for U.S Federal income tax purposes As result U.S stockholder may be required to pay

income taxes with respect to such dividends in excess of the cash dividends received If U.S stockholder sells the

stock it receives as dividend in order to pay this tax the sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in

mcome with respect to the dividend depending on the market pnce of our stock at the time of the sale Furthermore

with respect to non-U stockholders we may be required to withhold tax with respect to such dividends

mcludmg in respect of all or portion of such dividend that is payable in stock In addition if sigmficant number of

our stockholders detennine to sell shares of our Common Stock in order to pay taxes owed on dividends it may put

downward pressure on the trading price of our Common Stock

No assurance can be given that the IRS will not impose additional requirements in the future with respect to

taxable cash/stock dividends including on retroactive basis or assert that the requirements for such taxable cash

stock dividends have not been met

Limits on ownership of shares in our charter may result in the loss of economic and voting rights by pur
chasers that violate those limits

Our charter limits ownership of our Common Stock by any single stockholder applying certain beneficial

ownership rules under the Federal securities laws to 8.7% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock or 15% in

the case of certain pension trusts registered investment companies and Mr Considine Our charter also limits

ownership of our Common Stock and preferred stock by any single stockholder to 8.7% of the value of the

outstanding Common Stock and preferred stock or 15% in the case of certain pension trusts registered investment

companies and Mr Considine The charter also prohibits anyone from buying shares of our capital stock if the

purchase would result in us losing our REIT status This could happen if transaction results in fewer than

100 persons owning all of our shares of capital stock or results in five or fewer persons applying certain attribution
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rules of the Code owning 50% or more of the value of all of our shares of capital stock If anyone acquires shares in

excess of the ownership limit or in violation of the ownership requirements of the Code for REITs

the transfer will be considered null and void

we will not reflect the transaction on our books

we may institute legal action to enjoin the transaction

we may demand repayment of any dividends received by the affected person on those shares

we may redeem the shares

the affected person will not have any voting rights for those shares and

the shares and all voting and dividend rights of the shares will be held in trust for the benefit of one or more

charitable organizations designated by us

We may purchase the shares of capital stock held in trust at price equal to the lesser of the price paid by the

transferee of the shares or the then current market price If the trust transfers any of the shares of capital stock the

affected person will receive the lesser of the price paid for the shares or the then current market price An individual

who acquires shares of capital stock that violate the above rules bears the risk that the individual

may lose control over the power to dispose of such shares

may not recognize profit from the sale of such shares if the market price of the shares increases

may be required to recognize loss from the sale of such shares if the market price decreases and

may be required to repay to us any distributions received from us as result of his or her ownership of the

shares

Our charter may limit the ability of third party to acquire control of us

The 8.7% ownership limit discussed above may have the effect of delaying or precluding acquisition of control

of us by third party without the consent of our Board of Directors Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors to

issue up to 510587500 shares of capital stock As of December 31 2009 426157736 shares were classified as

Common Stock of which 116479791 were outstanding and 84429764 shares were classffied as preferred stock

of which 24950134 were outstanding Under our charter our Board of Directors has the authority to classify and

reclassify any of our unissued shares of capital stock into shares of capital stock with such preferences conversion

or other rights voting powers restrictions limitations as to dividends qualifications or terms or conditions of

redemptions as our Board of Directors may determine The authorization and issuance of new class of capital stock

could have the effect of delaying or preventing someone from taking control of us even if change in control were

in our stockholders best interests

The Maryland General Corporation Law may limit the ability of third party to acquire control of us

As Maryland corporation we are subject to various Maryland laws that may have the effect of discouraging

offers to acquire us and increasing the difficulty of consummating any such offers even if an acquisition would be in

our stockholders best interests The Maryland General Corporation Law specifically the Maryland Business

Combination Act restricts mergers and other business combination transactions between us and any person who

acquires directly or indirectly beneficial ownership of shares of our stock representing 10% or more of the voting

power without our Board of Directors prior approval Any such business combination transaction could not be

completed until five years after the person acquired such voting power and generally only with the approval of

stockholders representing 80% of all votes entitled to be cast and 662A% of the votes entitled to be cast excluding the

interested stockholder or upon payment of fair price The Maryland General Corporation Law specifically the

Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides generally that person who acquires shares of our capital stock

representing 10% or more of the voting power in electing directors will have no voting rights unless approved by

vote of two-thirds of the shares eligible to vote Additionally the Maryland General Corporation Law provides

among other things that the board of directors has broad discretion in adopting stockholders rights plans and has
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the sole power to fix the record date time and place for special meetings of the stockholders To date we have not

adopted shareholders rights plan In addition the Maryland General Corporation Law provides that corporations

that

have at least three directors who are not officers or employees of the entity or related to an acquiring

person and

has class of equity securities registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

may elect in their charter or bylaws or by resolution of the board of directors to be subject to all or part of special

subtitle that provides that

the corporation will have staggered board of directors

any director may be removed only for cause and by the vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the

election of directors generally even if lesser proportion is provided in the charter or bylaws

the number of directors may only be set by the board of directors even if the procedure is contrary to the

charter or bylaws

vacancies may only be filled by the remaining directors even if the procedure is contrary to the charter or

bylaws and

the secretary of the corporation may call special meeting of stockholders at the request of stockholders only

on the written request of the stockholders entitled to cast at least amajority of all the votes entitled to be cast

at the meeting even if the procedure is contrary to the charter or bylaws

To date we have not made any of the elections described above

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our portfolio includes garden style mid-rise and high-rise properties located in 44 states the District of

Columbia and Puerto Rico Our geographic allocation strategy focuses on target markets which are grouped by

region below The following table sets forth information on all of our properties as of December 312009 and 2008

2009 2008

Nwnber of Number Number of Number

Properties of Units Properties of Units

Conventional

Pacific 37 10274 38 10504

Northeast 62 18270 67 21221

Sunbelt 77 23546 106 31481

Chicago 15 4633 19 5555

Total target markets 191 56723 230 68761

Opportunistic and other markets 52 17307 81 25735

Total conventional owned and managed 243 74030 311 94496

Affordable owned and managed 260 29650 288 32836

Property management 22 2095 34 3252

Asset management 345 29879 359 32223

Total 870 135654 992 162807

At December 31 2009 we owned an equity interest in and consolidated 426 properties containing 95202

apartment units which we refer to as consolidated properties These consolidated properties contain on average
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223 apartment units with the largest property containing 2113 apartment units These properties offer residents

range of amenities including swimming pools clubhouses spas fitness centers and tennis courts Many of the

apartment units offer features such as vaulted ceilings fireplaces washer and dryer hook-ups cable television

balconies and patios Additional information on our consolidated properties is contained in Schedule ifi Real

Estate and Accumulated Depreciation in this Annual Report on Form 10-K At December 31 2009 we held an

equity interest in and did not consolidate 77 properties containing 8478 apartment units which we refer to as

unconsolidated properties In addition we provided property management services for 22 properties containing

2095 apartment units and asset management services for 345 properties containing 29879 apartment units In

certain cases we may indirectly own generally less than one percent of the economic interest in such properties

through partnership syndication or other fund

Substantially all of our consolidated properties are encumbered by property debt At December 31 2009 our

consolidated properties classified as held for use in our consolidated balance sheet were encumbered by aggregate

property debt totaling $5547.3 million having an aggregate weighted average interest rate of 5.50% Such property

debt was collateralized by 412 properties with combined net book value of $6867.8 million Included in the 412

properties we had total of 31 property loans on 15 properties with an aggregate principal balance outstanding of

$366.1 million that were each collateralized by property and cross-collateralized with certain but not all other

property loans within this group of property loans see Note of the consolidated fmancial statements in Item for

additional information about our property debt

Item Legal Proceedings

None

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2009
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PART II

Item Market for the Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Our Common Stock has been listed and traded on the NYSE under the symbol AN since July 22 1994 The

following table sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices of our Common Stock as reported on the NYSE
and the dividends declared in the periods indicated

Dividends

Declared

Quarter Ended High Low per share

2009

December31 2009 $17.09 $11.80 $0.20

September 30 2009 15.91 7.36 0.10

June 30 2009 11.10 5.18 0.10

March 31 2009 12.89 4.57 0.00

2008

December 31 20081 $43.67 7.01 $3.88

September 30 20081 42.28 29.25 3.00

June 30 2008 41.24 33.33 0.60

March3l2008 41.11 29.91 0.00

During 2008 our Board of Directors declared special dividends which were paid part in cash and part in shares

of Common Stock as further discussed in Note 11 to the consolidated fmancial statements in Item Our Board

of Directors declared the dividends to address taxable gains from 2008 property sales

Our Board of Directors determines and declares our dividends In making dividend determination the Board

of Directors considers variety of factors including REIT distribution requirements current market conditions

liquidity needs and other uses of cash such as for deleveraging and accretive investment activities The Board of

Directors may adjust the dividend amount or the frequency with which the dividend is paid based on then prevailing

facts and circumstances

On February 242010 the closing price of our Common Stock was $16.73 per share as reported on the NYSE
and there were 117140672 shares of Common Stock outstanding held by 3270 stockholders of record The

number of holders does not include individuals or entities who beneficially own shares but whose shares are held of

record by broker or clearing agency but does include each such broker or clearing agency as one recordholder

As RE1T we are required to distribute annually to holders of common stock at least 90% of our real estate

investment trust taxable income which as defined by the Code and United States Department of Treasury

regulations is generally equivalent to net taxable ordinary income

From time to time we may issue shares of Common Stock in exchange for common and preferred OP Units

tendered to the Aimco Operating Partnership for redemption in accordance with the terms and provisions of the

agreement of limited partnership of the Aimco Operating Partnership Such shares are issued based on an exchange

ratio of one share for each common OP Unit or the applicable conversion ratio for preferred OP Units The shares

are generally issued in exchange for OP Units in private transactions exempt from registration under the Securities

Act of 1933 as amended pursuant to Section 42 thereof During the three and twelve months ended December31

2009 approximately 379400 and 518800 shares of Common Stock were issued in exchange for common

OP Units respectively During the three and twelve months ended December 31 2009 no shares of Common Stock

were issued in exchange for preferred OP Units

Our Board of Directors has from time to time authorized us to repurchase shares of our outstanding capital

stock There were no repurchases of our equity securities during the year ended December 31 2009 As of

December 31 2009 we were authorized to repurchase approximately 19.3 million additional shares This

authorization has no expiration date These repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market or

in privately negotiated transactions
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Dividend Payments

Our Credit Agreement includes customary covenants including restriction on dividends and other restricted

payments but permits dividends during any four consecutive fiscal quarters in an aggregate amount of up to 95% of

our Funds From Operations for such period subject to certain non-cash adjustments or such amount as may be

necessary to maintain our RE1T status

Peiformance Graph

The following graph compares cumulative total returns for our Common Stock the Standard Poors 500

Total Return Index the SP 500 and the MSCI US RE1T Index The MSCI US REIT Index is published by

Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc provider of equity indices The indices are weighted for all companies

that fit the defimtional cnteria of the particular index and are calculated to exclude companies as they are acquired

and add them to the mdex calculation as they become publicly traded companies All companies of the definitional

criteria in existence at the point in time presented are included in the index calculations The graph assumes the

investment of $100 in our Common Stock and in each index on December31 2004 and that all dividends paid have

been reinvested The historical information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future performance

Total Return Performance

175

12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07 12/31/08 12/31/09

For the Years Ended December 31

Index 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Aimco 100.00 106.29 164.95 113.71 59.71 85.29

MSCIUSREIT 10000 11213 15241 12678 7864 10114

SP 500 10000 10491 12148 12816 8074 10211

Source other than with respect to SP 500 SNL Financial LC Charlottesvffle VA 02010

The Performance Graph will not be deemed to be mcorporated by reference mto any fthng by the Company
under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended except to the

extent that the Company specifically incorporates the same by reference

The information required by Item with respect to securities authorized for issuance under equity compen
sation plans is incorporated by reference in Part Ill Item 12 of this Annual Report
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Item Selected Financial Data

The following selected fmancial data is based on our audited historical fmancial statements This information

should be read in conjunction with such fmancial statements including the notes thereto and Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included herein or in previous filings

with the Securities and Exchange Commission

For the Years Ended December 31

2009 200812 20072 20062 20052

Dollar amounts in thousands except per share data

OPERATING DATA
Total revenues 1195763 1243170 1174457 1084552 894060
Total operating expenses3 1085250 1185071 989658 909784 751516
Operating incOme3 110513 58099 184799 174768 142544
Loss from continuing operations3 197037 117878 46109 42924 35098
Income from discontinued operations net4 152237 744880 171615 329947 160450
Net loss income 44800 627002 125506 287022 125352
Net income attributable to noncontroffing interests 19474 214995 95595 110234 54370
Net income attributable to preferred stockholders 50566 53708 66016 81132 87948
Net loss income attributable to Aimco common

stockholders 114840 351314 40586 93710 21223
Earnings loss per common share basic and

dilutedS

Loss from continuing operations attributable to

Aimco common stockholders 1.75 2.10 1.41 1.49 1.34
Net loss income attributable to Aimco common

stockholders 1.00 3.96 0.43 0.98 0.23
BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION
Real estate net of accumulated depreciation 6962361 7125637 6901575 6436854 5708319
Total assets 7906468 9441870 10617681 10292587 10019160
Total indebtedness 5690310 6069804 5683884 4969185 4283278
Total equity 1534703 1646749 2048546 2650182 3060969
OTHER INFORMATION
Dividends declared per common share 0.40 7.48 4.31 2.40 3.00

Total consolidated properties end of period 426 514 657 703 619

Total consolidated apartment units end of period 95202 117719 153758 162432 158548
Total unconsolidated properties end of period 77 85 94 102 264

Total unconsolidated apartment units end of period. 8478 9613 10878 11791 35269
Units managed end of period6 31974 35475 38404 42190 46667

The consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31 2008 has been restated to reclassify

impairment losses on real estate development assets within operating income The reclassification reduced

operating income by $91.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 and had no effect on the reported

amounts of loss from continuing operations net income net income available to Aimco common stockholders

or earnings per share Additionally the reclassification had no effect on the consolidated balance sheets

statements of
equity or statements of cash flows See Note to the consolidated fmancial statements in Item

Certain reclassifications have been made to conform to the current fmancial statement presentation including

retroactive adjustments related to our January 2009 adoption of the provisions of Financial Accounting

Standards Board or FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141R or SFAS 141R FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160 or SFAS 160 and FASB Staff Position No EITF 03-6-1

or FSP EITF 03-6-1 see Note to the consolidated fmancial statements in Item and to reflect additional

properties sold during 2009 or classified as held for sale as of December 31 2009 as discontinued operations

see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements Item

Total operating expenses operating income and loss from continuing operations for the year ended Decem
ber 31 2008 include $91.1 million pre-tax provision for impainnent losses on real estate development assets

which is discussed further in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations in Item
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Income from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 2007 2006 and 2005

includes $221.8 million $800.3 million $117.6 million $337.3 million and $162.7 million in gains on

disposition of real estate respectively Income from discontinued operations for 2009 2008 and 2007 is

discussed further inManagements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

in Item

Weighted average common shares common share equivalents dilutive preferred securities and earnings per

share amounts for each of the periods presented above have been adjusted for our application during the fourth

quarter 2009 of change in accounting which requires the shares issued in our special dividends paid in 2008

and January 2009 to be treated as issued and outstandmg on the dividend payment dates for basic purposes and

as potential share equivalents for the periods between the ex-clividend dates and payment dates for diluted

purposes rather than treating the shares as issued and outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest period

presented for both basic and diluted purposes See Note to the consolidated fmancial statements in Item for

further discussion of this accounting change

Units managed represents units in properties for which we provide asset management services only although in

certain cases we may indirectly own generally less than one percent of the economic interest in such properties

through partnership syndication or other fund
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Executive Overview

We are self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust or REIT engaged in the acquisition

ownership management and redevelopment of apartment properties Our property operations are characterized by

diversification of product location and price point We primarily invest in the 20 largest U.S markets as measured

by total market capitalization which is the total market value of institutional-grade apartment properties in

particular market We defme these markets as target markets and they possess the following characteristics high

concentration of population and apartment units geographic and employment diversification and historically

strong returns with reduced volatility as part of diversified portfolio We are one of the largest owners and

operators of apartment properties in the United States As of December 31 2009 we owned or managed 870

apartment properties containing 135654 units located in 44 states the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico Our

primary sources of income and cash are rents associated with apartment leases

The key fmancial indicators that we use in managing our business and in evaluating our fmancial condition and

operating performance are NAY Funds From Operations or FF0 Adjusted FF0 or AFFO which is FF0 less

spending for Capital Replacements same store property operating results net operating income Free Cash Flow

which is net operating income less spending for Capital Replacements financial coverage ratios and leverage as

shown on our balance sheet FF0 and Capital Replacements are defined and further described in the sections

captioned Funds From Operations and Capital Additions below The key macro-economic factors and non

financial indicators that affect our financial condition and operating performance are household formations rates

of job growth single-family and multifamily housing starts interest rates and availability and cost of fmancing

Because our operating results depend primarily on income from our properties the supply and demand for

apartments influences our operating results Additionally the level of expenses required to operate and maintain our

properties and the pace and price at which we redevelop acquire and dispose of our apartment properties affect our

operating results Our cost of capital is affected by the conditions in the capital and credit markets and the terms that

we negotiate for our equity and debt financings

During the challenging fmancial and economic environment in 2009 we focused on serving and retaining

residents continually improving our portfolio reducing leverage and financial risk and simplifying our business

model

We are focused on owning and operating B/B quality apartments concentrated in our target markets We

intend to upgrade the quality of our portfolio through the sale of approximately 5% to 10% of our portfolio annually

with the proceeds generally used to increase our allocation of capital to well located properties within our target

markets through capital investments redevelopment or acquisitions

The following discussion and analysis of the results of our operations and financial condition should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements in Item

Results of Operations

Overview

2009 compared to 2008

We reported net loss attributable to Aimco of $64.3 million and net loss attributable to Aimco common

stockholders of $114.8 million for the year ended December 31 2009 compared to net income attributable to

Aimco of $412.0 million and net income attributable to Aimco common stockholders of $351.3 million for the year

ended December 31 2008 decreases of $476.3 million and $466.1 million respectively These decreases were

principally due to the following items all of which are discussed in further detail below

decrease in income from discontinued operations primarily related to our sale of fewer assets in 2009 and

the recognition of lower gains on sales as compared to 2008

decrease in gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other primarily due to large gain on the

sale of an interest in an unconsolidated real estate partnership in 2008
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an increase in depreciation and amortization expense primarily related to completed redevelopments and

capital additions placed in service for partial periods during 2008 or 2009 and

decrease in asset management and tax credit revenues primanly due to reduction promote income

which is income earned in connection with the disposition of properties owned by our consolidated joint

ventures

The effects of these items on our operating results were partially offset by

decrease in earnings allocable to noncontrolling interests primarily due to decrease in the noncontrolling

interests share of the decrease in gains on sales discussed above

decrease in general and administrative expenses primarily related to reductions in personnel and related

expenses from our organizational restructuring activities during 2008 and 2009 and

impairment losses on real estate development assets in 2008 for which no similar impairments were

recognized in 2009

2008 compared to 2007

We reported net income attributable to Aimco of $412.0 million and net income attributable to Aimco common

stockholders of $351.3 million for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to net income attributable to

Aiinco of $29.9 million and net loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders of $40.6 million for the year
ended

December 31 2007 increases of $382.1 million and $391.9 million respectively These increases were principally

due to the following items all of which are discussed in further detail below

an increase in income from discontinued operations primarily related to an increase in the number of assets

sold during 2008 and our recognition of higher gains on sales as compared to 2007

an increase in gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other primarily due to large gain on

the sale of an interest in an unconsolidated real estate partnership in 2008

an increase in net operating income associated with property operations reflecting improved operations of

our same store properties and other properties and

an increase in asset management and tax credit revenues primarily due to an increase in promote income

which is mcome earned connection with the disposition of properties
owned by our consohdated Joint

ventures

The effects of these items on our operating
results were partially offset by

impairment losses on real estate development assets in 2008 for which no similar impairments were

recognized in 2007

an increase in earnings allocable to nonçontroffing interests primarily due to an increase in the non-

controlling interests share of the increase in gains on sales discussed above

an increase in depreciation and amortization expense primanly related to completed redevelopments placed

in service for partial penods during 2007 or 2008

restructuring costs recognized during the fourth quarter of 2008 and

an increase provisions for losses on notes receivable pnmanly due to the impairment dunng 2008 of our

interest in Casden Properties LLC

The following paragraphs discuss these and other items affecting the results of our operations in more detail

Business Segment Operating Results

We have two reportable segments real estate owning operating and redeveloping apartments and investment

management portfolio management and asset management Our chief operating decision maker uses various

generally accepted industry financial measures to assess the performance and financial condition of the business

23



including NAY FF0 AFFO same store property operating results net operating income Free Cash Flow
financial coverage ratios and leverage as shown on our balance sheet Our chief operating decision maker

emphasizes net operating income as key measurement of segment profit or loss Segment net operating income is

generally defined as segment revenues less direct segment operating expenses

Real Estate Segment

Our real estate segment involves the ownership and operation of properties that generate rental and other

property-related income through the leasing of apartment units Our real estate segments net operating income also

includes income from
property management services performed for unconsolidated partnerships and unrelated

parties

The following table summarizes our real estate segments net operating income for the years ended Decem
ber 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Real estate segment revenues

Rental and other property revenues $1140828 $1137995 $1093779

Property management revenues primarily from affiliates 5082 6345 6923

1145910 1144340 1100702
Real estate segment expenses

Property operating expenses 521161 526238 503890

Property management expenses 869 385 678

524030 531623 510568

Real estate segment net operating income 621880 612717 590134

For theyear ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 real estate segment
net operating income increased $9.2 million or 1.5% This increase was due to an increase in real estate segment

revenues of $1.6 million or 0.1% and decrease in real estate segment expenses of $7.6 million or 1.4%

The increase in revenues from our real estate segment during the year ended December 31 2009 was primarily

attributed to an increase of $10.0 million in revenues related to our conventional redevelopment properties based on

more units in service at these properties in 2009 $7.5 million in revenues related to our affordable properties

primarily due to higher average rents partially offset by lower physical occupancy during 2009 and $2.3 miffion of

revenues related to properties acquired during the latter half of 2008

These increases were partially offset by $14.8 million or 2.0% decrease in revenues from our conventional

same store properties due to decrease of 50 basis points in average physical occupancy and lower average rent

approximately $23 per unit Conventional same store property revenues in our target markets which represented

approximately 78% of our total conventional same store revenues decreased by 2.7% due to decreases in average

physical occupancy 80 basis points and
average rent approximately $31 per umt The decrease in revenues

associated with these target markets were primarily attributed to revenue decreases of 4.9% in our Pacific markets

attributed to 140 basis points in lower occupancy and $73 per unit in lower rents and 3.3% in our Sunbelt market

attributed to 40 basis points in lower occupancy and $35 per unit in lower rents Conventional same store revenues

related to our other markets decreased by 1.7% due to 130 basis points in lower occupancy and $14 per unit in lower

rents

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 the decrease in our

real estate segment expenses was primarily attributed to property management expenses Property management

expenses related to our consolidated properties which are shown in the table above as component of property

operating expenses decreased by $8.2 million and property management expenses related to our unconsolidated

properties decreased by $2.5 million both due primarily to reductions in personnel and related costs resulting from

our organizational restructurings These decreases in our real estate segment expenses were partially offset by
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increases of $0.6 million related to our conventional same store properties primarily due to increases in employee

compensation insurance repair and maintenance and real estate tax expenses offset by decreases in administrative

and marketing expenses $0.6 million related to our conventional redevelopment properties primarily due to more

units placed in service $0.5 million related to our affordable properties primarily due to properties that were newly

consolidated in 2008 and $0.8 million related to properties acquired during the latter half of 2008

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year
ended December 31 2007 real estate segment

net operating income increased $22.6 million or 3.8% This increase was due to an increase in real estate segment

revenues of $436 million or 4.0% offset by an increase in real estate segment expenses
of $21.1 million or 4.1%

The increase in revenues from our real estate segment during the year ended December 31 2008 was primarily

attributed to an increase of $19 million in revenues from our conventional same store properties due to an increase

of 80 basis points in average physical occupancy and higher average rent approximately $18 per umt $13 milhon

in revenues related to our affordable properties primarily due to newly consolidated properties and $8 million in

revenues related to our conventional redevelopment properties based on more units in service and higher rental

rates

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 the increase in

expense was primarily attributed to increases of $9.3 million related to our affordable properties primarily due to

properties that were newly consolidated $5.2 million related to our conventional redevelopment properties

primarily due to more units placed in service $3.1 million of property management expenses related to consolidated

properties which are shown in the table above as comp onent of property operating expenses and $0.2 million

related to our conventional same store properties primarily due to increases in utilities and real estate taxes offset

by decreases in employee compensation repairs and maintenance and turnover expenses These increases in

property expenses were in addition to an increase of $4.2 million in casualty losses during 2008 primarily related to

properties damaged by Tropical Storm Fay and Hurricane Ike

Investment Management Segment

Our investment management segment includes activities and services related to our owned portfolio of

properties as well as services provided to affiliated partnerships Activities and services that fall within investment

management include portfolio strategy capital allocation joint ventures tax credit syndication acquisitions

dispositions and other transaction activities Within our owned portfolio we refer to these activities as Portfolio

Management and their benefit is seen in property operating results and in investment gains. For affiliated

partnerships we refer to these activities as asset management for which we are separately compensated through

fees paid by third party investors The
expenses

of this segment consist primarilyof the costs of departments that

perform these activities These activities are conducted in part by our taxable subsidiaries and the related net

operating income may be subject to income taxes

Asset management revenue includes certain fees that were earned in prior period but not recognized at that

time because collectibility was not reasonably assured Those fees may be recognized in subsequent period upon

occurrence of transaction or high level of the probability of occurrence of transaction or improvement in

operations that generates sufficient cash to pay the fees

The following table summarizes the net operating income from our investment management segment for the

years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Asset management and tax credit revenues $52193 $101225 $73755

Investment management expenses 15779 24784 20507

Investment segment net operating income $36414 76441 $53248

For the
year

ended December 31 2009 compared to the
year

ended December 31 2008 net operating income

from investment management decreased $40.0 million or 52.4% This decrease is primarily attributable to

$42.8 million decrease in promote income which is income earned in connection with the disposition of properties
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owned by our consolidated joint ventures due to fewer related sales in 2009 and $7.6 million decrease in other

general partner transactional fees partially offset by $9.0 million decrease iii investment management expenses

primarily due to reductions in personnel and related costs from our organizational restructurings and reduction in

transaction costs and $3.9 million increase in revenues associated with our affordable housing tax credit

syndication business including syndication fees and other revenue earned in connection with these arrangements

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year
ended December 312007 net operating income

from investment management increased $23.2 million or 43.6% This increase is primarily attributable to

$307 million increase in promote mcome which is mcome earned in connection with the disposition of properties

owned by our consolidated joint ventures and $9.2 million increase in other general partner transactional fees

These mcreases are offset by decrease of $7 million in asset managemeni fees decrease of $5 million in

revenues associated with our affordable housing tax credit syndication business including syndication fees and

other revenue earned in connection with these arrangements and an increase of $4.3 million in investment

management expenses inclusive of $3.5 million in deferred acquisition costs

Other Operating Expenses Income

Depreciation and Amortization

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 depreciation and

amortization increased $51.4 million or 13.1% This increase primarily consists of depreciation related to

properties acquired during the latter part of 2008 completed redevelopments and other capital projects recently

placed in service

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 depreciation and

amortization increased $45.5 million or 13.1% This increase reflects depreciation of $65.3 million for newly

acquired properties completed redevelopments and other capital projects recently placed in service This increase

was partially offset by decrease of $25.7 million in depreciation adjustments necessary to reduce the carrying

amount of buildings and improvements to their estimated disposition value or zero in the case of planned

demolition primarily due to property that became fully depreciated during 2007

Provision for Operating Real Estate Impairment Losses

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

amortization unless the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable If events or circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount of property may not be recoverable we make an assessment of its recoverability by comparing

the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted future cash flows excluding interest charges of the

property If the carrying amount exceeds the estimated aggregate undiscounted future cash flows we recognize an

impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the property

For the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2007 we recognized impairment losses of $2.3 million and

$1.1 million respectively related to properties classified as held for use as of December 31 2009 We recognized no

such impainnent losses during the year ended December 31 2008

Provision for Impairment Losses on Real Estate Development Assets

In connectiOn with the preparation of our 2008 annual financial statements we assessed the recoverability of

our investment in our Lincoln Place property located in Venice California Based upon the decline in land values in

Southern California during 2008 and the expected tinting of our redevelopment efforts we determined that the total

carrying amount of the property was no longer probable of full
recovery and accordingly during the three months

ended December 31 2008 recognized an impairment loss of $85.4 million $55.6 miffion net of tax

Similarly we assessed the recoverability of our investment in Pacific Bay Vistas formerly Treetops vacant

property located in San Bruno California and determined that the carrying amount of the property was no longer

probable of full recovery and accordingly we recognized an impairment loss of $5.7 million for this property

during the three months ended December 31 2008
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The impairments discussed above totaled $91.1 million and are included in provisions for impairment losses

on real estate development assets in our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31 2009

included in Item We recognized no similar impairments on real estate development assets during the years ended

December 31 2009 or 2007

General and Administrative Expenses

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the
year

ended December 31 2008 general and

administrative expenses decreased $29.6 million or 29.8% This decrease is primarily attributable to reductions in

personnel and related expenses
associated with our organizational restructurings see Note to the consolidated

financial statements in Item pursuant to which we eliminated approximately 400 or 36% of our offsite positions

between December 31 2008 and December 31 2009

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 general and

administrative expenses increased $8.5 million or 9.4% This increase is primarily attributable to higher personnel

and related expenses of $6.1 million and an increase of $1.5 million in information technology communications

costs

Other Expenses Net

Other expenses net includes franchise taxes risk management activities partnership administration expenses

and certain non-recurring items

For the
year

ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 other expenses net

decreased by $4.7 million The decrease is primarily attributable to $5.4 million write-off during 2008 of certain

communications hardware and capitalized costs in 2008 and $5.3 million reduction in expenses of our self

insurance activities including decrease in casualty losses on less than wholly owned properties from 2008 to 2009

These decreases are partially offset by an increase of $4.3 million in costs related to certain litigation matters

For the year
ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 other expenses et

increased by $3.2 million The increase includes $5.4 million write-off of certain communications hardware and

capitalized costs during 2008 and $1.2 million write-off Of redevelopment costs associated with change in the

planned use of property during 2008 The net unfavorable change also reflects $3.6 million of income recognized

in 2007 related to the transfer of certain property rights to an unrelated party These increases were partially offset

by $3.7 million reduction in expenses of our self insurance activities net of costs in 2008 related to Tropical Storm

Fay and Hurricane Ike and net decrease of $1.7 million in costs related to certain litigation matters

Restructuring Costs

For the year ended December 31 2009 we recognized restructuring costs of $11.2 million as compared to

$22.8 million in the year ended December 31 2008 related to our organizational restructurings which are further

discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item We recognized no restructuring costs during

the year ended December 31 2007

Interest Income

Interest income consists primarily of interest on notes receivable from non-affiliates and unconsolidated real

estate partnerships interest on cash and restricted cash accounts and accretion of discounts on certain notes

receivable from unconsolidated real estate partnerships Transactions that result in accretion occur infrequently and

thus accretion income may vary from period to period

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 interest income

decreased $10.6 million or 53.1% Interest income decreased by $8.8 million due to lower interest rates on notes

receivable cash and restricted cash balances and lower average balances and by $4.1 million due to decrease in

accretion income related to our note receivable from Casden Properties LLC for which we ceased accretion

following impairment of the note in 2008 These decreases were partially offset by $2.3 million increase in

27



accretion income related to other notes during the year ended December 31 2008 resulting from change in the

timing and amount of collection

For the year ended December 31 2008 as compared to the
year

ended December 31 2007 interest income

decreased $23.3 million or 53.9% Interest income decreased by $16.0 million due to lower interest rates on notes

receivable cash and restricted cash balances and lower average balances Interest income also decreased by

$5.8 million due to an adjustment of accretion on certain discounted notes during the year ended December 31

2008 resulting from change in the estimated timing and amount of collection and by $1.5 million for accretion

income recognized during the year ended December 31 2007 related to the prepayment of principal on certain

discounted loans collateralized by properties in West Harlem in New York City

Provision for Losses on Notes Receivable

During the
years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized net provisions for losses on notes

receivable of $21.5 million $17.6 million and $2.0 million respectively The provisions for losses on notes

receivable for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 primarily consist of impairments related to our

investment in Casden Properties LLC which are discussed further below

As part of the March 2002 acquisition of Casden Properties Inc we invested $50.0 million for 20% passive

interest in Casden Properties LLC an entity organized to acquire re-entitle and develop land parcels in Southern

California Based upon the profit allocation agreement we account for this investment as note receivable and

through 2008 were amortizing the discounted value of the investment to the $50.0 million previously estimated to be

collectible through January 2009 the initial dissolution date of the entity In 2009 the managing member

extended the dissolution date In connection with the preparation of our 2008 annual financial statements and as

result of decline in land values in Southern California we determined our recorded investment amount was not

fully recoverable and accordingly recognized an impairment loss of $16.3 million $10.0 million net of tax during

the three months ended December 31 2008 In connection with the preparation of our 2009 annual financial

statements and as result of continued declines in land values in Southern California we determined our then

recorded investment amount was not fully recoverable and accordingly recognized an impairment loss of

$207 million $124 million net of tax during the three months ended December 31 2009

In addition to the impairments related to Casden Properties LLC discussed above we recognized provisions

for losses on notes receivable totaling $0.8 million $1.3 million and $2.0 million during the years ended

December 312009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Interest Expense

For the years ended December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 interest expense which includes the

amortization of deferred financing costs totaled $324.2 million and $324.1 million respectively Interest expense

increased by $15.0 million due to reduction in redevelopment activity during 2009 which resulted in reduction

in capitalized interest In addition interest expense increased by $1.2 million due to an increase in prepayment

penalties associated with refinancing activities from $2.8 million in 2008 to $4.0 million in 2009 and by

$3.3 million related to non-recourse property loans from $311.2 million to $314.5 million primarily due to higher

average interest rates partially offset by lower average balances during 2009 These increases in interest expense

were substantially offset by decreases in corporate interest expense Interest expense related to corporate debt

which is primarily floating rate decreased by $19.4 million from $34.8 million to $15.4 million primarily due to

lower average balances and interest rates during 2009

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 interest expense

increased $11.1 million or 3.5% Interest expense related to non-recourse property loans increased by $17.1 million

from $294.1 miffion to $311.2 million primarily due to higher average balances partially offset by lower average

interest rates during 2008 In addition interest expense increased by $4.4 million due to decrease in capitalized

interest from$29.1 million in 2007 to $24.7 million in 2008 resulting from more units in serviºe and lower interest

rates These increases were partially offset by decrease in interest expense related to corporate debt which is

primarily floating rate and which decreased by $10.4 million from $45.2 million to $34.8 million primarily due to

lower average balances and interest rates during 2008
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Equity in Losses of Unconsolidated Real Estate Partnerships

Equity in losses of unconsolidated real estate partnerships includes our share of net losses of our unconsol

idated real estate partnerships and is primarily driven by depreciation expense in excess ofthe net operating income

recognized by such partnerships

During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized equity in losses of unconsolidated

real estate partnerships of $120 million $4 million and $3 million respectively The $74 million increase in

our equity in losses from 2008 to 2009 was primarily due to our sale in late 2008 of an interest in an unconsolidated

real estate partnership that generated $3.0 million of equity in earnings during the year ended December 31 2008

and our sale during 2009 of our interest in an unconsolidated group purchasing organization which resulted in

decrease of equity in earnings of approximately $1.2 million The increase in equity in losses also includes

additional losses recognized during 2009 related to the underlying investment properties of certain tax credit

syndications we consolidated during 2009 and 2008

Impairment Losses Related to Unconsolidated Real Estate Partnerships

Impainnent losses related to unconsolidated real estate partnerships includes our share of impairment losses

recognized by our unconsolidated real estate partnerships For the
year

ended December 31 2009 compared to the

year ended December 31 2008 impairment losses related to unconsolidated real estate partnerships decreased

$2.3 million and for the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the
year

ended December 31 2007

impairment losses related to unconsolidated real estate partnerships increased $2.7 million This decrease and

increase are primarily attributable to impairment losses recognized by unconsolidated partnerships on their

underlying real estate properties during 2008

Gain on Dispositions of Unconsolidated Real Estate and Other

Gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other includes our share of gains related to dispositions

of real estate by unconsolidated real estate partnerships gains on disposition of interests in unconsolidated real

estate partnerships gains on dispositions of land and other non-depreciable assets and costs related to asset disposal

activities Changes in the level of gains recognized from period to period reflect the changing level of disposition

activity from period to period Additionally gains on properties sold are determined on an individual property basis

or in the aggregate for group of properties that are sold in single transaction and are not comparable period to

period

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the
year ended December 31 2008 gain on dispositions

of unconsolidated real estate and other decreased $77 million This decrease is primanly attnbutable to gain of

$98 million on our disposition in 2008 of interests in two unconsolidated real estate partnerships This decrease

was partially offset by $18 million of gains on the disposition of interests in unconsohdated partnerships during

2009 Gains recogmzed in 2009 consist of $8 million related to our receipt in 2009 of additional proceeds related

to our disposition dunng 2008 of one of the partnership mterests discussed above see Note to the consolidated

financials statements in Item $4 million from the disposition of our interest in group purchasing orgamzation

see Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item and $6.1 million from our disposition in 2009 of

interests in unconsolidated real estate partnerships

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 gain on dispositions

of unconsolidated real estate and other mcreased $75 million This increase is primarily attributable to

$98 million net gain on the disposition of mterests in two unconsohdated real estate partnerships during the year

ended December 31 2008 During 2007 we recogmzed $60 million non-refundable option and extension fee

resulting from the termination of nghts under an option agreement to sell the North and Central towers of our

Flamingo South Beach property approximately $64 million of net gains on dispositions of land parcels and our

share of gains on dispositions of properties by unconsolidated real estate partnerships in 2007 and $10.6 million

gain on debt extinguishment related to properties in the VMS partnership see Note to the consolidated financial

statements in Item
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Income Tax Benefit

Certain of our operations or portion thereof such as property management asset management and risk

management are conducted through and certain of our properties are owned by taxable RE1T subsidiaries each of

which we refer to as TRS TRS is C-corporation that has not elected REIT status and as such is subject to

United States Federal corporate
income tax We use TRS entities to facilitate our ability to offer certain services and

conduct certain activities that generally cannot be offered directly by the REfl We also use TRS entities to hold

investments in certain properties Income taxes related to the results of continuing operations of our TRS entities are

included in income tax benefit in our consolidated statements of income

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 income tax benefit

decreased by $34.5 million This decrease was primarily attributed to $36.1 million of income tax benefit

recognized in 2008 related to the impairments of our Lincoln Place property and our investment in Casden

Properties LLC both of which are owned through IRS entities partially offset by $8.1 million of income tax benefit

recognized in 2009 related to the impairment of our investment in Casden Properties LLC

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 income tax benefit

increased by $33.4 million This increase was primarily attributed to $36.1 million of income tax benefit recognized

in 2008 related to the impairments of our Lincoln Place property and our investment in Casden Properties LLC

Income from Discontinued Operations Net

The results of operations for properties sold during the period or designated as held for sale at the end of the

period are generally required to be classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented The components

of net earnings that are classified as discontinued operations include all property-related revenues and operating

expenses depreciation expense recognized prior to the classification as held for sale property-specific interest

expense and debt extinguishment gains and losses to the extent there is secured debt on the property In addition any

impairment losses on assets held for sale and the net gain or loss on the eventual disposal of properties held for sale

are reported in discontinued operations

For the years ended December31 2009 and 2008 income from discontinued operations totaled $152.2 miffion

and $744.9 million respectively The $592.7 million decrease in income from discontinued operations was

prmcipally due to $541 million decrease gain on dispositions of real estate net of income taxes pnmanly

attributable to fewer properties sold in 2009 as compared to 2008 and $111 niilhon decrease in operating

income inclusive of $27.1 million increase in real estate impairment losses partially offset by $58.8 million

decrease in interest expense

For the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 income from discontinued operations totaled $744 million

and $171 million respectively The $573 million mcrease in income from discontinued operations was

principally due to $641 million increase in gain on dispositions of real estate net of mcome taxes pnmanly

attributable to more properties sold in 2008 as compared to 2007 and $27 million decrease in interest expense

These increases were partially offset by $66.1 million decrease in operating income inclusive of $22.0 million

increase real estate impairment losses and $31 million decrease related to 2007
gain on debt extinguishment

related to properties in the VMS partnership

During the year ended December 31 2009 we sold 89 consolidated properties for gross proceeds of

$1.3 billion and net proceeds of $432.7 million resulting in net gain on sale of approximately $216.0 million

which is net of $5.8 million of related income taxes During the year ended December 31 2008 we sold 151

consolidated properties for gross proceeds of $2.4 billion and net proceeds of $1.1 billion resulting in net gain on

sale of approximately $757.2 million which is net of $43.1 miffion of related income taxes During the year ended

December 31 2007 We sold 73 consolidated properties for gross proceeds of $480.0 million and net proceeds of

$203.8 million resulting in net gain on sale of approximately $115.5 million which is net of $2.1 million of

related income taxes

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 income from discontinued operations includes the

operating results of the properties sold or classified as held for sale as of December 31 2009
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Changes in the level of gains recognized from period to period reflect the changing level of our disposition

activity from period to period Additionally gains on properties sold are determined on an individual property basis

or in the aggregate
for a.group of properties that are sold in single transaction and are not comparable period to

period see Note 13 of the consolidated fmancial statements in Item for additional information on discontinued

operations

Noncontroiing Interests in Consolidated Real Estate Partnerships

Noncontrollmg interests in consolidated real estate partnerships reflects the non-Aimco partners or non

controlling partners share of operating results of consolidated real estate partnerships
This generally includes the

noncontrolling partners share of property management fees interest on notes and other amounts eliminated in

consolidation that we charge to such partnerships As discussed Note to the consolidated fmancial statements in

Item we adopted the
provisions

of SFAS 160 which are now codified in the Financial Accountmg Standards

Boards Accounting Standards Codification or FASB ASC Topic 810 effective January 2009 Prior to our

adoption of SFAS 160 we generally did not recognize benefit for the noncontrolling interest partners share of

partnership losses for partnerships that have deficit noncontrolling interest balances and we generally recogmzed

charge to our earnings for distributions paid to noncontrolling partners for partnerships
that had deficit non-

controlling interest balances Under the updated provisions of FASB ASC Topic 810 we are required to attribute

losses to noncontrolling interests even if such attribution would result in deficit noncontrolling interest balance

and we are no longer required to recognize charge to our earnings for distributions paid to noncontrolling partners

for partnerships that have deficit noncontrolling interest balances

For the
year

ended December31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 net earnings attributed

to noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships decreased by $133.2 million This decrease is

primarily attributable to reduction of $108.7 million related to the noncontrolling interests in consolidated real

estate partnerships share of gains on dispositions of real estate due primarily to fewer sales in 2009 as compared to

2008 $5.5 million of losses allocated to noncontrolling interests in 2009 that we would not have allocated to the

noncontrolling interest partners in 2008 because to do so would have resulted in deficits in their noncontrolling

interest balances and approximately $3.8 million related to deflôit distribution charges recognized as reduction to

our earnings in 2008 for which we did not recognize similar charges in 2009 based on the change in accounting

discussed above These decreases are in addition to the noncontrolling interest partners share of increased losses of

our consolidated real estate partnerships in 2009 as compared to 2008

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 net income attributed

to noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships increased by $63.6 million This increase is

primarily attributable to an increase of $106.5 million related to the noncontroffing interests in consolidated real

estate partnerships share of gains on dispositions of real estate due primarily to more sales in 2008 as compared to

2007 partially offset by increases of $42.9 million in net recoveries of deficit distributions

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item during the first quarter 2010 we wifi

adopt new accounting guidance related to accounting for variable interest entities This change in accounting

guidance may result in our consolidation of certain previously unconsolidated entities as well as our deconso

lidation of certain we currently consolidate At this time we have nOt yet determined the effect this accounting

change will have on our consolidated financial statements

Noncontrolling Interests in Aimco Operating Partnership

Noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnership consist of common OP Units High Performance

Units and preferred OP Units We allocate the Aimco Operating Partnerships income or loss to the holders of

common OP Units and High Performance Units based on the weighted average number of common OP Units and

High Performance Units outstanding during the period Holders of the preferred OP Units participate in theAimco

Operating Partnerships income or loss only to the extent of their preferred distributions

For the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the year ended December 31 2008 the effect on our

earnings of income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership changed

favorably by $62.3 million This favorable change is attributable to decrease of $50.8 million related to the
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noncontroffing interests in theAimco Operating Partnerships share of income from discontinued operations net of

noncontroiling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships due primarily to larger gains on sales in 2008

relative to 2009 and $11.5 million in deficit distribution charges recognized during 2008 due to distributions in

excess of the positive balance in noncontrolling interest These changes were also affected by decrease in the

noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating Partnerships effective ownership interest from 2008 to 2009

For the year ended December 31 2008 compared to the year ended December 31 2007 the effect on our

earnings of income or loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership changed

unfavorably by $55.8 million This unfavorable change is attributable to an increase of $48.1 million related to the

noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating Partnerships share of income from discontinued operations net of

noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships due primarily to larger gains on sales in 2008

relative to 2007 $11.5 million in deficit distribution charges recognized during 2008 due to distributions in excess

of the positive balance in noncontrolling interest and $0.5 million increase in distributions to holders of preferred

OP Units These unfavorable changes were partially offset by $4.3 million increase in noncontrolling interests in

the Aimco Operating Partnerships share of losses from continuing operations net of noncontrolling interests in

consolidated real estate partnerships 2008 as compared to 2007

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance wjth accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States of America or GA.AP which requires us to make estimates and assumptions We believe that

the following critical accounting policies involve our more significant judgments and estimates used in the

preparation of our consolidated financial statements

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Real estate and other long-lived assets to be held and used are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and

amortization unless the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable If events or circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount of property may not be recoverable we make an assessment of its recoverability by comparing
the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted future cash flows excluding interest charges of the

property If the carrying amount exceeds the estimated aggregate undiscounted future cash flows we recognize an

impairment loss to the extent the
carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the property

From time to time we have non-revenue producing properties that we hold for future redevelopment We
assess the recoverability of the carrying amount of these redevelopment properties by comparing our estimate of

undiscounted future cash flows based on the expected serviôe potential of the redevelopment property upon
completion to the carrying amount In certain instances we use probability-weighted approach to determine our

estimate of undiscounted future cash flows when alternative courses of action are under consideration As discussed

in Provision for Impairment Losses on Real Estate Development Assets within the preceding discussion of our

Results of Operations during 2008 we recognized impairment losses on our Lincoln Place and Pacific Bay Vistas

properties of $85.4 million $55.6 million net of tax and $5.7 million respectively

Real estate investments are subject to varying degrees of risk Several factors may adversely affect the

economic performance and value of our real estate investments These factors inclüdŁ

the general economic climate

competition from other apartment communities and other housing options

local conditions such as loss of jobs or an increase in the supply of apaitments that might adversely affect

apartment occupancy or rental rates

changes in govermnental regulations and the related cost of compliance
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increases in operating costs including real estate taxes due to inflation and other factors which may not be

offset by increased rents

changes in tax laws and housing laws including the enactment of rent control laws or other laws regulating

multifamily housing and

changes in interest rates and the availability of financing

Any adverse changes these and other factors could cause an impairment our long lived assets including

real estate and investments unconsolidated real estate partnerships In addition to the impairments of Lmcoln

Place and Pacific Bay Vistas discussed above based on periodic tests of recoverability of long-lived assets for the

years
ended December 31 2009 and 2007 we recorded net impairment losses of $2 million and $1 million

respectively related to properties classified as held for use and dunng the year
ended December 31 2008 we

recorded no additional impairments related to properties held for use

Notes Receivable and Interest Income Recognition

Notes receivable from unconsolidated real estate partnerships consist primarily of notes receivable from

partnerships in which we are the general partner
Notes receivable from non-affiliates consist of notes receivable

from unrelated third parties The ultimate repayment of these notes is subject to number of variables including the

performance and value of the underlying real estate and the claims of unaffthated mortgage lenders Our notes

receivable include loans extended by us that we carry at the face amount plus accrued interest which we refer to as

par value notes and loans extended by predecessors some of whose positions we generally acquired at discount

which we refer to as discounted notes

We record interest income on par
value notes as earned in accordance with the terms of the related loan

agreements We discontinue the accrual of interest on such notes when the notes are impaired as discussed below or

when there is otherwise significant uncertainty as to the collection of interest We record income on such nonaccrual

loans using the cost recovery method under which we apply cash receipts first to the recorded amount of the loan

thereafter any additional receipts are recognized as income

We recognize interest income on discounted notes receivable based upon whether the amount and timing of

collections are both probable and reasonably estimable We consider collections to be probable and reasonably

estimable when the borrower has closed transactions or has entered into certain pending transactions which include

real estate sales refmancmgs foreclosures and rights offerings that provide
reliable source of repayment In such

instances we recognize accretion income on prospective
basis using the effective interest method over the

estimated remaining term of the loans equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the discounted notes

and the estimated collectible value We record income on all other discounted notes using
the cost recovery method

Accretion income recognized in any given period is based on our ability to complete transactions to monetize the

notes receivable and the difference between the carrying value and the estimated collectible amount of the notes

therefore accretion income vanes on period by period basis and could be lower or higher than in prior periods

Provision for Losses on Notes Receivable

We assess the collectibility of notes receivable on periodic basis which assessment consists primarily
of an

evaluation of cash flow projections of the borrower to determine whether estimated cash flows are sufficient to

repay principal and interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the note We recognize impairments on

notes receivable when it is probable that pnncipal and interest will not be received in accordance with the

contractual terms of the loan The amount of the impairment to be recogmzed generally is based on the fair value of

the partnerships real estate that represents the primary source of loan repayment In certain instances where other

sources of cash flow are available to repay the loan the impairment is measured by discounting the estimated cash

flows at the loans original effective interest rate

During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recorded net provisions for losses on notes

receivable of $21.5 millin $17.6 million and $2.0 million respectively As discussed in Provision for Losses on

Notes Receivable within the preceding discussion of our Results of Operations provisions for losses on notes

receivable in 2009 and 2008 include impairment losses of $20.7 million $12.4 million net of tax and $16.3 million
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$10.0 million net of tax respectively on our investment in Casden Properties LLC which we account for as note

receivable We will continue to evaluate the collectibility of these notes and we will adjust related allowances in the

future due to changes in market conditions and other factors

Capitalized Costs

We capitalize costs including certain indirect costs incurred in connection with our capital additions

activities including redevelopment and construction projects other tangible property improvements and replace
ments of existing property components Included in these capitalized costs are payroll costs associated with time

spent by site employees in connection with the planmng execution and control of all capital additions activities at

the property level We characterize as indirect costs an allocation of certain department costs including payroll at

the area operations and corporate levels that clearly relate to capital additions activities We capitalize interest

property taxes and insurance during periods in which redevelopment and construction projects are in progress We
charge to expense as incurred costs that do not relate to capital additions activities including ordinary repairs

maintenance resident turnover costs and general and administrative expenses see Capital Additions and Related

Depreciation in Note to the consolidated fmancial statements in Item

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 for
continuing and discontinued operations we

capitalized $9 million $25 million and $30 million of interest costs respectively and $400 million

$78 million and $78 million of site payroll and indirect costs respectively The reduction is prunanly due
to reduced level of redevelopment activities

Funds From Operations

FF0 is non-GAAP financial measure that we believe when considered with the financial statements

determined in accordance with GAAP is helpful to investors in understanding our performance because it captures
features particular to real estate performance by recognizing that real estate generally appreciates over time or

maintains residual value to much greater extent than do other depreciable assets such as machinery computers or

other personal property The Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts or

NAREIT defines FF0 as net income loss computed in accordance with GAAP excluding gains from sales of

depreciable property plus depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and

joint ventures Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures are calculated to reflect FF0 on the

same basis We compute FF0 for all periods presented in accordance with the guidance set forth by NAREIT
April 2002 White Paper which we refer to as the White Paper We calculate FF0 attributable to Aimco common
stockholders diluted by subtracting redemption or repurchase related preferred stock issuance costs and dividends

on preferred stock and adding back dividends/distributions on dilutive preferred securities and premiums or

discounts on preferred stock redemptions or repurchases FF0 should not be considered an alternative to net income
or net cash flows from

operating activities as determined in accordance with GAAP as an indication of our

performance or as measure of liquidity FF0 is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund future cash

needs hi addition although FF0 is measure used for
comparability in assessing the performance of REITs there

can be no assurance that our basis for computing FF0 is comparable with that of other REITs

In addition to FF0 we compute an alternate measure of FF0 which we refer to as Proforma FF0 and which is

FF0 attributable to Aimco common stockholders diluted excluding operating real estate impairments and

preferred stock redemption related amounts adjusted for the noncontrolling interests Both operating real estate

impairment losses and preferred stock redemption related amounts are recumng items that affect our operating
results We exclude operating real estate impairment losses net of related income tax benefits and noncontrolhng
interests from our calculation of Proforma FF0 because we believe the inclusion of such losses in FF0 is

inconsistent with the treatment of gains on the disposition of operating real estate which are not included in FF0
We exclude preferred redemption related amounts gains or losses from our calculation of Proforma FF0 because

such amounts are not representativeof our operating results Similar to FF0 we believe Proforma FF0 is helpful to

investors in understanding our performance because it captures features particular to real estate performance by

recognizing that real estate generally appreciates over time or maintains residual value to much greater extent than

do other depreciating assets such as machinery computers or other personal property Not all REITs present an

34



alternate measure of FF0 similar to our Proforma FF0 measure and there can be no assurance our basis for

calculating Proforma FF0 is comparable to those of other RE1Ts

For the
yeals

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 our FF0 and Proforma FF0 are calculated as follows

in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Net loss mcome attributable to Aimco common stockholders1 $114 840 351 314 40 586

Adjustments

Depreciation and amortization 444413 392999 347491

Depreciation and amortization related to non-real estate assets 16667 17372 20159

Depreciation of rental property related to noncontrolhng partners and unconsohdated

entities2 40852 29872 15888

Gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other 22494 99864 24470

Income tax expense benefit arising from disposition of unconsolidated real estate and

other 1582 433 17
Add back portion of gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other that

relates to non-depreciable assets and debt extinguishment galn 7783 1669 17956

Deficit distributions to noncontrolling partners3 37680 29210

Discontinued operations

Gain on dispositions of real estate net of noncontrolling partners interest2 164281 617906 63923

Depreciation of rental property net of noncontroffing partners interest2 45836 109043 114586

Recovery of deficit distributions deficit distributions to noncontroffing partners

net3 30354 9550

Income tax expense arising from disposals 5788 43146 2135

Noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnerships share of above

adjustments4
19509 21667 36830

Preferred stock dividends 52215 55190 63381

Preferred stock redemption related gains costs 1649 1482 2635

Amounts allocable to participating securities5 6985 4481

FF0 $177325 222410 $389552

Preferred stock dividends 52215 55190 63381

Preferred stock redemption related gains costs 1649 1482 2635
Amounts allocable to participating securities5 773 6985 4481
Dividends/distributions on dilutive preferred securities 4292 1442

FF0 attributable to Aimco common stockholders diluted 125986 166009 $320497

Operating real estate impairment losses continuing operations net of noncontroffing

partners interest6 2012 1131 1080

Operating real estate impainnent losses discontinued operations net of noncontroffing

partners interest6 61313 26285 5430

Income tax benefit on impairment losses 4075 511

Preferred stock redemption related gains costs7 1649 1482 2635

Noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnerships share of above adjustments 4304 2474 850

Amounts allocable to participating securities5 448

Dividends/distributions on dilutive preferred securities 426

Proforma FF0 attributable to Aimco common stockholders diluted 178835 188958 $329218

FF0 attributable to Aimco common stockholders diluted

Weighted average number of common shares common share equivalents and dilutive

preferred securities outstanding8

Common shares and equivalents9
115563 89827 97055

Dilutive preferred securities 1490 457

Total 115563 91317 97512

Proforma FF0 attributable to Aimco common stockholders diluted

Weighted average number of common shares common share equivalents and dilutive

preferred securities outstanding8

Common shares and equivalents9 115563 89827 97055

Dilutive preferred securities 1490 580

Total 115563 91317 97635

Notes

Represents the numerator for calculating basic earnmgs per common share in accordance with GAAP see

Note 14 to the consolidated fmancial statements Item

Noncontrolling partners refers to noncontrolling partners in our consolidated real estate partnerships
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Prior to adoption of SFAS 160 see Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item we recognized

deficit distributions to noncontrolling partners as charges in our income statement when cash was distributed to

noncontrolling partner in consolidated partnership in excess of the positive balance in such partners

noncontrolling interest balance We recorded these charges for GAAP purposes even though there was no
economic effect or cost Deficit distributions to noncontrolling partners occurred when the fair value of the

underlying real estate exceeded its depreciated net book value because the underlying real estate had

appreciated or mamtamed its value As result the recogmtion of expense for deficit distributions to

noncontrolling partners represented in substance either our recognition of depreciation previously

allocated to the noncontrolling partner or payment related to the noncontrolling partners share of real

estate appreciation Based on White Paper guidance that requires real estate depreciation and gains to be

excluded from FF0 we added back deficit distributions and subtracted related recoveries in our reconciliation

of net income to FF0 Subsequent to our adoption of SFAS 160 effective January 2009 we may reduce the

balance of noncontrolling interests below zero in such situations and we are no longer required to recognize

such charges in our income statement

During the
years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Aimco Operating Partnership had 6534140

7191199 and 7367400 common OP Units outstanding and 2344719 2367629 and 2379084 High
Performance Units outstanding

Amounts allocable to participating securities represent dividends declared and any amounts of undistributed

earnings allocable to participating securities See Note and Note 14 to the consolidated fmancial statements in

Item for further information regarding participating securities

On October 2003 NAREIT clarified its definition of FF0 to include operating real estate impairment losses

which previously had been added back to calculate FF0 Although Aimcos presentation conforms with the

NAREIT definition Aimco considers such approach to be inconsistent with the treatment of gains on

dispositions of operating real estate which are not included in FF0

In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commissions July 31 2003 interpretation of the Emerging
Issues Task Force Topic D-42 Aimco includes preferred stock redemption related charges or gains in FF0 As

result FF0 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 includes redemption discounts net of

issuance costs of $1.6 million and $1.5 million and redemption premium of $2.6 million respectively

Weighted average common shares common share equivalents dilutive preferred securities for each of the

periods presented above have been adjusted for our application during the fourth quarter 2009 of change in

GAAP which requires the shares issued in our special dividends paid in 2008 and January 2009 to be treated as

issued and outstanding on the dividend payment dates for basic
purposes and as potential share equivalents for

the periods between the ex-dividend dates and the payment dates for diluted purposes rather than treating the

shares as issued and outstanding as of the beginning of the earliest period presented for both basic and diluted

purposes The change in accounting treatment had no effect on diluted weighted average shares outstanding for

the year ended December 31 2009 The change in accounting treatment reduced diluted weighted average
shares outstanding by 32.7 million and 46.5 million for the

years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively

Represents the denominator for earnings per common share diluted calculated in accordance with GAAP
plus common share equivalents that are dilutive for FF0

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is the ability to meet present and future financial obligations Our primary source of liquidity is cash

flow from our operations Additional sources are proceeds from
property sales and proceeds from refinancings of

existing property loans and borrowings under new property loans

Our principal uses for liquidity include normal operating activities payments of principal and interest on

outstanding debt capital additions dividends paid to stockholders and distributions paid to noncontrolhng interest

partners repürchases of shares of our Common Stock and acquisitions of and investments in properties We use

our cash and cash equivalents and our cash provided by operating activities to meet short-term liquidity needs In the

event that our cash and cash equivalents and cash provided by operating activities are not sufficient to cover our
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short-term liquidity demands we have additional means such as short-term borrowing availability and proceeds

from property
sales and refrnancings to help us meet our short-term liquidity demands We may use our revolving

credit facility for general corporate purposes
and to fund investments on an interim basis We expect to meet our

long-term liquidity requirements
such as debt maturities and property acquisitions through long-term borrowings

primarily
secured the issuance of equity securities including OP Units the sale of properties and cash generated

from operations

The state of credit markets and related effect on the overall economy may have an adverse affect on our

liquidity both through
increases in interest rates and credit risk spreads and access to fmancing As further

discussed in Item 7A Quantitative
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk we are subject to interest rate

risk associated with certain variable rate liabilities preferred stock and assets Based on our net variable rate

liabilities preferred stock and assets outstanding at December 31 2009 we estimate that 1.0% increase in 30-day

LIBOR with constant credit risk spreads would reduce our income attributable to Aimco common stockholders by

approximately $1.5 million on an annual basis Although base interest rates have generally
decreased relative to

their levels prior to the disruptions in the fmancial markets the tightening
of credit markets has affected the credit

risk spreads charged over base interest rates on and the availability of property
loan financing For future

refinancing activities our liquidity and cost of funds may be affected by increases in base interest rates or higher

credit risk spreads
If timely property financing options are not available for maturing debt we may consider

alternative sources of liquidity such as reductions in certain capital spending or proceeds from asset dispositions

As further discussed in Note to our consolidated financial statements in Item we use total rate of return

swaps as financing product to lower our cost of borrowing through conversion of fixed rate tax-exempt bonds

payable and fixed rate notes payable to variable interest rates indexed to the SIFMA rate for tax-exempt
bonds

payable and the 30-day LIBOR rate for notes payable plus credit risk spread The cost of financing through these

arrangements
is generally lower than the fixed rate on the debt As of December 31 2009 we had total rate of return

swap positions
with two fmancial mstitutions with notional amounts totaling $353 milhon Swaps with notional

amounts of $307.9 million and $45.2 million had maturity dates in May 2012 and October 2012 respectively

The total rate of return swaps require specified
loan-to-value ratios In the event the values of the real estate

properties serving as collateral under these agreements
decline or if we sell properties

in the collateral pool
with low

loan-to-value ratios certain of our consolidated subsidiaries have an obligation to pay down the debt or provide

additional collateral pursuant to the swap agreements which may adversely affect our cash flows The obligation to

provide
collateral is limited to these subsidiaries and is non-recourse to Aimco At December 31 2009 these

subsidiaries were not required to provide
cash collateral based on the loan-to-value ratios of the real estate

properties serving as collateral under these agreements

We periodically evaluate counterparty credit risk associated with these arrangements At the current time we

have concluded we do not have material exposure In the event counterparty were to default under these

arrangements loss of the net interest benefit we generally receive under these arrangements which is equal to the

difference between the fixed rate we receive and the variable rate we pay may adversely affect our operating cash

flows

See Derivative Financial Instruments in Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item for additional

discussion of these arrangements including the current swap maturity dates

As of December 31 2009 the amount available under our $180.0 million revolving credit facility was

$136.2 million after giving effect to $43.8 million outstanding for undrawn letters of credit Our total outstanding

term loan of $90.0 million at December 31 2009 matures in March 2011 We repaid an additional $45.0 million on

the term loan through February 26 2010 leaving remaining outstanding balance of $45.0 miffion Additionally

we have limited obligations to fund redevelopment commitments during the year ending December 31 2010 and

no development commitments

At December 31 2009 we had $81.3 million in cash and cash equivalents
decrease of $218.4 million from

December 31 2008 At December 31 2009 we had $220.0 million of restricted cash primarily consisting of

reserves and escrows held by lenders for bond sinking funds capital additions property
taxes and insurance In

addition cash cash equivalents
and restricted cash are held by partnerships

that are not presented on consolidated
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basis The following discussion relates to changes in cash due to operating investing and fmancing activities which
are presented in our consolidated statements of cash flows in Item

Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31 2009 our net cash provided by operating activities of $233.8 million was
primarily related to operating income from our consolidated properties which is affected

primarily by rental rates
occupancy levels and operating expenses related to our portfolio of properties in excess of payments of

operatingaccounts payable and accrued liabilities including amounts related to our organizational restructuring Cash
provided by operating activities decreased $206.6 million compared with the year ended December 31 2008
primarily due to $159.3 million decrease in

operating income related to consolidated properties included in
discontinued operations which was attributable to property sales in 2009 and 2008 $42.8 million decrease in
promote income which is generated by the

disposition of properties by consolidated real estate partnerships and an
increase in payments on operating accounts payable and accrued expenses including payments related to our
restructuring accrual in 2009 as compared to 2008

Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31 2009 our net cash provided by investing activities of $630.3 million
consisted primarily of proceeds from disposition of real estate and partnership interests partially offset by capital
expenditures

Although we hold all of our properties for investment we sell properties when they do not meet our investment
criteria or are located in areas that we believe do not justify our continued investment when compared to alternative
uses for our capital During the year ended December31 2009 we sold 89 consolidated properties These propertieswere sold for an aggregate sales price of $1.3 billion or $1.2 biffion after the payment of transaction costs and debt
prepayment penalties The $1.2 billion is inclusive of promote income and debt assumed by buyers Net cash
proceeds from

property sales were used
primarily to repay term debt and for other corporate purposes

Capital Additions

We classify all capital additions as Capital Replacements which we refer to as CR Capital Improvementswhich we refer to as Cl casualties or redevelopment Additions other than casualty or redevelopment capitaladditions are apportioned between CR and CI based on the useful life of the capital item under consideration and the
period we have owned the

property

CR represents the share of capital additions that are deemed to replace the portion of acquired capital assetsthat was consumed during the period we have owned the asset CI represents the share of additions that are made toenhance the value profitability or useful life of an asset as compared to its original purchase condition CR and CI
exclude capital additions for casualties and redevelopment Casualty additions represent capitalized costs incurred
in connection with

casualty losses and are associated with the restoration of the asset portion of the restoration
costs may be reimbursed by insurance carriers subject to deductibles associated with each loss Redevelopmentadditions represent additions that substantially upgrade the

property
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The table below details our share of actual spending on both consolidated and unconsolidated real estate

partnerships for CR CI casualties and redevelopment for the year ended December31 2009 on per
unit and total

dollar basis in thousands except per unit amounts Per unit numbers for CR and CI are based on approximately

97196 average umts for the year mcludmg 81135 conventional umts and 16061 affordable umts Average umts

are weighted for the portion of the penod that we owned an mterest the property represent ownership-adjusted

effective units and exclude non managed umts

Aimcos Share of

Additions Per Effective Unit

Capital Replacements Detail

Building and grounds
32876 $338

Turnover related
30298 312

Capitalized site payroll and indirect costs 7076 73

Our share of Capital Replacements
70250 $723

Capital Replacements

Conventional
64675 $797

Affordable
5575 $347

Our share of Capital Replacements
70250 $723

Capital Improvements

Conventional
47634 $587

Affordable
5755 $358

Our share of Capital Improvements
53389 $549

Casualties

Conventional
17724

Affordable
1872

Our share of casualties
19596

Redevelopment

Conventional projects
66768

Tax credit projectsl
46066

Our share of redevelopment 112834

Our share of capital additions 256069

Plus noncontrolling partners
share of consolidated additions 20062

Less our share of unconsolidated additions 687

Total capital additions $275444

Redevelopment additions on tax credit projects are substantially funded from tax credit investor contributions

Included in the above additions for CI casualties and redevelopment was approximately $34.6 million of our

share of capitalized site payroll and indirect costs related to these activities for the year ended December 31 2009

We generally fund capital additions with cash provided by operating activities working capital and property

sales as discussed below

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31 2009 net cash used in financing activities of $1.1 billion was primarily

attributed to debt principal payments dividends paid to common and preferred stockholders and distributions to

noncontrolling interests partially offset by proceeds from property loans
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Property Debt

At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had $5.6 billion and $6.3 billion respectively in consolidated property
debt outstanding which included $29 million and $759 million respectively of property debt classified within

liabilities related to assets held for sale Dunng the year ended December 31 2009 we refmanced or closed property
loans on 55

properties generating $788 million of proceeds from borrowings with weighted average interest rate

of 5.78% Our share of the net proceeds after repayment of existing debt payment of transaction costs and

distributions to limited partners was $132.3 million We used these total net proceeds for capital expenditures and
other corporate purposes We intend to continue to refinance property debt primarily as means of extending
current and near term maturities and to finance certain capital projects

Term Loans and Credit Facility

We have an Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement as amended with syndicate of

financial institutions which we refer to as the Credit Agreement

As of December 31 2009 the Credit Agreement consisted of
aggregate commitments of $270.0 million

comprised of our $90.0 million outstanding balance on the term loan and $180.0 million of revolving loan

commitments The term loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.5% or at our option base rate equal to the prime rate
and matures March 2011 Borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest based on pricing grid
determined by leverage either at LIBOR plus 4.25% with LIBOR floor of 2.00% or at our option base rate

equal to the Prime rate plus spread of 3.00% The revolving credit facility matures May 2011 and may be
extended for an additional year subject to certain conditions including payment of 45.0 basis point fee on the total

revolving commitments and repayment of the remaining term loan balance by February 2011

At December 312009 the term loan had an outstanding principal balance of $90.0 million and an interest rate

of 1.73% We repaid $45.0 million on the term loan through February 26 2010 leaving remaining outstanding
balance of $45.0 million At December 31 2009 we had no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit

facility The amount available under the revolving credit facility at December 31 2009 was $136.2 million after

giving effect to $43.8 million outstanding for undrawn letters of credit issued under the revolving credit facility
The proceeds of revolving loans are generally permitted to be used to fund working capital and for other corporate

purposes

Fair Value Measurements

We have entered into total rate of return swaps on various fixed rate secured tax-exempt bonds payable and
fixed rate notes payable to convert these

borrowings from fixed rate to variable rate and provide an efficient

financing product to lower our cost of borrowing We designate total rate of return swaps as hedges of the risk of

overall changes in the fair value of the underlying borrowings At each reporting period we estimate the fair value

of these borrowings and the total rate of return swaps and recognize any changes therein as an adjustment of interest

expense

Our method used to calculate the fair value of the total rate of return swaps generally results in changes in fair

value that are equal to the changes in fair value of the related borrowings which is consistent with our hedging
strategy We believe that these financial instruments are highly effective in offsetting the changes in fair value of the
related borrowings dunng the hedging penod and accordingly changes in the fair value of these instruments have

no material impact on our liquidity results of operations or capital resources

During the year ended December 31 2009 changes in the fair values of these fmancial instruments resulted in

increases of $5.2 million in the carrying amount of the hedged borrowings and equal decreases in accrued liabilities

and other for total rate of return swaps At December 31 2009 the cumulative recognized changes in the fair value
of these financial instruments resulted in $24.3 million reduction in the

carrying amount of the hedged borrowings
offset by an equal increase in accrued liabilities and other for total rate of return swaps The cumulative changes in

the fair values of the hedged borrowings and related swaps reflect the recent uncertainty in the credit markets which
has decreased demand and increased pricing for similar debt instruments
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During the year ended December31 2009 we received net cash receipts of $19.4 million under the total return

swaps which positively affected our liquidity To the extent interest rates increase above the fixed rates on the

underlying borrowings our obligations under the total return swaps will negatively affect our liquidity At

December 31 2009 we were not required to provide cash collateral pursuant to the total rate of return swaps

In the event the values of the real estate properties serving as collateral under these agreements decline we may be

required to provide additional collateral pursuant to the swap agreements which would adversely affect our

liquidity

See Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item for more information on our total rate of return

swaps and related borrowings

Equity Transactions

During the year ended December 31 2009 we paid cash dividends or distributions totaling $52.2 million

$95.3 million and $28.5 million to preferred stockholders common stockholders and noncontrolling interests in the

Aimco Operating Partnership respectively Additionally we paid dividends totaling $149.0 million to common

stockholders through the issuance of approximately 15.5 million shares During the
year

ended December 31 2009

we paid distributions of $91.9 million to noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships

During the year ended December31 2009 we repurchased 12 shares or $6.0 million in liquidation preference

of CRA Preferred Stock for $4.2 million

We and the Aimco Operating Partnership have shelf registration statement that provides for the issuance of

debt and equity securities by Aimco and debt secunties by the Aunco Operating Partnership

Contractual Obligations

This table summarizes information contained elsewhere in this Annual Report regarding payments due under

contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31 2009 amounts in thousands

Less than More than

Total One Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Years

Scheduled long-term debt maturities1 $5 600 310 $105 294 $660 733 $868 615 $3 965 668

Scheduled long term debt matunties related

to properties classified as held for

sale1 29177 519 11206 868 16584

Term loan12 90000 90000

Redevelopment and other construction

commitments 4795 4795

Leases for space occupied3 24888 7345 10856 4859 1828

Other obhgations4 4605 4605

Total $5753775 $122558 $772795 $874342 $3984080

Scheduled debt maturities presented above include amortization and the maturities in 2010 consist primarily of

amortization The scheduled maturities presented above exclude related interest amounts Refer to Note in the

consolidated financial statements in Item for description of average interest rates associated with our debt

After payments of $45.0 million through February 26 2010 the term loan had an outstanding balance of

$45.0 million

Inclusive of leased space that has been abandoned as part of our organizational restructuring in 2008 see

Restructuring Costs in Note to the consolidated financial statements in Item

Represents comimtment to fund $46 million in second mortgage loans on certain properties in West Harlem

New York City

In addition to the amounts presented in the table above at December 31 2009 we had $690.5 miffion of

outstanding preferred stock outstanding with annual dividend yields ranging from 1.5% variable to 9.4% and
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$85.7 million of preferred units of the Aimco Operating Partnership outstanding with annual distribution yields

ranging from 5.9% to 9.5%

Additionally we may enter into commitments to purchase goods and services in connection with the

operations of our properties Those commitments generally have terms of one year or less and reflect expenditure

levels comparable to our histoncal expenditures

Future Capital Needs

In addition to the items set forth in Contractual Obligations above we expect to fund any future acquisitions

additional redevelopment projects capital improvements and capital replacement principally with proceeds from

property sales including tax-free exchange proceeds short-term borrowings debt and equity fmancing including

tax credit equity and operating cash flows

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We own general and Inmted partner mterests unconsolidated real estate partnerships in which our total

ownership interests typically range from less than 1% to 50% and in some instances may exceed 50% There are no

lines of credit side agreements or any other derivative financial instruments related to or between our uncon
solidated real estate partnerships and us and no material exposure to financial guarantees Accordingly our

maximum risk of loss related to these unconsolidated real estate partnerships is limited to the aggregate carrying

amount of our investment in the unconsolidated real estate partnerships and any outstanding notes receivable as

reported in our consolidated financial statements see Note of the consolidated financial statements in Item for

additional information about our investments in unconsolidated real estate partnerships

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary market risk exposure relates to changes in base interest rates credit risk spreads and availability of

credit We are not subject to any other material market rate or price risks We use predominantly long-term fixed-

rate non-recourse property debt in order to avoid the refunding and repricing risks of short-term borrowings We use

short-term debt financing and working capital primarily to fund short-term uses and acquisitions and generally

expect to refinance such borrowings with cash from operating activities property sales proceeds long-term debt or

equity financings We use total rate-of-return swaps to obtain the benefit of variable rates on certain of our fixed rate

debt instruments We make limited use of other derivative financial instruments and we do not use them for trading

or other speculative purposes

We had $654.6 million of floating rate debt and $67.0 million of floating rate preferred stock outstanding at

December 31 2009 Of the total floating rate debt the major components were floating rate tax-exempt bond

financing $433.9 million floating rate secured notes $122.2 million and term loan $90.0 million At

December 31 2009 we had approximately $440.9 million in cash and cash equivalents restricted cash and notes

receivable the majority of which bear interest The effect of our interest-bearing assets would partially reduce the

effect of an increase variable interest rates Histoncally changes in tax exempt mterest rates have been at ratio

of less than 11 with changes in taxable interest rates Floating rate tax-exempt bond fmancing is benchmarked

against the S1FMArate which since 1989 has averaged 73% of the 30-day LIBOR rate If the historical relationship

continues on an annual basis we estimate that an increase in 30-day LIBOR of 100 basis points 73 basis points for

tax-exempt interest rates with constant credit risk spreads would result in net income and our net income

attributable to Aimco common stockholders being reduced by $1.1 million and $1.5 million respectively

We estimate the fair value for our debt instruments using present value techniques that include income and

market valuation approaches with market rates for debt with the same or similar terms Present value calculations

vary depending on the assumptions used including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows In many
cases the fair value estimates may not be realizable in immediate settlement of the instruments The estimated

aggregate fair value of our consolidated debt including amounts reported in liabilities related to assets held for sale

was approximately $5.7 billion and $6.7 billion at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The combined

carrying value of our consolidated debt including amounts reported in liabilities related to assets held for sale was

approximately $5.7 billion and $6.8 billion at Deceinber 31 2009 and 2008 respectively See Note and Note to
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the consolidated financial statements in Item for further details on our consolidated debt Refer to Derivative

Financial Instruments in Note to the consolidated fmancial statements in Item for further discussion regarding

certain of our fixed rate debt that is subject to total rate of return swap instruments if market rates for our fixed-rate

debt were higher by 100 basis points with constant credit risk spreads the estimated fair value of our debt djscussed

above would have decreased from $5.7 billion to $5.4 billion if market rates for our debt discussed above were

lower by 100 basis points with constant credit risk spreads the estimated fair value of our fixed-rate debt would have

increased from $5.7 billion to $6.1 billion

At December 31 2009 we had swap positions with two fmancial institutions totaling $353.1 million The

related swap agreements provide for collateral calls to maintain specified loan-to-value ratios In the event the

values of the real estate properties serving as collateral under these agreements decline we may be required to

provide additional collateral pursuant to the swap agreements which would adversely affect our cash flows At

December 31 2009 we were not required to provide cash collateral based on the loan-to-value ratios of the real

estate properties serving as collateral under these agreements

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The independent registered public accounting firms report consolidated financial statements and schedule

listed in the accompanying index are filed as part of this report and incorporated herein by this reference See Index

to Financial Statements on page F-i of this Annual Report

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer has evaluated

the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules i3a-i5e and 15d-15e under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this

report Based on such evaluation our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that as of

the end of such period our disclosure controls and procedures are effective

Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule i3a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange

Act as process designed by or under the supervision of our principal executive and principal financial officers and

effected by our Board of Directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of assets

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures

are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of assets that could have material effect on the fmancial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls

may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate
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Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 In making this assessment management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

Based on their assessment management concluded that as of December 31 2009 our internal control over

financial reporting is effective

Our independent registered public accounting finn has issued an attestation report on our internal control over

financial reporting

Changes in Infernal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over fmancial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and

15d-15f under the Exchange Act during the fourth quarter of 2009 that has materially affected or is reasonably

likely to materially affect our internal control over fmancial reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors Apartment Investment and Management Company

We have audited Apartment Investment and Management Companys the Company internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Conmiittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO

criteria The Companys management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the

accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on the Companys internal control over fmancial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit

included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the

assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

company internal control over fmancial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reportmg and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting pnnciples company internal control over fmancial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fmancial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or dispositionof the companys
assets that could have material effect on the fmancial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

Umted States the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related

consolidated statements of income equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2009 and our report dated February 26 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/s/ ERNST YOUNG LLP

Denver Colorado

February 26 2010
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Item 9B Other Information

None

PART ifi

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is presented under the captions Board of Directors and Executive

Officers Corporate Governance Matters Code of Ethics Other Matters Section 16a Beneficial Own

ership Reporting Compliance Corporate Governance Matters Nominating and Corporate Governance Com

mittee Corporate Governance Matters Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Matters Audit

Committee Financial Expert in the proxy statement for our 2010 annual meetmg of stockholders and is

incorporated herein by reference

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is presented under the captions Compensation Discussion Analysis

Compensation and Human Resources Committee Report to Stockholders Summary Compensation Table

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 2009 Option Exercises

and Stock Vested in 2009 Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change Control and Corporate

Governance Matters Director Compensation in the proxy statement for our 2010 annual meetmg of stock

holders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by this item is presented under the captions Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management and Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

in the proxy statement for our 2010 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is presented under the caption Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions and Corporate Governance Matters Independence of Directors in the proxy statement for our

2010 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is presented under the caption Principal Accountant Fees and Services

the proxy statement for our 2010 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART LV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

al The financial statements listed in the Index to Financial Statements on Page F-i of this report are filed

as part of this report and incorporated herein by reference

a2 The fmancial statement schedule listed in the Index to Financial Statements on Page F-i of this report is

filed as part of this report and incorporated herein by reference

a3 The Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference

INDEX TO EXHIBITS 12
Exhibit No Description

3.1 Charter Exhibit 3.1 to Aimcos Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 is

incorporated herein by this reference

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws Exhibit 3.2 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated February

2010 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of AJIvICO Propertirs L.P dated as of

July 29 1994 as amended and restated as of February 282007 Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2006 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.2 First Amendment to Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of AIMCO

Properties L.P dated as of December 31 2007 Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K

dated December 31 2007 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.3 Second Amendment to the Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of AIMCO

Properties L.P dated as of July 30 2009 Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for

the quarterly period ended June 30 2009 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.4 Amended and Restated Secured Credit Agreement dated as of November 2004 by and among Aimco

AIMCO Properties L.P AIMCOIBethesda Holdings Inc and NHP Management Company as the

borrowers and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and the Lenders listed therein

Exhibit 4.1 to Aimcos Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30

2004 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.5 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Secured Credit Agreement dated as of June 16 2005 by and

among Aimco AIMCO Properties L.P AIMCOIBethesda Holdings Inc and NHP Management

Company as the borrowers and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and the Lenders

listed therein Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 162005 is incorporated

herein by this reference

10.6 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of March 22

2006 by and among Aimco AIMCO Properties L.P and AlMCOIBethesda Holdings Inc as the

borrowers and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and the lenders listed therein

Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 22 2006 is incorporated herein by

this reference

10.7 Third Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of August 31 2007 by and among

Apartment Investment and Management Company AJMCO Properties L.P and AIMCOIBethesda

Holdings Inc as the Borrowers the pledgors and guarantors named therein Bank of America N.A as

administrative agent and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and thç other lenders

listed therein Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 31 2007 is

incorporated herein by this reference
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Exhibit No
Description

10.8 Fourth Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of September 14 2007 by and among
Apartment Investment and Management Company AIMCO Properties L.P and AIMCO/Bethesda

Holdings Inc as the Borrowers the pledgors and guarantors named therein Bank of America N.A as

administrative agent and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and the other lenders

listed therein Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 14 2007 is

incorporated herein by this reference

10.9 Fifth Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of September 2008 by and among
Apartment Investment and Management Company AIMCO Properties L.P and AIMCOIBethesda

Holdings Inc as the Borrowers the pledgors and guarantors named therein Bank of America N.A as

administrative agent and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and the other lenders

listed therein Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 11 2008 is

incorporated herein by this reference

10.10 Sixth Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of May 2009 by and among
Apartment Investment and Management Company AIMCO Properties L.P and AIMCOIBethesda

Holdings Inc as the Borrowers the pledgors and guarantors named therein Bank of America N.A as

administrative agent and Bank of America N.A Keybank National Association and the other lenders

listed therein Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Quarterly Report on Fonn 10-Q for the quarterly period ended

March 31 2009 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.11 Seventh Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of August 2009 by and among
Apartment Investment and Management Company AIMCO Properties L.P and AIMCOfBethesda

Holdings Inc as the Borrowers the pledgors and guarantors named therein and the lenders party thereto

Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 2009 is incorporated herein by
this reference

10.12 Eighth Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of February 2010 by and among
Apartment Investment and Management Company AIMCO Properties L.P and AlMCOIBethesda

Holdings Inc as the Borrowers the pledgors and guarantors named therejn and the lenders party thereto

Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 2010 is incorporated herein by
this reference

10.13 Master Indenmification Agreement dated December 2001 by and among ApartmentInvestment and

Management Company AIMCO Properties L.P XYZ Holdings LLC and the other parties signatory
thereto Exhibit 2.3 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 2001 is incorporated
herein by this reference

10.14 Tax Indemnification and Contest Agreement dated December 2001 by and among Apartment

Investment and Management Company National Partnership Investments Corp and XYZ Holdings

LLC and the other parties signatory thereto Exhibit 24 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated

December 2001 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.15 Limited Liability Company Agreement of AIIvICO JV Portfolio LLC dated as of December 30 2003

by and among AIMCO BRE LLC AIMCO BRE II LLC and SRV-AJVP1 LLC Exhibit 10.54 to

Aimcos Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2003 is incorporated herein by
this reference

10.16 Employment Contract executed on December 29 2008 by and between AIMCO Properties L.P and

Terry Considine Exhibit 10.1 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 29 2008 is

incorporated herein by this reference

10.17 Apartment Investment and Management Company 1997 Stock Award and Incentive Plan October 1999
Exhibit 10.26 to Aimcos Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 1999 is

incorporated herein by this reference

10.18 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement 1997 Stock Award and Incentive Plan Exhibit 10.11 to Aimcos

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30 1997 is incorporated
herein by this reference
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Exhibit No Description

10.19 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement 1997 Stock Award and Incentive Plan Exhibit 10.42 to

Aimco Annual Report on Form 10 for the year ended December 31 1998 is incorporated herem by

this reference

10.20 2007 Stock Award and Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix to Aimcos Proxy

Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 20 2007

10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement Exhibit 10.2 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K dated April

30 2007 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.22 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Exhibit 10.3 to Aimcos Current Report on Form 8-K

dated April 30 2007 is incorporated herein by this reference

10.23 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix to Aimcos Proxy

Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 20 2007

21.1 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14a/15d- 14a
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 3a- 14a115d-14a

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes

Oxley Act of 2002

99.1 Agreement re disclosure of long-term debt instruments

Schedule and supplemental materials to the exhibits have been omitted but will be provided to the Securities

and Exchange Commission upon request

The file reference number for all exhibits is 001-13232 and all such exhibits remain available pursuant to the

Records Control Schedule of the Securities and Exchange Commission

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND

MANAGEMENT CoMINV

By Is/ TERRY CONSIDINE

Terry Considine

Chairman of the Board and

ChiefExecutive Officer

Date February 26 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

/s/ TERRY CONSIDINE Chairman of the Board and February 26 2010

Terry Considine
Chief Executive Officer

principal executive officer

/s/ ERNEST FREEDMAN Executive Vice President and February 26 2010

Ernest MI Freedman Chief Financial Officer

principal financial officer

/s/ PAul BELDIN Senior Vice President and February 26 2010

Paul Beldin
Chief Accounting Officer

principal accounting officer

/s/ JA1ms BAILEY Director February 26 2010

James Bailey

/s/ RJcFiAiu ELLWOOD Director February 26 2010

Richard Eliwood

/s/ THOMAS KELTNER Director February 26 2010

Thomas Keitner

Is LANDIs MARrIN Director February 26 2010

Landis Martin

1st ROBERT MILLER Director February 26 2010

Robert Miller

Is MICHAEL SmIN Director February 26 2010

Michael Stein
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors Apartment Investment and Management Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Apartment Investment and Management

Company the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of income

equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 Our audits also included

the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements These fmancial

statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these fmancial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall

financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated fmancial position of the Company at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated results

of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity

with United States generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement

schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all

material respects the information set forth therein

The consolidated financial statements include retroactive adjustments to reflect the adoption in 2009 of

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial State

ments an amendment to ARB 51 codified in FASB ASC 810 Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 141R Business Combinations replacement of FASB Statement No 141 codified in FASB ASC 805
FASB Staff Position No EITF 03-6-1 Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment

Transactions are Participating Securities codified in FASB ASC 260 and FASB Accounting Standards Update

No 2010-01 Accounting for Distributions to Shareholders with Components of Stock and Cash codified in FASB

ASC 505 Further the Company retrospectively adjusted the 2008 and 2007 consolidated financial statements to

reflect real estate assets that meet the definition of component and have been sold or meet the criteria to be

classified as held for sale at December 31 2009 pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 144

Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets codified in FASB ASC 360 through Decem
ber 31 2009 As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the consolidated statement of income

for the year ended December 31 2008 has been restated to reclassify provisions for impairment losses on real estate

development assets into operating income

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on criteria

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Conmiittee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 26 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/5/ ERNST YOUNG LLP

Denver Colorado

February 26 2010

F-2



APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands except share data

2009 2008

ASSETS
Real estate

Buildings and improvements 7479480 7278734
Land 2183927 2167574

Total real estate 9663407 9446308
Less accumulated depreciation 2701046 2320671

Net real estate 6962361 7125637
Cash and cash equivalents 81260 299676
Restricted cash 220037 253315
Accounts receivable net 59822 90318
Accounts receivable from affiliates net 23744 38978
Deferred fmancing costs net 52725 51568
Notes receivable from unconsolidated real estate partnerships net 14295 22567
Notes receivable from non-affiliates net 125269 139897

Investment in unconsolidated real estate partnerships 105324 119036
Other assets 185890 198713

Deferred income tax assets net 42015 28326
Assets held for sale 33726 1073839

Total assets 7906468 9441870

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Property tax-exempt bond financing 574926 629499
Property loans payable 4972327 4944324
Term loans 90000 400000
Other borrowings 53057 95981

Total indebtedness 5690310 6069804

Accounts payable 29819 64241
Accrued liabilities and other 286328 569996
Deferred income 182485 193810

Security deposits 35764 37244
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 30403 771878

Total liabilities 6255109 7706973

Preferred noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnership 86656 88148
Preferred stock subject to repurchase agreement Note 11 30000
Commitments and contingencies Note
Equity

Perpetual Preferred Stock Note 11 660500 696500
Class Common Stock $0.01 par value 426157736 shares authorized

116479791 and 100631881 shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 1165 1006
Additional paid-in capital 3072665 2910002
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 1138 2249
Notes due on common stock purchases 1392 3607
Distributions in excess of earnings 2492082 2335628

Total Aimco equity 1239718 1266024

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships 316177 380725

Common noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnership 21192
Total equity 1534703 1646749

Total liabilities and equity 7906468 9441870

See notes to consolidated fmancial statements
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APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands except per share data

2009 2008 2007

as restated

see Note

REVENUES
Rental and other property revenues $1140828 $1137995 $1093779

Property management revenues primarily from affiliates 5082 6345 6923

Asset management and tax credit revenues 49853 98830 73755

Total revenues 1195763 1243170 1174457

OPERATING EXPENSES

Property operating expenses 521161 526238 503890

Property management expenses 2869 5385 6678

Investment management expenses 15779 24784 20507

Depreciation and amortization 444413 392999 347491

Provision for operating real estate impairment losses 2329 1080

Provision for impairment losses on real estate development assets 91138

General and adminritrative expenses 69567 99157 90674

Other expenses net 17891 22568 19338

Restructuring costs 11241 22802

Total operating expenses 1085250 1185071 989658

Operating income 110513 58099 184799

Interest income 9341 19914 43222

Provision for losses on notes receivable net 21549 17577 2010
Interest expense 324160 324118 313038

Equity in losses of unconsolidated real estate partnerships 12025 4601 3347
Impairment losses related to unconsolidated real estate partnerships 322 2661
Gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other 22494 99864 24470

Loss before income taxes and discontinued operations 215708 171080 65904
Income tax benefit 18671 53202 19795

Loss from continuing operations 197037 117878 46109
Income from discontinued operations net 152237 744880 171615

Net loss income 44800 627002 125506

Noncontrolling interests

Net income attributable to noncontroffing interests in consolidated real estate

partnerships 22541 155727 92165
Net income attributable to preferred noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating

Partnership 6288 7646 7128
Net loss income attributable to common noncontrolling interests in Aimco

Operating Partnership 9355 51622 3698

Total noncontrolling interests 19474 214995 95595

Net loss income attributable to Aimco 64274 412007 29911

Net income attributable to Aimco preferred stockholders 50566 53708 66016
Net income attributable to participating securities 6985 4481

Net loss income attributable to Aimco common stockholders 114840 351314 40586

Earnings loss per common share basic and diluted

Loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders 1.75 2.10 1.41

Income from discontinued operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders 0.75 6.06 0.98

Net loss income attributable to Aimco common stockholders 1.00 3.96 0.43

Weighted average common shares outstanding basic and diluted 114301 88690 95107

Dividends declared per common share 0.40 7.48 4.31

See notes to consolidated fmancial statements
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APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands

Accumulated Notes Due

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Additional Other on Common DistrIbutions In Total

Shares Shares Paid-In ComprehensIve Stock Excess of Atasco Noncontrolling Total

Amount Issued Amount Capital Loss Purchases Earnings Equity Interests Equity

Balances at December 31 2006 26845 823500 96820 68 $3095564 134 4714 $l575292 $2339892 310289 $2650181

Redemption of Preferred Stock and preferred

partnership units 1905 100000 635 2635 102000 102000
Cumulative effect of

change in accounting principle

adoption of FIN 48 764 764 81 845

Redemption of Aimco Operating Partnership units for

Common Stock 471 27848 2783 27810 43

Repurchases of Common Stock and common

partnership units 7456 75 325747 325822 2181 328003

Repayment of notes receivable from officers 1659 1659 1659

Officer and employee stock awards and purchases

net 313 2555 2386 172 172

Stock options exercised 1403 14 53705 53719 53719

Amortization of stock option and restricted stock

compensation cost 19224 19224 19224

Issuance of Aimco Operating Partnership units 2998 2998

Contributions from noncontrolling interests 203552 203552

Adjustment to noncontrolling interests from VMS
transactions Note 62820 62820

Adjustment to noncontrolling interests from

consolidation of entities 91219 91219

Reveroal of excess income tax benefits related to

stock-based compensation and other 751 751 751

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income 550 550 365 185
Net income 29911 29911 88467 118378

Common dividends and distributions 406121 406121 252887 659008
Preferred Stock dividends 64817 64817 64817

Balances at December 31 2007 24940 723500 91551 915 2873033 684 5441 2019718 1571605 476751 2048356

Repurchase of Preferred Stock 27000 678 1482 24840 24840

Redemption of Aimco Operating Partnership units for

Common Stock 114 4181 4182 4182
Repurchaaes of Common Stock and common

partnership units 13919 139 473393 473532 3192 476724
Repayment of notes receivable from officers 1458 1458 1458

Officer and employee stock awards and purchases

net 106 651 376 1028 1028

Amortization of stock option and restricted stock

compensation cost 17603 17603 17603

Common Stock issued pursuant to Special Dividend 22780 228 487249 487477 487477

Contributions from
noncontrolling interests 6854 6854

Adjustment to noncontrolling interests from

consolidation of entities 14969 14969

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income 1565 1565 190 1375
Net income 412007 412007 207349 619356

Common dividends and distributions 674185 674185 318014 992199
Preferred Stock dividends 55214 55214 55214

Balances at December 312008 24940 696500 100632 1006 2910002 2249 3607 2335628 1266024 380725 1646749

Repurchase of Preferred Stock 6000 151 1800 4049 4049
Reclassification of

preferred stock to temporary

equity 30000 30000 30000
Redemption or Conversion of Aimco Operating

Partnership units for Common Stock 527 7080 7085 7085
Repurchases

of Common Stock and common

partnership units 980 980
Repayment of notes receivable from officers 763 763 763

Common Stock issued
pursuant to special

dividends 15548 156 148590 148746 148746

Officer and employee stock awards and

purchases net 227 1476 1452 26 26
Amortizationof stock option and restricted stock

compensation coot 8007 8007 8007

Expense for dividends on forfeited shares and other OP
Unitdistributions 311 2917 3228 990 2238

Contributions from
noncontrolling interests 5535 5535

Adjustment to noncontrotling interests from

consolidation of entities 1151 1151
Change in accumulated other comprehensive income 1111 1111 297 1408

Net income 64274 64274 13186 51088
Common dividends and distributions 46202 46202 94552 140754
Preferred Stock dividends 50695 50695 50695

Balances at December 31 2009 24940 660500 116480 $1165 $3072665 1138 1392 $2492082 $1239718 294985 $1534703

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss income 44800 627002 125506

Adjustments to reconcile net loss income to net cash provided by

operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 444413 392999 347491

Equity in losses of unconsolidated real estate partnerships 12025 4601 3347
Provision for impairment losses on real estate development assets 91138
Provision for operating real estate impairment losses 2329 1080
Gain on dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other 22494 99864 24470
Income tax benefit 18671 53202 19795
Stock-based compensation expense 6666 13833 14921
Amortization of deferred loan costs and other 10845 9950 7916
Disthbutions of earnings from unconsolidated entities 4893 14619 4239
Discontinued operations

Depreciation and amortization 51155 122549 152446
Gain on disposition of real estate 221793 800335 117627
Other adjustments to income from discontinued operations 53975 67214 24063

Changes in operating assets and operating liabilities

Accounts receivable 27067 4848 7453
Other assets 2440 57155 9751
Accounts payable accrued liabilities and other 74238 12139 14249

Total adjustments 278612 186634 357436

Net cash provided by operating activities 233812 440368 482942

CASH FLOWS FROM iNVESTiNG ACTIVITIES
Purchases of real estate 112655 201434

Capital expenditures 300344 665233 689719
Proceeds from dispositions of real estate 875931 2060344 431863

Change in funds held in escrow from tax-free exchanges 345 25863
Proceeds from sale of interests and distributions from real estate

partnerships 25067 94277 198998
Purchases of partnership interests and other assets 6842 28121 86204
Originations of notes receivable 5778 6911 10812
Proceeds from repayment of notes receivable 5264 8929 14370
Other investing activities 36956 6106 45476

Net cash provided by used in investing activities 630254 1344869 271599

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTiVITIES
Proceeds from property loans 772443 949549 1552048

Principal repayments on property loans 1076318 1291543 850484
Proceeds from tax-exempt bond financing 15727 50100 82350

Principal repayments on tax-exempt bond financing 157862 217361 70029
Payments on borrowings under term loans 310000 75000 75000
Net repayments on revolving credit facility 140000
Proceeds from payments on other borrowings 40085 21367 8468
Repurchases and redemptions of preferred stock 4200 24840 102000

Repurchases of Class Common Stock 502296 307382
Proceeds from Class Common Stock option exercises 481 53719

Payment of Class Common Stock dividends 95335 212286 230806

Payment of preferred stock dividends 52215 55215 67100
Payment of distributions to noncontrolling interests 120361 330582 198090
Other financing activities 14276 8396 19464

Net cash used in fmancing activities 1082482 1696022 230706
NET DECREASE INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 218416 89215 19363
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 299676 210461 229824

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 81260 299676 210461

See notes to consolidated fmancial statements
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APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

SUPPLEMENTAl CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid 348341 434645 $452324

Cash paid for income taxes 4560 13780 2994

Non-cash transactions associated with the acquisition of real estate and interests

in unconsolidated real estate partnerships

Secured debt assumed in connection with purchase of real estate 16000

Issuance of OP Units for interests in unconsolidated real estate partnerships

and acquisitions of real estate 2998

Non-cash transactions associated with the disposition of real estate

Secured debt assumed in connection with the disposition of real estate 314265 157394 27929

Issuance of notes receivable connection with the disposition of real estate 3605 10372

Non-cash transactions associated with consolidation of real estate partnerships

Real estate net 6058 25830 56877

Investments in and notes receivable primarily from affiliated entities 4326 4497 84545

Restricted cash and other assets 1682 5483 8545

Secured debt 2031 22036 41296

Accounts payable accrued and other liabilities 6769 14020 48602

Other non-cash transactions

Redemption of common OP Units for Class Common Stock 7085 4182 27810

Conversion of preferred OP Units for Class Common Stock 43

Cancellation origination of notes receivable from officers for Class

Common Stock purchass net 1452 385 2386

Common stock issued pursuant to special dividends Note 11 148746 487477

See notes to consolidated fmancial statements
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APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2009

NOTE Organization

Apartment Investment and Management Company or Aimco is Maryland corporation incorporated on

January 10 1994 We are self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust or RE1T engaged in the

acquisition ownership management and redevelopment of apartment properties As of December 31 2009 we

owned or managed real estate portfolio of 870 apartment properties containing 135654 apartment units located in

44 states the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico We are one of the largest owners and operators of apartment

properties the Umted States

As of December 31 2009 we

owned an equity interest in and consolidated 95202 units in 426 properties which we refer to as

consolidated properties of which 93 098 umts were also managed by us

owned an equity interest in and did not consolidate 8478 units in 77 properties which we refer to as

unconsolidated properties of which 3594 units were also managed by us and

provided services for or managed 31974 units in 367 properties primarily pursuant to long-term agreements

including 29879 units in 345 properties for which we provide asset management services only and not also

property management services In certain cases we may indirectly own generally less than one percent of

the operations of such properties through partnership syndication or other fund

Through our wholly-owned subsidiaries AIMCO-GP Inc and ATMCO-LP Trust we own majority of the

ownership interests in AIIvICO Properties L.P which we refer to as the Aimco Operating Partnership As of

December 31 2009 we held an interest of approximately 93% in the common partnership units and equivalents of

the Aimco Operating Partnership We conduct substantially all of our business and own substantially all of our

assets through the Aimco Operating Partnership Interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership that are held by

limited partners other than Aimco are referred to as OP Units OP Units include common OP Units partnership

preferred units or preferred OP Units and high performance partnership units or High Performance Units The

Aimco Operating Partnerships income is allocated to holders of common OP Units based on the weighted average

number of common OP Units outstanding during the period The Ainico Operating Partnership records the issuance

of common OP Units and the assets acquired in purchase transactions based on the market price of Aimco Class

Common Stock which we refer to as Common Stock at the date of closing of the transaction The holders of the

common OP Units and Class High Performance Units receive distributions prorated from the date of issuance in

an amount equivalent to the dividends paid to holders of Common Stock Holders of common OP Units may redeem

such units for cash or at the Aimco Operating Partnerships option Common Stock During 2009 2008 and 2007

the weighted average ownership interest in the Aimco Operating Partnership held by the common OP Unit holders

was approximately 7% 10% and 9% respectively Preferred OP Units entitle the holders thereof to preference

with respect to distributions or upon liquidation At December 31 2009 116479791 shares of our Common Stock

were outstanding and the Aimco Operating Partnership had 8374233 common OP Units and equivalents

outstanding for combined total of 124854024 shares of Common Stock and OP Units outstanding excluding

preferred OP Units

Except as the context otherwise requires we our us and the Company refer to Aimco the Aimco

Operating Partnership and their consolidated entities collectively

NOTE Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Aimco the Aimco Operating

Partnership and their consolidated entities We consolidate all variable interest entities for which we are the

primary beneficiary Generally we consolidate real estate partnerships and other entities that are not variable
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interest entities when we own directly or indirectly majority voting interest in the entity or are otherwise able to

control the entity All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation

Interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership that are held by limited partners
other than Aimco are reflected in

the accompanying balance sheets as noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnership Interests in part

nerships consolidated into the Aimco Operating Partnership that are held by third parties are reflected in the

accompanying balance sheets as noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships The assets of

consolidated real estate partnerships owned or controlled by us generally are not available to pay creditors of Aimco

or the Aimco Operating Partnership

As used herein and except where the context otherwise requires partnership refers to limited partnership

or limited liability company and partner refers to partner limited partnership or member limited

liability company

Variable Interest Entities

We consolidate all variable interest entities for which we are the primary beneficiary Generally variable

interest entity or VIE is an entity with one or more of the following characteristics the total equity investment at

nsk is not sufficient to permit
the entity to fmance its activities without additional subordmated fmancial support

as group the holders of the equity mvestment at nsk lack the ability to make decisions about an entitys

activities through votmg or similarnghts ii the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity or ni the

nght to receive the expected residual returns of the entity or the equity mvestors have votmg nghts that are not

proportional to their economic interests and substantially all of the entitys activities either mvolve or are conducted

on behalf of an mvestor that has disproportionately few votmg nghts The primary beneficiary generally is the

entity that will receive majority of the \IEs expected losses receive majority of the ViEs expected residual

returns or both

In determining whether we are the primary beneficiary of VIE we consider qualitative and quantitative

factors including but not limited to the amount and characteristics of our investment the obligation or likelihood

for us or other investors to provide fmancial support our and the other investors ability to control or significantly

mfluence key decisions for the VIE and the similanty with and significance to the busmess activities of us and the

other investors Sigmficant judgments related to these determinations mclude estimates about the current and future

fair values and performance of real estate held by these VIEs and general market conditions

As of December 31 2009 we were the primary beneficiary of and therefore consolidated 90 VIEs which

owned 67 apartment properties with 9652 units Real estate with carrying amount of $769.4 million collateralized

$474.3 million of debt of those VIEs The creditors of the consolidated VIEs do not have recourse to our general

credit As of December 31 2009 we also held variable interests in 120 VIEs for which we were not the primary

beneficiary Those \IEs consist primarily of partnerships that are engaged directly or indirectly in the ownership

and management of 172 apartment properties with 566 units We are mvolved with those \TIEs as an equity holder

lender management agent or through other contractual relationships At December 31 2009 our maximum

exposure to loss as result of our mvolvement with unconsolidated VIEs is limited to our recorded investments in

and receivables from those VIEs totaling $107.5 million and our contractual obligation to advance funds to certain

VIEs totaling $4.6 miffion We may be subject to additional losses to the extent ofany fmancial support that we

voluntarily provide in the future Additionally the provision of fmancial support in the future may require us to

consolidate VIE

In December 2009 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2009-17 Improvements to Fmanczal

Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities or ASU 2009-17 which is effective for fiscal

years beginning after November 15 2009 ASU 2009-17 which modifies the guidance in FASB ASC Topic 810

introduces more qualitative approach to evaluating VIEs for consolidation and requires company to perform an

analysis to determine whether its variable interests give it controlling fmancial interest in VIE This analysis

identifies the primary beneficiary of VIE as the entity that has the power to direct the activities of the VIE that

most significantly impact the VIEs economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to

receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE In determining whether it has the power to direct the

activities of the VIE that most significantly affect the VIEs performance ASU 2009-17 requires company to
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assess whether it has an implicit financial
responsibility to ensure that VIE operates as designed requires

continuous reassessment of primary beneficiary status rather than periodic event-driven assessments as previously

required and incorporates expanded disclosure requirements

Our adoption of ASU 2009-17 during 2010 may result in changes in our conclusions regarding whether we are

required to consolidate certain unconsolidated real estate partnerships that are VIEs As of December 31 2009 in

addition to the unconsolidated ViEs discussed above we held insignificant partnership interests in VIEs thatown

approximately 250 properties We hold general and/or limited partner interests generally ranging from less than 1%
to 5% and our recorded investment in these entities is typically limited to accounts receivable from our provision of

property management and asset management services to these partnerships We may be required to consolidate

some of these VIEs if we conclude that we control the activities that are significant to the VIEs economic

performance Additionally we may be required to deconsolidate certain VIEs that we currently consolidate if we
conclude we do not control the activities that are significant to such VIEs economic performance We have not yet

completed our evaluation of ASU 2009-17 and therefore have not determined the effect our adoption of ASU
2009-17 will have on our consolidated financial statements

Acquisition of Real Estate Assets and Related Depreciation and Amortization

We capitahze the purchase pnce and incremental direct costs associated with the acquisition of properties as
the cost of the assets acquired We allocate the cost of acquired properties to tangible assets and identified intangible
assets based on their fair values We determine the fair value of tangible assets such as land building furniture

fixtures and equipment on an as if vacant basis generally using internal valuation techmques that consider

comparable market transactions discounted cash flow techniques replacement costs and other available infor

mation We determine the fair value of identified intangible assets or liabilities which typically relate to in-place
leases using internal valuation techniques that consider the terms of the in-place leases current market data for

comparable leases and our experience in leasing similarproperties The intangible assets or liabilities related to in-

place leases are comprised of

The value of the above- and below market leases rn place An asset or liability is recognized based on the

difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in place leases and our

estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding rn-place leases measured over the period

including estimated lease renewals for below-market leases that the leases are expected to remain in effect

The estimated unamortized portion of avoided leasing commissions and other costs that ordinarily would be
rncurred to acquire the in place leases

The value associated with vacant units during the absorption period estimates of lost rental revenue during
the expected lease-up periods based on current market demand and stabilized occupancy levels

The values of the above and below-market leases are amortized to rental revenue over the expected remaimng
terms of the associated leases Other intangible assets related to place leases are amortized to depreciation and
amortization over the expected remaining terms of the associated leases Amortization is adjusted as necessary to

reflect any early lease terminations that were not anticipated in determining amortization penods

Depreciation for all tangible real estate assets is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives Acquired buildings and improvements are depreciated over composite life of 14 to 52 years based on
the age condition and other physical characteristics of the

property As discussed under Impairment of Long Lived
Assets below we may adjust depreciation of properties that are expected to be disposed of or demolished prior to the
end of their useful lives Furniture fixtures and equipment associated with acquired properties are depreciated over
five years

At December 31 2009 and 2008 deferred income in our consolidated balance sheets includes below-market
lease amounts totaling $31.8 million and $36.2 million respectively which are net of accumulated amortization of
$21.0 million and $16.6 million respectively Additions to below-market leases resulting from acquisitions during
the

year ended December 31 2007 totaled $18.9 million and there were no such additions during the years ended
December 31 2009 or 2008 During the years ended December 31 20092008 and 2007 we included amortization
of below-market leases of $4.4 miffion $4.4 million and $4.6 million respectively in rental and other property
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revenues in our consolidated statements of income During the year ended December 31 2008 we revised the

estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in acquisitions completed in 2007 resulting in

$4.7 million reduction of below-market lease values and corresponding reduction in buildings and improvements

At December 31 2009 our below-market leases had weighted average amortization period of 7.1 years and

estimated aggregate amortization for each of the five succeeding years as follows in millions

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Estimated amortization $3.9 $3.6 $3.2 $2.8 $2.5

Capital Additions and Related Depreciation

We capitalize costs including certain indirect costs incurred in connection with our capital additions

activities including redevelopment and construction projects other tangible property improvements and replace

ments of existing property components Included in these capitalized costs are payroll costs associated with time

spent by site employees in connection with the planning execution and control of all capital additions activities at

the property level We characterize as indirect costs an allocation of certain department costs including payroll at

the area operations and corporate levels that clearly relate to capital additions activities We capitalize interest

property taxes and insurance during periods in which redevelopment and construction projects are in progress We

charge to expense as incurred costs that do not relate to capital expenditure activities including ordinary repairs

maintenance resident turnover costs and general and administrative expenses

We depreciate capitalized costs using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related

component or improvement which is generally five 15 or 30 years All capitalized site payroll and indirect costs are

allocated proportionately based on direct costs among capital projects and depreciated over the estimated useful

lives of such projects

Certain homogeneous items that are purchased in bulk on recurring basis such as carpeting and appliances

are depreciated using group methods that reflect the average estimated useful life of the items in each group Except

in the case of property casualties where the net book value of lost property is written off in the determination of

casualty gains or losses we generally do not recognize any loss in connection with the replacement of an existing

property component because normal replacements are considered in determining the estimated useful lives used in

connection with our composite and group depreciation methods

For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 for continuing and discontinued operations we

capitalized $9.8 million $25.7 million and $30.8 million respectively of interest costs and $40.0 million

$78.1 million and $78.1 million respectively of site payroll and indirect costs respectively

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our real estate and other long-lived assets classified as held for use are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and amortization unless the carrying amounts are not recoverable If events or circumstances indicate

that the carrying amount of property may not be recoverable we make an assessment of its recoverability by

comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted future cash flows excluding interest charges of

the property If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate undiscounted future cash flows we recognize an

impainnent loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the property

In connection with the preparation of our 2008 annual financial statements we assessed the recoverabthty of

our investment our Lincoln Place property located in Vemce California Based upon the declmes land values

in Southern Califorma during 2008 and the expected timing of our redevelopment efforts we determined that the

total carrying amount of the property was no longer probable of full recovery and accordingly during the three

months ended December 31 2008 recognized an impairment loss of $85.4 million $55.6 million net of tax

Similarly we assessed the recoverability of our investment in Pacific Bay Vistas formerly Treetops vacant

property
located in San Bruno California and determined that the carrying amount of the property was no longer

probable of full recovery and accordingly we recognized an impairment loss of $5.7 million for this property

during the three months ended December 31 2008
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In addition to the impairments of Lincoln Place and Pacific Bay Vistas based on periodic tests of recov

erability of long-lived assetsfor theyears ended December 31 2009 and 2007 we recorded real estate impairment

losses of $2.3 million and $1.1 million respectively related to properties classified as held for use For the year

ended December 31 2008 we recorded no similar impairment losses related to properties classified as held for use

We report impairment losses or recoveries related to properties sold or classified as held for sale in

discontinued operations

Our tests of recoverability address real estate assets that do not currently meet all conditions to be classified as

held for sale but are expected to be disposed of prior to the end of their estimated useful lives if an impairment loss

is not required to be recorded the recognition of depreciation is adjusted prospectively as necessary to reduce the

carrying amountof the real estate to its estimated disposition value over the remaining period that the real estate is

expected to be held and used We also may adjust depreciation prospectively to reduce to zero the carrying amount

of buildings that we plan to demolish in connection with redevelopment project These depreciation adjustments

after adjustments for noncontrolling interests decreased net income available to Aimco common stockholders by

$18.3 million $10.7 million and $33.8 million and resulted in decreases in basic and diluted earnings per share of

$0.16 $0.12 and $0.35 for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Cash Equivalents

We classify highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less as cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes capital replacement reserves completion repair reserves bond sinking fund amounts

and tax and insurance escrow accounts held by lenders

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are generally comprised of amounts receivable from residents amounts receivable from

non-affiliated real estate partnerships for which we provide property management and other services and other

miscellaneous receivables from non-affiliated entities We evaluate collectibility of accounts receivable from

residents and establishan allowance after the application of security deposits and other anticipated recoVeries for

accounts greater than 30 days past due for Ourrent residents and all receivables due from former residents Accounts

receivable from residents are stated net of allowances for doubtful accounts of approximately $1.4 million and

$3.3 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

We evaluate collectibility of accounts receivable from non-affiliated entities and establish an allowance for

amounts that are considered to be uncollectible Accounts receivable relating to non-affiliated entities are stated net

of allowances for doubtful accounts of approximately $5.4 million and $5.0 million as of December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts from Affilwtes

Accounts receivable from affiliates are generally comprised of receivables related to property management
and other services provided to unconsolidated real estate partnerships which we have an ownership interest We
evaluate collectibthty of accounts receivable balances from affiliates on penodic basis and establish an allowance

for the amounts deemed to be uncollectible Accounts receivable from affiliates are stated net of allowances for

doubtful accounts of approximately $1 million and $2 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Deferred Costs

We defer lender fees and other direct costs incurred in obtaining new fmancing and amortize the amounts over

the terms of the related loan agreements Amortization of these costs is included in interest expense
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We defer leasing commissions and other direct costs incurred in connection with successful leasing efforts and

amortize the costs over the terms of the related leases Amortization of these costs is included in depreciation and

amortization

Notes Receivable from Unconsolidated Real Estate Partnerships and Non-Affiliates and Related Interest

Income and Provision for Losses

Notes receivable from unconsolidated real estate partnerships consist pnmarily of notes receivable from

partnerships in which we are the general partner but do not consolidate the partnership The ultimate repayment of

these notes and those from non-affiliates is subject to number of variables including the performance and value of

the underlying real estate property
and the claims of unaffiliated mortgage lenders Our notes receivable include

loans extended by us that we carry at the face amount plus accrued interest which we refer to as par value notes

and loans extended by predecessors whose positions we generally acquired at discount which we refer to as

discounted notes

We record interest income on par value notes as earned in accordance with the terms of the related loan

agreements We discontinue the accrual of interest on such notes when the notes are impaired as discussed below or

when there is otherwise significant uncertainty as to the collection of interest We record income on such nonaccrual

loans using the cost recovery method under which we apply cash receipts first to the recorded amount of the loan

thereafter any additional receipts are recognized as income

We recognize interest income on discounted notes receivable based upon whether the amount and tiniing of

collections are both probable and reasonably estimable We consider collections to be probable and reasonably

estimable when the borrower has closed or entered into certain pending transactions which include real estate sales

refinancings foreclosures and rights offerings that provide reliable source of repayment In such instances we

recognize accretion income on prospective basis using the effective interest method over the estimated remaining

term of the loans equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the discounted notes and the estimated

collectible value We record income on all other discounted notes using the cost recovery method

We assess the collectibility of notes receivable on periodic basis which assessment consists primarily of an

evaluation of cash flow projections of the borrower to determine whether estimated cash flows are sufficient to

repay principal and interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the note We recognize impairments on

notes receivable when it is probable that principal
and interest will not be received in accordance with the

contractual terms of the loan The amount of the impairment to be recognized generally is based on the fair value of

the partnership real estate that represents the pnmary source of loan repayment In certain mstances where other

sources of cash flow are available to repay the loan the impairment is measured by discounting the estimated cash

flows at the loans original effective interest rate See Note for further discussion of Notes Receivable

Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Partnerships

We own general and limited partner interests in real estate partnerships that own apartment properties We

generally accótint for investments in real estate partnerships that we do not consolidate under the equity method

Under the equity method our share of the earnings or losses of the entity for the periods being presented
is included

in equity in earnings losses from unconsolidated real estate partnerships except for our share of impainnents and

property disposition gains related to such entities which we report separately in the consolidated statements of

income Certain investments in real estate partnerships that were acquired in business combinations were

determined to have insignificant value at the acquisition date and are accounted for under the cost method

Any distributions received from such partnerships are recognized as income when received

The excess of the cost of the acquired partnership interests over the historical carrying amount of partners

equity or deficit is ascribed generally to the fair values of land and buildings owned by the partnerships We

amortize the excess cost related to the buildings over the estimated useful lives of the buildings Such amortization

is recorded as component of equity in earnings losses of unconsolidated real estate partnerships
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Intangible Assets

At December 31 2009 and 2008 other assets included goodwill associated with our real estate segment of

$71.8 million and $81.9 million respectively We perform an annual impairment test of goodwill that compares the

fair value of
reporting units with their carrying amounts including goodwill We determined that our goodwill was

not impaired in 2009 2008 or 2007

During the yeas ended December 31 2009 we allocated $10.1 million of goodwill related to our real estate

segment to the carrying amounts of the properties sold or classified as held for sale The amounts of goodwill
allocated to these properties were based on the relative fair values of the properties sold or classified as held for sale

and the retained portions of the reporting units to which the goodwill as allocated During 2008 and 2007 we did not

allocate any goodwill to properties sold or classified as held for sale as real estate properties were not considered

businesses under then applicable accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or
GAAP

Other assets also includes intangible assets for purchased management contracts with finite lives that we
amortize on straight-line basis over terms ranging from five to 20 years and intangible assets for in-place leases as
discussed under Acquisition of Real Estate Assets and Related Depreciation and Amortization

Capitalized Software Costs

Purchased software and other costs related to software developed for internal use are capitalized during the

application development stage and are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the

software generally five years We write-off the costs of software development projects when it is no longer probable
that the software will be completed and placed in service For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007
we capitalized software development costs totaling $5.6 million $20.9 million and $11.9 million respectively At
December 31 2009 and 2008 other assets included $29.7 million and $35.7 million of net capitalized software

respectively During the
years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized amortization of capitalized

software of $11 million $100 million and $10 million respectively which is mcluded depreciation and
amortization in our consolidated statements of income

During the year ended December 31 2008 we reassessed our approach to communication technology needs at

our properties which resulted in the discontinuation of an infrastructure project and $5 million write off of

related hardware and capitalized mternal and consulting costs mcluded in other assets The write off which is net of

sales proceeds is included in other expenses net During the year ended December 31 2008 we additionally
recorded $1 niillion write off of certain software and hardware assets that are no longer consistent with our
mformation technology strategy This write-off is included in depreciation and amortization During the year ended
December 31 2007 we abandoned certain internal use software development projects and recorded $42 million

wnte off of the capitalized costs of such projects in depreciation and amortization There were no similarwrite offs

during the
year ended December 31 2009

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Real Estate Partnerships

We report the unaffihiated partners interests in our consolidated real estate partnerships as noncontrohling
interests in consolidated real estate partnerships Noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships

represent the
noncontrolling partners share of the underlying net assets of our consolidated real estate partnerships

Prior to 2009 when these consolidated real estate partnerships made cash distributions to partners in excess of the

carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest we generally recorded charge equal to the amount of such excess

distribution even though there was no economic effect or cost These charges are reported in the consolidated

statements of income for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 within noncontrolling interests in

consolidated real estate partnerships Also prior to 2009 we allocated the noncontrolling partners share of

partnership losses to noncontrolling partners to the extent of the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest We
generally recorded charge when the noncontrolling partners share of partnership losses exceed the carrying
amount of the noncontrolling interest even though there is no economic effect or cost These charges are reported in

the consolidated statements of income within noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships We
did not record charges for distributions or losses in certain limited instances where the noncontrolling partner had
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legal obligation and fmancial capacity to contribute additional capital to the partnership For the years ended

December 31 2008 and 2007 we recorded charges for partnership losses resulting from depreciation of approx

imately $9.0 million and $12.2 million respectively that were not allocated to noncontrolling partners because the

losses exceeded the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships consist pnmanly of equity interests held by

limited partners in consolidated real estate partnerships that have fmite lives The terms of the related partnership

agreements generally require the partnership to be liquidated following the sale of the partnerships real estate As

the general partner in these partnerships we ordinarily control the execution of real estate sales and other events that

could lead to the liquidation redemption or other settlement of noncontrolling interests The aggregate carrying

amount of noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships is approximately $316.2 million at

December 31 2009 The aggregate fair value of these interests varies based on the fair value of the real estate owned

by the partnerships Based on the number of classes of fmite-life noncontrolling interests the number ofproperties

in which there is direct or indirect noncontrolling ownership complexities in determining the allocation of

liquidation proceeds among partners and other factors we believe it is impracticable to determine the total required

payments to the noncontrolling interests in an assumed liquidation at December 31 2009 As result of real estate

depreciation that is recognized in our financial statements and appreciation in the fair value of real estate that is not

recognized in our fmancial statements we believe that the aggregate fair value of our noncontrolling interests

exceeds their aggregate carrying amount As result of our ability to control real estate sales and other events that

require payment of noncontrolling interests and our expectation that proceeds from real estate sales will be

sufficient to hquidate related noncontrollmg interests we anticipate that the eventual liquidation of these non

controlling interests will not have an adverse impact on our fmancial condition

Revenue Recognttwn

Our properties have operating leases with apartment residents with terms generally of 12 months or less We

recognize rental revenue related to these leases net of any concessions on straight-line basis over the term of the

lease We recognize revenues from property management asset management syndication and other services when

the related fees are earned and are realized or rea1iable

Advertising Costs

We generally expense all advertising costs as incurred to property operating expense For the years ended

December 312009 2008 and 2007 for both continuing and discontinued operations total advertising expense was

$25.0 million $36.0 million and $38.0 million respectively

Insurance

We believe that our insurance coverages insure our properties adequately against the risk of loss attributable to

fire earthquake hurricane tornado flood and other perils In addition we have insurance coverage for substantial

portions of our property workers compensation health and general liability exposures Losses are accrued based

upon our estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured losses incurred using certain actuarial assumptions

followed in the insurance industry and based on our experience

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize all stock-based employee compensation including grants of employee stock options
in the

consolidated financial statements based on the grant date fair value and recognize compensation cost which is net

of estimates for expected forfeitures ratably over the awards requisite service period See Note 12 for further

discussion of our stock-based compensation

Tax Credit Arrangements

We sponsor
certain partnerships that own and operate apartment properties that qualify for tax credits under

Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended which we refer to as the Code and for the

U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development or HUD subsidized rents under HUDs Section program
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These partnerships acquire develop and operate qualifying affordable housing properties and are structured to

provide for the pass-through of tax credits and deductions to their partners The tax credits are generally realized

ratably over the first ten years of the tax credit arrangement and are subject to the
partnerships compliance with

applicable laws and regulations for period of 15 years Typically we are the general partner with legal ownership

interest of one percent or less We market limited partner interests of at least 99
percent to unaffiliated institutional

investors which we refer to as tax credit investors or investors and receive syndication fee from each investor

upon such investors admission to the partnership At inception each investor
agrees to fund capital contributions to

the partnerships We agree to perform various services to the partnerships in exchange for fees over the expected

duration of the tax credit service period The related partnership agreements generally require adjustment of each

tax credit investors required capital contributions if actual tax benefits to such investor differ from projected

amounts

We have determined that the partnerships in these arrangements are variable interest entities and where we are

general partner we are generally the primary beneficiary that is required to consolidate the partnerships When the

contractual arrangements obligate us to deliver tax benefits to the investors and entitle us through fee arrangements

to receive substantially all available cash flow from the partnerships we account for these partnerships as wholly

owned subsidiaries Capital contributions received by the partnerships from tax credit investors represent in

substance consideration .that we receive in exchange for our obligation to deliver tax credits and other tax benefits

to the investors and the receipts are recognized as revenue in our consolidated fmancial statements when our

obligation to the investors is relieved upon delivery of the expected tax benefits

In summary our accounting treatment recognizes the income or loss generated by the underlying real estate

based on our economic interest in the partnerships Proceeds received in exchange for the transfer of the tax credits

are recognized as revenue proportionately as the tax benefits are delivered to the tax credit investors and our

obligation is relieved Syndication fees and related costs are recognized in income upon completion of the

syndication effort We recognize syndication fees in amounts determined based on market rate analysis of fees for

comparable services which generally fell within
range of 10% to 15% of investor contributions during the periods

presented Other direct and incremental costs incurred in structuring these arrangements are deferred and amortized

over the expected duration of the arrangement in proportion to the recognition of related income Investor

contributions in excess of recognized revenue are reported as deferred income in our consolidated balance sheets

During the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 we recognized syndication fee income of $3.4 million

and $13.8 million respectively We recognized no syndication fee income during the year ended December 31
2009 During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized revenue associated with the

delivery of tax benefits of $36.6 million $29.4 million and $24.0 million respectively At December 31 2009 and

2008 $148.1 million and $159.6 million respectively of investor contributions in excess of the recognized revenue

were included in deferred income in our consolidated balance sheets

Discontinued Operations

We classify certain properties and related assets and liabilities as held for sale when they meet certain criteria

The operating results of such properties as well as those properties sold during the periods presented are included in

discontinued operations in both current periods and all comparable periods presented Depreciation is not recorded

on properties once they have been classified as held for sale however depreciation expense recorded prior to

classification as held for sale is included in discontinued operations The net gain on sale and any impairment losses

are presented in discontinued operations when recognized See Note 13 for additional information regarding

discontinued operations

Derivative Financial Instruments

We primarily use long-term fixed-rate and self-amortizing non-recourse debt to avoid among other things

risk related to fluctuating interest rates For our variable rate debt we are sometimes required by our lenders to limit

our exposure to interest rate fluctuations by entering into interest rate swap or cap agreements The interest rate

swap agreements moderate our exposure to interest rate risk by effectively converting the interest on variable rate

debt to fixed rate The interest rate cap agreements effectively limit our exposure to interest rate risk by providing
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ceiling on the underlying variable interest rate The fair values of the interest rate swaps are reflected as assets or

liabilities in the balance sheet and periodic changes in fair value are included in interest expense or equity as

appropriate These interest rate caps are not material to our financial position or results of operations

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we had interest rate swaps with aggregate notional amounts of

$52.3 million and $27.2 million and recorded fair values of $1.6 million and $2.6 million respectively reflected

in accrued liabilities and other in our consolidated balance sheets At December 31 2009 these interest rate swaps

had weighted average term of 11.1 years We have designated these interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges and

recognize any changes in their fair value as an adjustment of accumulated other comprehensive income within

equity to the extent of their effectiveness For the
year

ended December 31 2009 we recognized changes in fair

value of $1.0 million of which $1.4 million resulted in an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss

within consolidated equity For the year
ended December 31 2008 we recognized changes in fair value of

$2.2 million of which $2.1 million resulted in an adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive loss within

consolidated equity We recognized $0.4 million and less than $0.1 million of ineffectiveness as an adjustment of

interest expense during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively and we recognized no

ineffectiveness during the year ended December 31 2007 Our consolidated comprehensive loss for the year ended

December 31 2009 totaled $43.4 miffion and our comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 2008

and 2007 totaled $624.9 million and $124.8 million respectively before the effects of noncontrolling interests If

the forward rates at December 31 2009 remain constant we estimate that during the next twelve months we would

reclassify into earnings approximately $1.5 million of the unrealized losses in accumulated other comprehensive

income

We have entered mto total rate of return swaps on various fixed rate secured tax exempt bonds payable and

fixed rate notes payable to convert these borrowings from fixed rate to variable rate and provide an efficient

financing product to lower our cost of borrowmg In exchange for our receipt of fixed rate generally equal to the

underlying borrowings interest rate the total rate of return swaps require that we pay variable rate equivalent to

the Secunties Industry and Fmancial Markets Association Mumcipal Swap Index or SIFIVIA rate for tax-exempt

bonds payable and the 30-day LIBOR rate for notes payable plus risk spread These swaps generally have

second or third hen on the property collateralized by the related borrowings and the obligations under certain of

these swaps are cross collateralized with certain of the other swaps with particular counterparty
The underlying

borrowings are generally callable at our option with no prepayment penalty with 30 days advance notice and the

swaps generally have term of less than five years The total rate of return swaps have contractually defined

termination value generally equal to the difference between the fair value and the counterpartys purchased
value of

the underlying borrowings which may require payment by us or to us for such difference Accordingly we believe

fluctuations in the fair value of the borrowings from the inception of the hedging relationship generally will be offset

by corresponding fluctuation in the fair value of the total rate of return swaps

We designate total rate of return swaps as hedges of the risk of overall changes in the fair value of the

underlying borrowings At each reporting period we estimate the fair value of these borrowings and the total rate of

return swaps and recognize any changes therein as an adjustment of interest expense We evaluate the effectiveness

of these fair value hedges at the end of each reporting period and recognize an adjustment of interest expense as

result of any ineffectiveness

Borrowings payable subject to total rate of return swaps with aggregate outstanding principal balances of

$352.7 miffion and $421.7 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively are reflected as variable rate

borrowings in Note Due to changes in the estimated fair values of these debt instruments and the corresponding

total rate of return swaps we increased property loans payable by $5.2 million for the year
ended December 31

2009 and reduced property loans payable by $20.1 million and $9.4 million for the years ended December 31 2008

and 2007 respectively with offsetting adjustments to accrued liabilities resulting in no net effect on net income

Refer to Fair Value Measurements for further discussion of fair value measurements related to these arrangements

During 2009 2008 and 2007 we determined these hedges were fully effective and accordingly we made no

adjustments to interest expense for ineffectiveness

At December 31 2009 the weighted average fixed receive rate under the total return swaps was6.8% and the

weighted average variable pay rate was 1.0% based on the applicable SIFMA and 30-day LIBOR rates effective as
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of that date Further information related to our total return swaps as of December 31 2009 is as follows dollars in

millions

Weighted Average Swap
Weighted Swap Variable Pay Rate at

Debt Year of Debt Average Debt Swap Notional Maturity December 31
Principal Maturity Interest Rate Amount Date 2009

45.2 2012 7.5% 45.2 2012 1.6%

24.0 2015 6.9% 24.0 2012 1.0%

14.2 2018 7.3% 14.2 2012 1.0%

42.8 2025 7.0% 42.8 2012 1.0%

93.0 2031 7.4% 93.0 2012 1.0%

108.7 2036 6.2% 109.1 2012 0.7%

12.3 2038 5.5% 12.3 2012 0.9%

12.5 2048 6.5% 12.5 2012 0.9%

$352.7 $353.1

Fair Value Measurements

Beginning in 2008 we applied the FASBs revised accounting provisions related to fair value measurements
which are codified in FASB ASC Topic 820 These revised provisions define fair value as the price that would be

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the

measurement date establish hierarchy that prioritizes the information used in
developing fair value estimates and

require disclosure of fair value measurements by level within the fair value hierarchy The hierarchy gives the

highest priority to quoted prices in active markets Level measurements and the lowest priority to unobservable

data Level measurements such as the reporting entitys own data We adopted the revised fair value

measurement provisions that apply to recumng and nonrecurnng fair value measurements of fmancial assets

and liabilities effective January 2008 and the provisions that apply to the remaimng fair value measurements
effective January 2009 and at those times determined no transition adjustments were required

The valuation hierarchy is based upon the
transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the

measurement date and includes three levels defmed as follows

Level Unadjusted quoted prices for identical and unrestricted assets or liabilities in

active markets

Level Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and inputs that

are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly for

substantially the full term of the financial instrument

Level Unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement

financial instruments categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement

Following are descriptions of the valuation methodologies used for our sigmficant assets or habthties

measured at fair value on recurring or nonrecurring basis Although some of the valuation methodologies use

observable market inputs in limited instances the majority of inputs we use are unobservable and are therefore

classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy

Provisions for Real Estate Impairment Losses

If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of property may not be recoverable we
make an assessment of its recoverability by comparing the carrying amount to our estimate of the undiscounted

future cash flows excluding interest charges of the property If the carrying amount exceeds the aggregate
undiscounted future cash flows we recognize an impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the
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estimated fair value of the property for properties classified as held for use and estimated fair value of the

property less estimated selling costs for properties classified as held for sale

We estimate the fair value of real estate using income and market valuation techniques using information

such as broker estimates purchase prices for recent transactions on comparable assets and net operating

income capitalization analyses using observable and unobservable inputs such as capitalization rates asset

quality grading geographic location analysis and local supply and demand observations For certain

properties classified as held for sale we may also recognize the impairment loss based on the contract sale

price which we believe is representative of fair value less estimated selling costs

Notes Receivable

We assess the collectibility of notes receivable on periodic basis which assessment consists primarily of

an evaluation of cash flow projections of the borrower to determine whether estimated cash flows are sufficient

to repay principal and interest in accordance with the contractual terms of the note We recognize impairments

on notes receivable when it is probable that principal and interest will not be received in accordance with the

contractual terms of the loan The amount of the impainnent to be recognized generally is based on the fair

value of the real estate which represents the primary source of loan repayment The fair value of real estate is

estimated through income and market valuation approaches using information such as broker estimates

purchase prices for recent transactions on comparable assets and net operating income capitalization analyses

using observable and unobservable inputs such as capitalization rates asset quality grading geographic

location analysis and local supply and demand observations

Interest Rate Swaps

We estimate the fair value of interest rate swaps using an income approach with primarily observable

inputs including information regarding the hedged variable cash flows and forward yield curves relating to the

variable interest rates on which the hedged cash flows are based

Total Rate of Return Swaps

Our total rate of return swaps have contractually-defined termination values generally equal to the

difference between the fair value and the counterpartys purchased value of the underlying borrowings Upon

termination we are required to pay the counterparty the difference if the fair value is less than the purchased

value and the counterparty is required to pay us the difference if the fair value is greater than the purchased

value The underlying borrowings are generally callable at our option at face value prior to maturity and with

no prepayment penalty Due to our control of the call features in the underlying borrowings we believe the

inherent value of any differential between the fixed and variable cash payments due under the swaps would be

significantly discounted by market participant willing to purchase or assume any rights and obligations under

these contracts

The swaps are generally cross collateralized with other swap contracts with the same counterparty and do

not allow transfer or assignment thus there is no alternate or secondary market for these instruments

Accordingly our assumptions about the fair value that willing market participant would assign in valuing

these instruments are based on hypothetical market in which the highest and best use of these contracts is in-

use in combination with the related borrowings similar to how we use the contracts Based on these

assumptions we believe the termination value or exit value of the swaps approximates the fair value that

would be assigned by willing market participant We calculate the termination value using market approach

by reference to estimates of the fair value of the underlying borrowings which are discussed below and an

evaluation of potential changes in the credit quality of the counterparties to these arrangements We compare

our estimates of the fair value of the swaps and related borrowings to the valuations provided by the

counterparties on quarterly basis

Our method for calculating fair value of the swaps generally results in changes in fair value equal to the

changes in fair value of the related borrowings Accordingly believe these instruments are highly effective

in offsetting the changes in fair value of the borrowings during the hedging period
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Changes in Fair Value of Borrowings Subject to Total Rate of Return Swaps

We recognize changes in the fair value of certain borrowings subject to total rate of return swaps which

we have designated as fair value hedges

We estimate the fair value of debt instruments using an income and market approach including

comparison of the contractual terms to observable and unobservable inputs such as market interest rate risk

spreads collateral quality and loan-to-value ratios on similarly encumbered assets within our portfolio These

borrowings are collateralized and non-recourse to us therefore we believe changes in our credit rating will not

materially affect market participants estimate of the borrowings fair value

The methods described above may produce fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable

value or reflective of future fair values Furthermore although we believe our valuation methods are appropriate and

consistent with other market participants the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair

value of certain assets and liabilities could result in different estimate of fair value at the reporting date

The table below presents amounts at December 31 20092008 and 2007 and the changes in fair value between

such dates for significant items measured in our consolidated balance sheets at fair value in thousands Certain of

these fair value measurements are based on significant unobservable inputs classified within Level of the

valuation hierarchy When determination is made to classify fair value measurement within Level of the

valuation hierarchy the determination is based upon the significance of the unobservable factors to the overall fair

value measurement However Level fair value measurements typically include in addition to the unobservable or

Level components observable components that can be validated to observable external sources accordingly the

changes in fair value in the table below are due in part to observable factors that are part of the valuation

methodology

Level Level

Changes in Fair

Value of Debt

Interest Instruments Subject

Rate Total rate of to Total Rate of

Swaps return swaps Return Swaps Total

Fair value at December 31 2007 371 9420 9420 371

Unrealized gains losses included in

earnings12 47 20075 20075 47
Realized gains losses included in earnings

Unrualized gains losses included in equity 2139 _____ ______ 2139

Fair value at December 31 2008 $2 557 $29 495 $29495 $2 557

Unrealized gains losses included in

earnings12 447 5188 5188 447
Realized gains losses included in earnings

Unrealized
gains losses included in equity 408 _____ 408

Fair value at December 31 2009 $1 596 $24307 $24307 $1 596

Unrealized gains losses relate to penodic revaluations of fair value and have not resulted from the settlement

of swap position

Included in interest expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income

In addition to the amounts in the table above during the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we

recognized $56.9 million $118.6 million and $6.5 million respectively of provisions for real estate impainnent

losses including amounts in discontinued operations to reduce the carrying amounts of certain real estate

properties to their estimated fair value or fair value less estimated costs to sell and provisions for losses on notes

receivable of $21.5 million $17.6 million and $2.0 million respectively based on our estimates of the fair value of

the real estate properties that represent
the primary source of repayment Based on the significance of the
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unobservable inputs used in our methods for estimating the fair values for these amounts we classify these fair value

measurements within Level of the valuation hierarchy

Disclosures Regarding Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We believe that the aggregate fair value of our cash and cash equivalents receivables payables and short-term

secured debt approximates their aggregate carrymg value at December 31 2009 due to their relatively short-term

nature and high probability of realization We estimate fair value for our notes receivable and debt instruments using

present value techniques that mclude income and market valuation approaches using
observable inputs

such as

market rates for debt with the same or similar terms and unobservable inputs such as collateral quality and

loan-to-value ratios on similarly encumbered assets Present value calculations vary depending on the assumptions

used including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows In many cases the fair value estimates may not

be realizable in immediate settlement of the instruments The estimated aggregate
fair value of our notes receivable

was approximately $126.1 million and $161.6 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively See Note for

further information on notes receivable The estimated aggregate
fair value of our consolidated debt including

amounts reported in liabilities related to assets held for sale was approximately $5.7 billion and $6.7 billion at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The combined carrying amount of our consolidated debt including

amounts reported in liabilities related to assets held for sale was approximately $5.7 billion and $6.8 billion at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively See Note and Note for further details on our consolidated debt Refer

to Derivative Financial Instruments for further discussion regarding certain of our fixed rate debt that is subject to

total rate of return swap instruments

Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Code commencing with our taxable year ended December 31

1994 and intend to contmue to operate in such manner Our current and continumg qualification as REIT

depends on our abthty to meet the various requirements imposed by the Code which are related to organizational

structure distribution levels diversity of stock ownership and certain restrictions with regard to owned assets and

categories of income If we qualify
for taxation as REIT we will generally not be subject to Umted States Federal

corporate income tax on our taxable income that is currently distributed to stockholders This treatment substan

tially elumnates the double taxation at the corporate and stockholder levels that generally results from an

investment in corporation

Even if we qualify as REIT we may be subject to United States Federal income and excise taxes in various

situations such as on our undistributed income We also will be required to pay 100% tax on any net income on

non-arms length transactions between us and TRS described below and on any net income from sales of property

that was property held for sale to customers in the ordinary course We and our stockholders may be subject to state

or local taxation in various state or local jurisdictions including those in which we transact business or our

stockholders reside In addition we could also be subject to the alternative minimum tax or AMT on our items of

tax preference The state and local tax laws may not conform to the Umted States Federal income tax treatment Any

taxes imposed on us reduce our operating cash flow and net income

Certain of our operations or portion thereof including property management asset management and risk are

conducted through taxable REIT subsidiaries which are subsidiaries of the Aimco Operating Partnership and each

of which we refer to as TRS ATRS is C-corporation that has not electedREIT status and as such is subject to

United States Federal corporate income tax We use TRS entities to facilitate our ability to offercertain services and

activities to our residents as these services and activities generally cannot be offered directly bythe REIT We also

use TRS entities to hold investments in certain properties

For our TRS entities deferred income taxes result from temporary
differences between the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for Federal income tax purposes and

are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse We

reduce deferred tax assets by recording valuation allowance when we determine based on available evidence that it

is more likely than not that the assets will not be realized We recognize the tax consequences associated with
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intercompany transfers between the REIT and TRS entities when the related assets are sold to third parties impaired
or otherwise disposed of for fmancial reporting purposes

In March 2008 we were notified by the Internal Revenue Service that it intended to examine the 2006 Federal

tax return for the Aimco Operating Partnership During June 2008 the IRS issued A1MCO-GP Inc the general and
tax matters partner of the Aimco Operating Partnership summary report including the IRSs proposed adjust
ments to the Aimco Operating Partnerships 2006 Federal tax return In addition in May 2009 we were notified by
the IRS that it intended to examine the 2007 Federal tax return for the Aimco

Operating Partnership Dunng
November 2009 the IRS issued AIMCO GP Inc summary report mcludmg the IRS proposed adjustments to the
Annco Operating Partnerships 2007 Federal tax return We do not expect the 2006 or 2007 proposed adjustments to

have any matenal effect on our unrecogmzed tax benefits fmancial condition or results of operations

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially could subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist

principally of notes receivable and total rate of return swaps As discussed in Note significant portion of our
notes receivable at December 31 2009 are collateralized by properties in the West Harlem area of New York City
There are no other significant concentrations of credit risk with respect to our notes receivable due to the large
number of partnerships that are borrowers under the notes and the geographic diversity of the properties that

collateralize the notes

At December 31 2009 we had total rate of return swap positions with two frnancial institutions totaling
$353.1 million The swap positions with one counterparty are comprised of $340.9 million of fixed rate debt

effectively converted to variable rates using total rate of return swaps including $295.7 million of
tax-exempt bonds

indexed to SFMA and $45.2 million of taxable second mortgage notes indexed to LIBOR Additionally the swap
agreements with this counterparty provide for collateral calls to maintain specified loan-to-value ratios As of
December 31 2009 we were not required to provide cash collateral pursuant to the total rate of return swaps We
have one swap position with another

counterparty that is compnsed of $12 rrullion of fixed rate tax exempt bonds
indexed to SWMA We penodically evaluate counterparty credit nsk associated with these arrangements At the
current time we have concluded we do not have matenal

exposure In the event either
counterparty were to default

under these
arrangements loss of the net mterest benefit we generally receive under these arrangements which is

equal to the difference between the fixed rate we receive and the variable rate we pay may adversely impact our
results of operations and operating cash flows In the event the values of the real estate properties serving as

collateral under these agreements decline we may be required to provide additional collateral pursuant to the swap
agreements which may adversely affect our cash flows

FASB Accounting Standards Codflcation

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Codfication and the

Hierarchy of Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles replacement of FASB Statement No 162 or SFAS 168 which is effective for financial
statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15 2009 Upon the effective date of
SFAS 168 the FASB Accounting Standards Codification or the FASB ASC became the single source of
authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities Rules and interpretive
releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC under authority of federal securities laws are also
sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants The FASB ASC superseded all

then-existing non-SEC
accounting and reporting standards and all other non-grandfathered non-SEC accounting literature not included
in the FASB ASC is now non-authoritative Subsequent to the effective date of SFAS 168 the FASB will issue

Accounting Standards Updates that serve to update the FASB ASC

Business Combinations

We adopted the provisions of FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 141R Business
Combinations replacement of FASB Statement No 141 or SFAS 14 1R which are codified in FASB ASC
Topic 805 effective January 2009 These provisions apply to all transactions or events in which an entity obtains
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control of one or more businesses including those effected without the transfer of consideration for example by

contract or through lapse of minority veto rights These provisions require the acquiring entity in business

combination to recognize the full fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in the transaction whether

full or partial acquisition establish the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets

acquired and liabilities assumed and require expensing of most transaction and restructuring costs

We believe most operating real estate assets meet the revised definition of business Accordingly beginning

in 2009 we expense transaction costs associated with acquisitions of operating real estate or interests therein when

we consolidate the asset The FASB did not provide implementation guidance regardingthe treatment of acquisition

costs incurred prior to December 31 2008 for acquisitions that did not close until 2009 The SEC indicated any of

the following three transition methods were acceptable provided that the method chosen is disclosed and applied

consistently

expense acquisition costs in 2008 when it is probable
that the acquisition

will not close in 2008

expense acquisition costs January 2009 or

give retroactive treatment to the acquisition costs January 2009 by retroactively adjusting prior periods

to record acquisition costs in the prior periods in which they were incurred

We elected to apply the third method and accordingly have retroactively adjusted our results of operations for

the year
ended December 31 2008 by $3.5 million which also resulted in corresponding reduction to our

December 31 2008 equity balance This retroactive adjustment is reflected in investment management expenses in

our accompanying consolidated statements of income and reduced basic and diluted earnings per share amounts by

$0.04 for the year ended December 31 2008

Noncontrolling Interests

Effective January 2009 we adopted the provisions of FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB No 51 or

SFAS 160 which are codified in FASB ASC Topic 810 These provisions clarified that noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary is an ownership interest in consolidated entity which should be reported as equity in the parents

consolidated financial statements These provisions require disclosure on the face of the consolidated income

statements of the amounts of consolidated net income and other comprehensive income attributable to controlling

and noncontrolling interests eliminating the past practice of reporting amounts of income attributable to

noncontrolhng interests as an adjustment in amvmg at consolidated net mcome These provisions
also require

us to attribute to noncontrollmg mterests their share of losses even if such attribution results in deficit

noncontrolling interest balance within our equity accounts and in some instances recognize gain or loss in

net income when subsidiary is deconsohdated

In connection with our retrospective application of these provisions we reclassified into our consolidated

equity accounts the historical balances related to noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships

and the portion of noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership related to the Aimco Operating

Partnerships common OP Units and High Performance Units At December 31 2008 the carrying amount of

noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships was $380.7 million and the carrying amount for

noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnership attributable to common OP Units and High Performance

Units was zero due to cash distributions in excess of the positive balances related to those noncontrolling interests

Beginning in 2009 we no longer record charge related to cash distributions to noncontroffing interests in

excess of the carrying amount of such noncontrolling interests and we attribute losses to noncontrolling interests

even if such attribution results in deficit noncontrolling interest balance within our equity accounts The following

table illustrates the pro forma amounts of loss from continuing operations discontinued operations and net loss that

would have been attributed to Aimco common stockholders for the year
ended December 31 2009 had we applied
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the accounting provisions related to noncontrolling interests prior to their amendment by SFAS 160 in thousands
except per share amounts

Year Ended

December 31
2009

Loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders 225957
Income from discontinued operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders 91044

Net loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders $134 913

Basic and diluted
earnings loss per common share

Loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders 1.98
Income from discontinued operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders 0.80

Net loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders 1.18

The following table presents reconciliation of preferred noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating

Partnership which are generally redeemable at the holders option and may be settled in cash or at the Aimco
Operating Partnerships discretion shares of Common Stock and are included in temporary equity in our
consolidated balance sheet for the years ending December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007

Balance at January $88148 $89716 $90120
Net income attributable to preferred noncontrolling interests in the Aimco

Operating Partnership 6288 7646 7128
Distributions attributable to preferred noncontrolling interests in the Aimco

Operating Partnership 6806 7486 7489
Conversion of preferred units into Common Stock 43
Purchases of preferred units 1725 976
Other

751 752
Balance at December 31 $86656 $88148 $89716

The effects on our equity of changes in our ownership interest in the Aimco Operating Partnership are reflected

in our consolidated statement of equity as redemptions of Aimco Operating Partnership units for Common Stock

and repurchases of common partnership units

Changes in our ownership interest consolidated real estate partnerships generally consist of our purchase of

an additional interest in or the sale of our entire mterest in consolidated real estate partnership Our purchase of

additional interests consolidated real estate partnerships had no direct effect on equity attributable to Aimco
during the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 and did not have significant effect on equity attributable to

Aimco during the
year ended December 31 2009 The effect on our equity of sales of our entire interest in

consolidated real estate partnerships is reflected in our consolidated fmancial statements as sales of real estate and

accordingly the effect on our equity is reflected as gains on disposition of real estate less the amounts of such gains
attributable to noncontrolling interests within consolidated net loss income attributable to Aimco common
stockholders

Earnings per Share

We calculate earnings per share based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock common
stock equivalents participating securities and other

potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the period see
Note 14

Effective January 2009 we adopted the provisions of FASB Statement of Position No EITF 03-6-1
Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions are Participating Securities or
FSP EITF 03-6-1 which are codified in FASB ASC Topic 260 FSP EITF 03-6-1 clarified that unvested sharebased
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payment awards that participate in dividends similarto shares of common stock or common partnership units should

be treated as participating securities FSP E1TF 03-6-1 affects our computation of basic and diluted earnings per

share for unvested restricted stock awards and shares purchased pursuant to officer stock loans which serve as

collateral for such loans both of which entitle the holders to dividends Refer to Note 14 which details our

calculation of earnings per share and the effect of our retroactive application of FSP E1TF 03-6-1 on our earnings

per share

In December 2009 we adopted the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Update 2010-01Accounting for

Distributions to Shareholders with Components of Stock and Cash or ASU 2010-01 which are codified in FASB

ASC Topic 505 ASU 2010-01 requires that for distributions with components of cash and stock the portion

distributed in stock should be accounted for prospectively as stock issuance with no retroactive adjustment to basic

and diluted earnings per share In accordance with ASU 2010-0 we retrospectively revised the accountmg

treatment of our special dividends paid during 2008 and 2009 resulting in changes in the number of weighted

average
shares outstanding and earnings per share amounts for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 as

compared to the amounts previously reported

The following table illustrates the effects of these changes in accounting treatment on our basic and diluted

weighted average shares outstanding and on net incOme loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders per

common share for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

2008 2007

Weighted average shares outstanding basic and diluted

As previously reported
121213 140137

Reduction in weighted average shares outsta ding 32523 45030

As currently reported
88690 95107

Net income loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders per common

share basic and diluted

As previously reported
2.98 0.26

Effect of reduction in weighted average shares outstanding
1.06 0.12

Effect of participating
securities allocations 0.08 0.05

As currently reported
3.96 0.43

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated fmancial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts included in the fmancial statements and

accompanying notes thereto Actual results could differ from those estimates

Restatement to Reclassify Impairment Losses on Real Estate Development Assets

Our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31 2008 has been restated to reclassify

the provision for impairment losses on real estate development assets into operating income The reclassification

reduced operating income by $91.1 miffion for the year ended December31 2008 and had no effect on the reported

amounts of loss before income taxes and discontinued operations loss from continuing operations net income net

income available to Aimco common stockholders or earnings per
share Additionally the reclassification had no

effect on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2008 or the consolidated statements of equity and cash

flows for the year
ended December 31 2008

ReclassWcations

Certain items included in the 2008 and 2007 fmancial statements have been reclassified to conform to the

current presentation
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Subsequent Events

Our management evaluated subsequent events through the time this Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed

NOTE Real Estate and Partnership Acquisitions and Other Significant Transactions

Real Estate Acquisitions

During the year ended December 31 2009 we did not acquire any real estate properties

During the yeas ended December 312008 we acquired three conventional properties with total of 470 units
located in San Jose California Brighton Massachusetts and Seattle Washington The aggregate purchase price of

$111.5 million excluding transaction costs was funded using $39.0 million in proceeds from property loans
$41.9 million in tax-free exchange proceeds provided by 2008 real estate dispositions and the remainder in cash

During the year ended December 31 2007 we completed the acquisition of 16 conventional properties with

approximately 1300 units for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $217.0 million excluding transaction

costs Of the 16 properties acquired ten are located in New York City New York two in Daytona Beach Florida
one in Park Forest Illinois one in Poughkeepsie New York one in Redwood City California and one in North
San Diego California The purchases were funded with cash tax-free exchange proceeds new debt and the

assumption of existing debt

Acquisitions of Partnership Interests

During the year ended December 31 2009 we did not acquire significant amount of limited partnership
interests During the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 we acquired limited partnership interests in 22 and
50 partnerships respectively in which our affiliates served as general partner In connection with such acquisitions
we paid cash of approximately $2.0 million and $47.4 million including transaction costs The cost of the

acquisitions was approximately $2.4 million and $43.6 million in excess of the carrying amount of noncontrolling
interest in such limited partnerships which excess we generally assigned to real estate

Disposition of Unconsolidated Real Estate and Other

During the
yeas ended December 31 2009 we recognized $22.5 miffion in gains on disposition of uncon

solidated real estate and other Gains recognized in 2009 primarily consist of $8.6 million related to our receipt in

2009 of additional proceeds related to our disposition during 2008 of one of the partnership interests discussed
below $4.0 million from the disposition of our interest in group purchasing organization discussed further

below $6.1 million from our disposition of interests in unconsolidated real estate partnerships and our share of

gains recognized by our unconsolidated partnerships on the sale of real estate and $3.8 million related to various
other transactions

During the year ended December 31 2008 we recognized $99.9 million in gains on disposition of uncon
solidated real estate and other which primarily consisted of $98.4 million gain recognized on the disposal of our
interest in unconsolidated real estate partnerships that owned two properties with 671 units

Casualty Loss Related to Tropical Storm Fay and Hurricane Ike

During 2008 Tropical Storm Fay and Hurricane Ike caused severe damage to certain of our properties located

primarily in Florida and Texas respectively We incurred total losses of
approximately $33.9 million including

property damage replacement costs and clean-up costs After consideration of estimated third
party insurance

proceeds and the noncontrolling interest partners share of losses for consolidated real estate partnerships the net
effect of these casualties on net income available to Aimco common stockholders was loss of approximately
$5.0 million

Sale of Interest in Group Purchasing Organization

During 2009 we sold our interest in an unconsolidated group purchasing organization to an unrelated entity for
$5.9 million resulting in the recognition of gain on sale of $4.0 million which is included in gain on disposition of
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unconsolidated real estate and other in our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31 2009

This gain was partially offset by $1.0 million provision for income tax We also have note receivable from

another principal in the group purchasing organization which is collateralized by its equity interest in the entity In

connection with the sale of our interest we reevaluated collectibility of the note receivable and reversed $1.4 million

of previously recognized impairment losses which is reflected in provision for losses on notes receivable net in our

consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31 2009 As of December 31 2009 the carrying

amount of the note receivable which is due for repayment in 2010 totaled $1.6 million

Restructuring Costs

In connection with 2008 property sales and an expected reduction in redevelopment and transactional

activities during the three months ended December 31 2008 we initiated an organizational restructuring program

that included reductions in workforce and related costs reductions in leased corporate facilities and abandonment of

certain redevelopment projects and business pursuits This restructuring effort resulted in restructuring charge of

$22.8 million which consisted of severance costs of $12.9 million unrecoverable lease obligations of $6.4 million

related to space
that we will no longer use and the write-off of deferred transaction costs totaling 3.5 million

associated with certain acquisitions and redevelopment opportumties that we will no longer pursue We completed

the workforce reductions by March 31 2009

During 2009 in connection with continued repositioning of our portfolio we completed additional organi

zational restructuring activities that included reductions in workiorce and related costs and the abandonment of

additional leased corporate facilities and redevelopment projects

Our 2009 restructuring activities resulted in restructuring charge of $11.2 million which consisted of

severance costs and personnel related costs of $7.0 million unrecoverable lease obligations of $2.6 million related

to space that we will no longer use the write-off of deferred costs totaling $0.9 million associated with certain

redevelopment opportunities that we will no longer pursue and $0.7 million in other costs

As of December 31 2009 the remaining accruals associated with our restructunng activity are $6 million for

estimated unrecoverable lease obligations which will be paid over the remaining terms of the affected leases and

$4.7 million for severance and personnel related costs which are anticipated to be paid during the first quarter 2010

Transactions Involving VMS National Properties Joint Venture

In January 2007 VMS National Properties Joint Venture or VMS consolidated real estate partnership in

which we held 22% equity interest refinanced property loans secured by its 15 apartment properties The existing

loans had an aggregate carrying amount of $110.0 million and an aggregate face amount of $152.2 million The

$42.2 million difference between the face amount and carrying amount resulted from 1997 bankruptcy settlement

in which the lender agreed to reduce the principal amount of the loans subject to VMSs compliance with the terms

of the restructured loans Because the reduction in the loan amount was contingent on future compliance

recognition of the inherent debt extinguishment gain was deferred Upon refinancing of the loans in January

2007 the existing lender accepted the reduced principal amount in full satisfaction of the loans and VMS

recognized the $42.2 million debt extinguishment gain in earnings

During the year ended December 31 2007 VMS sold eight properties to third parties for an aggregate gain of

$22.7 million Additionally VMS contributed its seven remaining properties to wholly-owned subsidiaries of

Aimco in exchange for consideration totaling $230.1 million consisting primarily of cash of $21.3 million

common OP Units with fair value of $9.8 million the assumption of $168.0 million in property debt and the

assumption of $30.9 million in mortgage participation liabilities This total consideration included $50.7 million

related to our 22% equity interest in VMS Exclusive of our share the consideration paid for the seven properties

exceeded the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest in such properties by $44.9 million This excess

consideration is reflected in our consolidated balance sheet as an increase in the carrying amount of the seven

properties

Approximately $31.6 million of the $42.2 million debt extinguishment gain related to the property loans that

were secured by the eight properties sold to third parties and two properties we acquired from VMS but
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subsequently sold and is reported in discontinued operations for the year ended December 312007 The remaining

$10.6 million portion of the debt extinguishment gain related to the property loans that were secured by the five

VMS properties we purchased and continue to own and is reported in our continuing operations as gain on

dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other Although 78% of the equity interests in VMS were held by
unrelated noncontrolling partners no noncontrolling interest share of the gains on debt extinguishment and sale of

the properties was recognized in our earnings As required by then applicable GAAP we had in prior years

recognized the noncontrolling partners share of VMS losses in excess of the noncontrolling partners capital

contributions The amounts of those previously recognized losses exceeded the noncontrolling partners share of the

gains on debt extinguishment and sale of the properties accordingly the noncontrolling interests in such gains

recognized in our earnings was limited to the noncontrolling interests in the Aimco Operating Partnership For the

year
ended December 31 2007 the aggregate effect of the gains on extinguishment of VMS debt and sale of VMS

properties was to decrease loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco common stockholders by

$9.7 million $0.10 per diluted share and decrease net loss atthbutable to Aimco common stockholders by

$59.0 million $0.62 per diluted share

Durmg the three months ended December 31 2007 VMS distributed its remaining cash consistmg primarily

of undistnbuted proceeds from the sale of its 15 properties mcludmg properties sold to us Of the $424 million of

cash distributed to the unrelated limited partners $21.3 million
represents the cashconsideration we contributed in

exchange for the purchase of seven properties and is presented in purchases of partnership interests and other assets

in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year ended December 31 2007 The remainder of the cash

distributed to the unrelated limited partners is presented in payment of distributions to noncontrolling interest in the

consolidated statement of cash flows

Palazzo Joint Venture

In December2007 we entered into joint venture agreement with third party investor which provides for the

co-ownership of three multi-family properties with 1382 units located in West Los Angeles Under the agreement

we contributed three wholly-owned properties The Palazzo at Park La Brea The Palazzo East at Park La Brea and

The Villas at Park La Brea to the partnership which we refer to as Palazzo at value of $726.0 million or

approximately $525000 per
unit Palazzo had existing property debt of approximately $296.0 million and an

implied equity value of approximately $430.0 million We received $202.0 million from the investor in exchange

for an approximate 47% interest in Palazzo of which approximately $7.9 million was used to fund escrows for

capital improvements and various operating requirements We own the remaining interests in Palazzo including

managing interest and will operate the properties in exchange for property management fee and certain other fees

over the term of the partnership

We determined Palazzo is VIE and that we are the primary beneficiary who should consolidate this

partnership We deferred recognition of gain on this transaction and recognized the consideration received as an

increase in noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships

NOTE 4Investments in Unconsolidated Real Estate Partnerships

We owned general and limited partner interests in unconsolidated real estate partnerships owning approx

imately 77 85 and 94 properties at December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively We acquired these interests

through various transactions including large portfolio acquisitions and offers to individual limited partners Our

total ownership interests in these unconsolidated real estate partnerships typically rangesfrom less than 1% to 50%

and in some instances may exceed 50%
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The following table provides selected combined fmancial information for the unconsolidated real estate

partnerships
in which we had investments accounted for under the equity method as of and for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Real estate net of accumulated depreciation
95 226 $122 788 $133 544

Total assets 122543 155 444 165 567

Secured an4 other notes payable 101678 122859 124406

Total liabilities 145637 175681 180222

Partners deficit 23094 20237 14655

Rental and other property revenues 55366 69392 73672

Property operating expenses
34497 42863 45998

Depreciation expense
10302 12640 13965

Interest expense 11103 17182 17194

Gain on sale 482 5391 59

Net income loss 6622 398 4845

As result of our acquisition of interests in unconsolidated real estate partnerships at cost in excess of the

historical carrying amount of the partnerships net assets our aggregate investment in these partnerships at

December 31 2009 and 2008 of $105.3 million and $119.0 million respectively exceeds our share of the

underlying historical partners deficit of the partnerships by approximately $109.5 million and $122.9 million

respectively

NOTE Notes Receivable

The following table summarizes our notes receivable at December 31 2009 and 2008 thousands

2009 2008

Unconsolidated Unconsolidated

Real Estate Non Real Estate Non-

Partnerships Affiliates Total Partnerships Affiliates Total

Par value notes $11353 20862 32215 $18855 19253 38108

Discounted notes 5095 141468 146563 8575 138387 146962

Allowance for loan losses 2153 37061 39214 4863 17743 22606

Total notes receivable $14295 $125269 $139564 $22567 $139897 $162464

Face value of discounted notes $37709 $155848 $193557 $39333 $148790 $188123

Included in notes receivable from unconsolidated real estate partnerships at December 31 2009 and 2008 are

$2.4 million and $4.2 million respectively in notes that were secured by interests in real estate or interests in real

estate partnerships We earn interest on these secured notes receivable at various annual interest rates averaging

12.0%

Included in the notes receivable from non-affiliates at December 31 2009 and 2008 are $102.2 million and

$95.8 million respectively in notes that were secured by interests in real estate or interests in real estate

partnerships We earn interest on these secured notes receivable at various annual interest rates ranging between

4.0% and 12.0% and averaging 4.7%

Notes receivable from non-affiliates at December 31 2009 and 2008 include notes receivable totaling

$874 million and $85 million respectively from 31 entities the borrowers that are wholly owned by single

individual We originated these notes in November 2006 pursuant to loan agreement that provides for total funding

of approximately $110 million including $164 million for property improvements and an mterest reserve of

which $4.6 million had not been funded as of December 31 2009 The notes mature in November 2016 bear

interest at LIBOR plus 2.0% are partially guaranteed by the owner of the borrowers and are collateralized by

second mortgages on 87 buildings containing 1597 residential units and 42 commercial spaces in West Harlem
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New York City In conjunction with the loan agreement we entered into purchase option and put agreement with

the borrowers under which we may purchase some or all of the buildings and subject to achieving specified

increases in rental income the borrowers may require us to purchase the buildings see Note We determined that

the stated interest rate on the notes on the date the loan was originated was below-market interest rate and recorded

$19 milhon discount to reflect the estimated fair value of the notes based on an estimated market interest rate of

LIBOR plus 40% The discount was determined to be attnbutable to our real estate purchase option which we
recorded separately in other assets Accretion of this discount which is included in interest income in our

consàlidated statements of income totaled $0.9 million in 2009 $0.7 million in 2008 and $1.9 million in 2007
inclusive of $1.5 million adjustment of accretion recognized upon the repayment of portion of the outstanding

principal balance in 2007 The value of the purchase option asset will be included in the cost of properties acquired

pursuant to the option or otherwise be charged to expense We determined that the borrowers are VIEs and based on

qualitative and quantitative analysis determined that the individual who owns the borrowers and partially

guarantees the notes is the primary beneficiary

As part of the March 2002 acquisition of Casden Properties Inc we invested $50.0 million for 20% passive

interest in Casden Properties LLC an entity organized to acquire re-entitle and develop land parcels in Southern

California Based upon the profit allocation agreement we account for this investment as note receivable and

through 20Q8 were amortizing the discounted value of the investment to the $50.0 million previously estimated to be

collectible through January 2009 the initial dissolution date of the entity In 2009 the managing member
extended the dissolution date In connection with the preparation of our 2008 annual financial statements and as

result of decline in land values in Southern California we determined our recorded investment amount was not

fully recoverable and accordingly recognized an impairment loss of $16.3 million $10.0 million net of tax during

the three months ended December 31 2008 In connection with the preparation of our 2009 annual financial

statements and as result of continued declines in land values in Southern California we determined our then

recorded investment amount was not fully recoverable and accordingly recognized an impairment loss of

$20.7 million $12.4 million net of tax during the three months ended December 31 2009

Interest income from total non-impaired par value and certain discounted notes for the years ended Decem
ber 31 2009 2008 and 2007 totaled $5.7 million $7.8 million and $11.7 million respectively For the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we recognized accretion income on certain discounted notes of $0.1 million

$1.4 million and $8.1 million respectively

The activity in the allowance for loan losses in total for both par value notes and discounted notes for the
years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 is as follows iii thousands

2009 2008

Balance at beginning of
year $22 606 6435

Provisions for losses on notes receivable 231 673
Recoveries of losses on notes receivable 1422 417

Provisions for impairment loss on investment in Casden Properties LLC 20740 16321
Net reductions due to consolidation of real estate partnerships and property

dispositions 941 1406

Balance at end of
year $39214 $22606

Dunng the
years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we determined that an allowance for loan losses of

$1 million and $3 million
respectively was required on certain of our par value notes that had carrying amounts

of $3 million and $11 million respectively The average recorded investment in the impaired par value notes for

the years ende December 3.1 2009 and 2008.was $7.6 million and $9.0 million respectively The remaining

$28.4 million in par value notes receivable at December 31 2009 is estimated to be collectible and therefore

interest income on these
par value notes is recognized as it is earned
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As of December 31 2009 and 2008 we determined that an allowance for loan losses of $1.0 million and

$2.7 million respectively was required on certain of our discounted notes excluding the note related to Casden

Properties LLC discussed above that had carrying values of $1.6 million and $5.4 million respectively The

average
recorded investment in the impaired discounted notes for the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008

was $3.5 million and $4.9 million respectively

NOTE Property Tax-Exempt Bond Financings Property Loans Payable and Other Borrowings

The following table summarizes our property tax-exempt bond fmancings related to properties
classified as

held for use at December 31 2009 and 2008 the majority of which is non-recourse to us in thousands

Weighted Average
Interest Rate Principal Outstanding

2009 2009 2008

Fixed rate property tax-exempt bonds payable 5.10% $140995 $131530

Variable rate property tax-exempt bonds payable 0.90% 433931 497969

Total $574926 $629499

Fixed rate property tax-exempt bonds payable mature at various dates through December 2049 Variable rate

property tax-exempt bonds payable mature at various dates through June 2038 Principal and interest on these bonds

are generally payable in semi-annual installments with balloon payments due at maturity Certain of our property

tax-exempt bonds at December 31 2009 are remarketed periodically by remarketing agent to maintain variable

yield If the remarketing agent
is unable to remarket the bonds then the remarketing agent can put the bonds to us

We believe that the likelihood of this occurring is remote At December 31 2009 our property tax-exempt bond

financings related to properties
classified as held for use were secured by 39 properties with combined net book

value of $837.7 million As discussed in Note certain fixed rate property tax-exempt bonds payable have been

converted to variable rates using total rate of return swaps and are presented above as variable rate debt at their

carrying amounts or fair value

The following table summarizes our property loans payable related to properties classified as held for use at

December 31 2009 and 2008 the majority of which are non-recourse to us in thousands

Weighted Average
Interest Rate Principal Outstanding

2009 2009 2008

Fixed rate property notes payable
6.01% $4850136 $4662584

Variable rate property notes payable
2.46% 75877 223561

Secured notes credit facility
1.02% 46314 58179

Total $4972327 $4944324

Fixed rate property notes payable mature at various dates through August 2053 Variable rate property notes

payable mature at various dates through November 2030 Principal and interest are generally payable monthly or in

monthly interest-only payments with balloon payments due at maturity At December 312009 our property notes

payable related to properties classified as held for use were secured by 373 properties with combined net book

value of $6030.1 million As discussed in Note certain fixed rate secured notes payable have been converted to

variable rates using total rate of return swaps and are presented above as variable rate debt at their carrying amounts

or fair value

At December 31 2009 we had secured revolving credit facility with major life company that provided for

borrowings of up to $200.0 million In January 2010 the credit facility was modified to reduce allowed borrowings

to the then outstanding amount of $46.3 million The primary function of the facility is to secure short-term fully

pre-payable non-recourse loans for period of less than three years The interest rate on the notes provided through

the facility is 30-day LIBOR plus 0.78% Each loan under the facility is treated as separate borrowing and is

secured by specific property None of the facility loans are cross-collateralized or cross-defaulted This facility

matures in October 2010 and has two one-year extension options for $500000 fee per extension.At December31

F-3



2009 outstanding borrowings of $46.3 million related to properties classified as held for use are included in 2012

maturities below based on the extension options

Our consolidated debt instruments generally contain covenants common to the type of facility or borrowing

including financial covenants establishing minimum debt service coverage ratios and maximum leverage ratios At

December 31 2009 we were in compliance with all fmancial covenants pertaining to our consolidated debt

instruments

Other borrowings totaled $53.1 million and $96.0 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively At

December 31 2009 other borrowings includes $44 million in fixed rate obligations with interest rates ranging
from zero to 10.0% and $8.5 million in variable rate obligations bearing interest at the prime rate plus 1.75% The

maturity dates for other borrowings range from 2010 to 2039 although certain amounts are due upon occurrence of

specified events suh as property sales

As of December 31 2009 the scheduled principal amortization and maturity payments for our property tax-

exempt bonds property notes payable and other borrowings related to properties in continuing operations are as

follows in thousands

Amortization Maturities Total

2010 $101945 3349 105294

2011 106962 237796 344758

2012 110269 205706 315975

2013 108946 386421 495367

2014 105701 267547 373248

Thereafter 3965 668

$5600310

NOTE Term Loans and Credit Facility

We have an Amended and Restated Semor Secured Credit Agreement as amended with syndicate of

financial institutions which we refer to as the Credit Agreement In addition to Aimco the Aimco Operating

Partnership and an Aimco subsidiary are also borrowers under the Credit Agreement

As of December 31 2009 the Credit Agreement consisted of aggregate commitments of $270.0 million

comprised of the $90.0 million outstanding balance on the term loan and $180.0 million of revolving loan

commitments The term loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.5% or at our option base rate equal to the prime rate

and matures March 2011 Borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest based on pricing grid

determined by leverage either at LIBOR plus 4.25% with LIBOR floor of 2.00% or at our option base rate

equal to the Prime rate plus spread of 3.00% The revolving credit facility matures May 2011 and may be

extended for an additional year subject to certain conditions including payment of 45.0 basis point fee on the total

revolving commitments and repayment of the remaining term loan balance by February 2011 Pursuant to the

Credit Agreement while any balance under the term loan is outstanding repurchases of our Common Stock are

permitted with 50% ofnet asset sale proceeds if the other 50% of such net asset sale proceeds are applied to repay
the term loan The Credit Agreement permits us to increase revolving conmiitments by up to $320.0 million subject

to our obtaining such commitments from eligible lenders

The Credit Agreement includes customary financial covenants including the maintenance of specified ratios

with respect to total indebtedness to gross asset value total secured indebtedness to gross asset value aggregate

recourse indebtedness to gross asset value variable rate debt to total indebtedness debt service coverage and fixed

charge coverage the maintenance of minimum adjusted tangible net worth and limitations regarding the amount

of cross-collateralized debt The Credit Agreement includes other customary covenants including restriction on

distributions and other restricted payments but permits distributions during any four consecutive fiscal quarters in

an aggregate amount of up to 95% of our funds from operations for such period subject to certain non-cash

adjustments or such amount as may be necessary to maintain our REIT status We were in compliance with all such

covenants as of December 31 2009
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The lenders under the Credit Agreement may accelerate any outstanding loans if among other things we fail

to make payments when due subject to applicable grace periods material defaults occur under other debt

agreements certain bankruptcy or insolvency events occur material judgments are entered against us we fail to

comply with certain covenants such as the requirement to deliver financial information or the requirement to

provide notices regarding material events subject to applicable grace periods in some cases mdebtedness is

incurred in violation of the covenants or prohibited liens arise

At December 31 2009 the term loan had an outstanding principal balance of $90.0 million and an interest rate

of 1.73% We repaid $45.0 million of the term loan through February 26 2010 leaving remaining outstanding

balance of $45.0 million At December 31 2009 we had no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit

facility The amount available under the revolving credit facility at December 31 2009 was $136.2 miffion after

giving effect to $43.8 million outstanding for undrawn letters of credit issued under the revolving credit facility

The proceeds of revolving loans are generally permitted to be used to fund working capital and for other corporate

purposes

On February 2010 we entered into an Eighth Amendment to our Credit Agreement which provides for

reduction in the minimum threshold for our debt service coverage and fixed charge coverage ratios and an increase

in the maximum threshold for our secured indebtedness ratio

NOTE Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

In connection with our redevelopment and capital improvement activities we have commitments of approx

imately $4.8 million related to construction projects that are expected to be completed during 2010 Additionally

we enter into certain conmiitments for future purchases of goods and services in connection with the operations of

our properties Those commitments generally have terms of one year or less and reflect expenditure levels

comparable to our historical expenditures

As discussed in Note we have committed to fund an additional $4.6 million in loans on certain properties in

West Harlem in New York City In certain circumstances the obligor under these notes has the ability to put

properties to us which would result in cash payment between $30.0 and $97.5 miffion and the assumption of

approximately $119.0 million in property debt The ability to exercise the put and the amount of cash payment

required upon exercise is dependent upon the achievement of specified thresholds by the current owner of the

properties

As discussed in Note 11 we have potential obligation to repurchase $30.0 million in liquidation preference of

our Series Community Reinvestment Act Preferred Stock for $21.0 million

Tax Credit Arrangements

We are required to manage certain consolidated real estate partnerships in compliance with various laws

regulations and contractual provisions that apply to our historic and low-income housing tax credit syndication

arrangements In some instances noncompliance with applicable requirements could result in projected tax benefits

not being realized and require refund or reduction of investor capital contributions which are reported as deferred

income in our consolidated balance sheet until such time as our obligation to deliver tax benefits is relieved The

remaining compliance periods for our tax credit syndication arrangements range from less than one year to 15 years

We do not anticipate that any material refunds or reductions of investor capital contributions will be required in

connection with these arrangements

Legal Matters

In addition to the matters described below we are party to various legal actions and administrative

proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business some of which are covered by our general liability insurance

program and none of which we expect to have material adverse effect on our consolidated fmancial condition

results of operations or cash flows
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Limited Partnerships

In connection with our acquisitions of interests real estate partnerships and our role as general partner in

certam real estate partnerships we are sometimes subject to legal actions including allegations that such activities

may involve breaches of fiduciary duties to the partners of such real estate partnerships or violations of the relevant

partnership agreements We may incur costs in connection with the defense or settlement of such litigation We
believe that we comply with our fiduciary obligations and relevant partnership agreements Although the outcome

of any litigation is uncertain we do not expect any such legal actions to have material adverse effect on our

consolidated fmancial condition results of operations or cash flows

Envimnmental

Various Federal state and local laws subject property owners or operators to liability for management and the

costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous substances present on property including lead-based paint

Such laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for

the release or presence of the hazardous substances The presence of or the failure to manage or remedy properly

hazardous substances may adversely affect occupancy at affected apartment communities and the ability to sell or

finance affected properties In addition to the costs associated with investigation and remediation actions brought by

government agencies and potential fines or penalties imposed by such agencies in connection therewith the

presence of hazardous substances on property could result in claims by private plaintiffs for personal injury

disease disability or other infirmities Various laws also impose liability for the cost of removal remediation or

disposal of hazardous substances through licensed disposal or treatment facility Anyone who arranges for the

disposal or treatment of hazardous substances is potentially liable under such laws These laws often impose

liability whether or not the
person arranging for the disposal ever owned or operated the disposal facility In

connection with the ownership operation and management of properties we could potentially be liable for

environmental liabilities or costs associated with our properties or properties we acquire or manage in the future

We have determined that our legal obligations to remove or remediate hazardous substances may be

conditional asset retirement obligations as defined in GAAP Except in limited circumstances where the asset

retirement activities are expected to be performed in connection with planned construction project or property

casualty we believe that the fair value of our asset retirement obligations cannot be reasonably estimated due to

significant uncertainties in the timing and manner of settlement of those obligations Asset retirement obligations

that are reasonably estimable as of December 31 2009 are immaterial to cur consolidated financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

Mold

We have been named as defendant in lawsuits that have alleged personal injury and property damage as

result of the presence of mold In addition we are aware of lawsuits against owners and managers of multifamily

properties asserting claims of personal injury and property damage caused by the presence of mold some of which

have resulted in substantial monetary judgments or settlements We have only limited insurance coverage for

property damage loss claims arising from the
presence of mold and for personal injury claims related to mold

exposure We have implemented policies procedures third-party audits and training and include detailed

moisture intrusion and mold assessment during acquisition due diligence We believe these measures will prevent or

eliminate mold exposure from our properties and will minimize the effects that mold may have on our residents To

date we have not incurred any material costs or liabilities relating to claims of mold exposure or to abate mold

conditions Because the law regarding mold is unsettled and subject to change we can make no assurance that

liabilities resulting from the presence of or exposure to mold will not have material adverse effect on our

consolidated financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Operating Leases

We are obligated under office space and equipment non-cancelable operating leases In addition we sublease

certain of our office space to tenants under non-cancelable subleases Approximate minimum annual rentals under
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operating leases and approximate minimum payments to be received under annual subleases are as follows in

thousands

Operating Lease Sublease

Obligations Receivables

2010 7345 818

2011 5800 185

2012 5056 64

2013 2594 12

2014 2265

Thereafter 1828

Total $24888 $1079

Substantially all of the office space subject to the operating leases described above are for the use of our

corporate offices and area operations Rent expense recognized totaled $7.7 million $10.2 million and $9.8 million

for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Sublease receipts that offset rent expense

totaled approximately $0.7 million $0.7 million and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31 20092008 and

2007 respectively

As discussed in Note during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we commenced restructuring

activities pursuant to which we vacated certain leased office space for which we remain obligated In connection

with the restructurings we accrued amounts representing the estimated fair value of certain lease obligations related

to space we are no longer using reduced by estimated sublease amounts At December 31 2009 approximately

$6.9 million related to the above operating lease obligations was included in accrued liabilities related to these

estimates
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NOTE Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities of the taxable REIT subsidiaries for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax

purposes Significant components of our deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Deferred tax liabilities

Partnership differences $32565 $47635

Depreciation 2474 2477

Deferred revenue 14862 7757

Other 11

Total deferred tax liabilities $49901 $57880

Deferred tax assets

Net operating capital and other loss carryforwards $37164 7183

Provision for impairments on real estate assets 33321 33321

Receivables 3094 5530

Accrued liabilities 9272 23504

Accrued interest expense 2220

Intangibles management contracts 1911 3789

Tax credit carryforwards 6949 8521

Equity compensation 1463 1983

Other 929 155

Total deferred tax assets 94103 86206

Valuation allowance 2187

Net deferred income tax assets $42015 $28326

As of December 31 2009 we determined valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets was necessary
for

certain state net operating losses based on determination that it was more likely than not that such assets will not be

realized prior to their expiration

reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of our unrecognized tax benefits is presented below

2009 2008 2007

Balance at January $3080 $2965 $3118

Reductions as result of the lapse of applicable statutes 189
Additions based on tax positions related to the prior year 115 36

Reductions based on tax positions related to the prior year

Balance at December 31 $3079 $3080 $2965

We do not anticipate any material changes in existing unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months

Because the statute of limitations has not yet elapsed our Federal income tax returns for the year ended

December 31 2006 and subsequent years and certain of our State income tax returns for the year ended

December 31 2004 and subsequent years are currently subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service

or other tax authorities As discussed in Note the IRS has issued us summary reports including its proposed

adjustments to the Aimco Operating Partnerships 2007 and 2006 Federal tax returns We do not expect the

proposed adjustments to have any material effect on our unrecognized tax benefits financial condition or results of

operations Our policy is to include interest and penalties related to income taxes in income taxes in our

consolidated statements of income

In accordance with the accounting requirements for stock-based compensation our deferred tax assets at

December 31 2008 are net of $3.6 million of excess tax benefits from employee stock option exercises and vested
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restricted stock awards As of December 31 2009 we had no such excess tax benefits from employee stock option

exercises and vested restricted stock awards

The cost of land and depreciable property net of accumulated depreciation for federal mcome tax purposes

was approximately $4.6 billion

Significant components of the provision benefit for income taxes are as follows and are classified within

income tax benefit in continuing operations and income from discontinued operations net in our statements of

income for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Current

Federal 1910 8678 20

State 3992 2415 1938

Total current 2082 11093 1958

Deferred

Federal 17320 22115 17816

State 3988 2386 1833

Total deferred 21 308 24501 19 649

Total benefit $19226 $l3408 $17691

Classification

Continuing operations $l8671 $53202 $19795

Discontinued operations 555 39794 2104

Consolidated losses subject to tax consisting of pretax income or loss of our taxable REIT subsidianes and

gains or loss on certain property sales that are subject to income tax under section 1374 of the Internal Revenue

Code for the years ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 totaled $40.6 million $81.8 million and $41.5 million

respectively The reconciliation of income tax attributable to continuing and discontinued operations computed at

the U.S statutory rate to income tax benefit is shown below dollars in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent

Tax at U.S statutory rates on consolidated

loss subject to tax $14221 35.0% $28632 35.0% $l4508 35.0%

State income tax net of Federal tax

benefit 2183 5.4% 29 106 0.3%

Effect of permanent differences 127 0.3% 215 0.3% 306 0.7%

Tax effect of intercompany transfers of

assets between the REIT and taxable

REIT subsidiaries1 4759 11.7% 15059 18.4%

Write-off of excess tax basis 377 0.9% 79 0.1% 2983 7.2%

Increase in valuation allowance 2187 5.4%

$l9226 47.3% $13408 16.4% $17691 42.6%

Includes the effect of assets contributed by the Aimco Operatmg Partnership to taxable REIT subsidiaries for

which deferred tax expense or benefit was recogmzed upon the sale or impairment of the asset by the taxable

REIT subsidiary

Income taxes paid totaled approximately $4.6 million $13.8 miffion and $3.0 million in the
years

ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
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At December 312009 we had net operating loss carryforwards or NOLs of approximately $60.6 million for

income tax purposes that expire in
years

2027 to 2029 Subject to certain separate return limitations we may use

these NOLs to offset all or portion of taxable income generated by our taxable RE1T subsidiaries We generated

approximately $45.9 million of NOLs during the
year

ended Decembet 31 2009 as result of losses from our

taxable REIT subsidiaries The deductibility of intercompany interest expense with our taxable REIT subsidiaries is

subject to certain intercompany limitations based upon taxable income as required under Section 163j of the Code

As of December31 2009 interest carryovers of approximately $24 million limited by Section 163j of the Code

are available against U.S Federal tax without expiration The deferred tax asset related to these interest
carryovers

is approximately $9.6 million Additionally our low-income housing nd rehabilitation tax credit carryforwards as

of December 31 2009 were approximately $7.4 million for income tax purposes
that expire in

years
2012 to 2028

For income tax purposes dividends paid to holders of Common Stock primarily consist of ordinary income

return of capital capital gains qualified dividends and unrecaptured Section 1250 gains or combination thereof

For the
years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 dividends per share held for the entire year were estimated

to be taxable as follows

200912 20083 20074

Amount Percentage Amount Percentage Amount Percentage

Ordinary income $0.78 18%

Capital gains 0.10 26% 4.77 64% 2.31 54%

Qualified dividends 0.06 14% 0.03 0.10 2%

Unrecaptured SectiOn 1250 gain 0.24 60% 2.68 36% 1.12 26%

$0.40 100% $7.48 100% $4.31 100%

On December 18 2009 our Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividend of $0.10 per common share

for the quarter ended December 31 2009 that was paid on January 29 2010 to stockholders of record on

December 31 2009 Pwsuant to certain provisions in the Code this dividend was deemed paid by us and

received by our shareholders in 2009

The Company has designated the per share amounts above as capital gain dividends in accordance with the

requirements under the Code

On December 18 2008 our Board of Directors declared special dividend of $2.08 per common share for the

quarter ended December 31 2008 that was paid on January 29 2009 to stockholders of record on Decem

ber 29 2008 portion of the special dividend represented an early payment of the regular quarterly dividend of

$0.60 per share that would otherwise have been paid in February 2009 Pursuant to certain provisions in the

Code this dividend was deemed paid by us and received by our shareholders in 2008

On December 21 2007 our Board of Directors declared special dividend of $2.51 per common share for the

quarter ended December 31 2007 that was paid on January 30 2008 to stockholders of record on Decem

ber 31 2007 portion of the special dividend represented an early payment of the regular quarterly dividend of

$0.60 per share that would otherwise have been paid in February 2008 Pursuant to certain provisions in the

Code this dividend was deemed paid by us and received by our shareholders in 2007

NOTE 10 Transactions Involving Noncontrolling hiterests in Aimco Operating Partnership

In December 2008 October 2008 July 2008 and December 2007 the Aimco Operating Partnership declared

special distributions payable on January 29 2009 December 2008 August 29 2008 and January 30 2008

respectively to holders of record of common OP Units and High Performance Units on December 29 2008
October 27 2008 July 28 2008 and December 31 2007 respectively The special distributions were paid on

common OP Units and High Performance Units in the amounts listed below The Aimco Operating Partnership

distributed to us common OP Units equal to the number of shares we issued pursuant to our corresponding special

dividends discussed in Note 11 in addition to approximately $0.60 per
unit in cash Holders of common OP Units

other than us and holders of High Performance Units received the distribution entirely in cash
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January 2009 December 2008 August 2008 January 2008

Ainico Operating Partnership Special Special Special Special

Special Distributions Distribution Distribution Distribution Distribution

Distribution per unit 2.08 1.80 3.00 2.51

Total distribution $230.1 million $176.6 million $285.5 million $257.2 million

Common OP Umts and High

Performance Units outstanding on

record date 110654142 98136520 95151333 102478510

Common OP Umts held by Aimco 101 169 951 88 650 980 85 619 144 92795 891

Total distribution ôæ Aimco common

OP Units $210.4 million $159.6 million $256.9 million $232.9 million

Cash distribution to Aimco 60.6 million 53.2 million 51.4 million 55.0 million

Portion of distribution paid to Aimco

through issuance of common OP

Units $149.8 million $106.4 million $205.5 million $177.9 million

Common OP Units issued to Aimco

pursuant to distributions 15627330 12572267 5731310 4594074

Cash distributed to common OP Unit

and High Performance Unit holders

other than Aimco 19.7 million 17.0 million 28.6 million 24.3 million

Preferred OP Units

Various classes of preferred OP Units of the Aimco Operating Partnership are outstanding Depending on the

terms of each class these preferred
OP Units are convertible into common OP Units or redeemable for cash or at the

Aimco Operating Partnerships option Common Stock and are paid distributions varying from 5.9% to 9.6% per

annum per unit or equal to the dividends paid on Common Stock based on the conversion terms As of December 31

2009 and 2008 total of 3.1 million and 3.2 million preferred OP Units were outstanding with redemption values of

$85 million and $88 million respectively At December 31 2009 and 2008 total of million and million

of these preferred OP Units with redemption values of $82.8 million and $85.2 million respectively were

redeemable into approximately 5.2 million and 7.4 million shares of Common Stock respectively or cash at the

Aimco Operating Partnerships option

During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 approximately 68200 and 38400 preferred OP Units

respectively were tendered for redemption in exchange for cash During the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 no preferred OP Units were tendered for redemption in exchange for shares of Common Stock The Aimco

Operating Partnership has redemption policy that requires cash settlement of redemption requests for the

redeemable preferred OP Units subject to limited exceptions

Common OP Units

In 2007 we completed tender offers for limited partnership interests resulting in the issuance of approximately

55400 common OP Units Approximately 55100 of the common OP Units issued in 2007 were to unrelated limited

partners in VMS in connection with our purchase of seven properties from the partnership as discussed inNote In

2009 and 2008 we did not issue sigmficant number of common OP Umts in connection with tender offers for

limited partners

During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 approximately 64000 and 50000 common OP Units

respectively were redeemed in exchange for cash and approximately 519000 and 114000 common OP Units

respectively were redeemed in exchange for shares of Common Stock

High Performance Units

From 1998 through 2005 the Aimco Operating Partnership issued various classes of High Performance Units

or HPUs These HPUs were issued to limited liability companies owned by certain members of our senior
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management and independent directors in the case of Class HPUs only in exchange for cash in amounts that we
determined with the assistance of nationally recognized independent valuation expert to be the fair value of the

HPUs The terms of the HPUs provide for the issuance following measurement period of generally three
years

of

an increased number of HPUs depending on the degree if any to which certain fmancial performance benchmarks

are achieved over the applicable measurement period The holders of HPUs at the conclusion of the measurement

period receive the same amount of distributions that are paid to holders of an equivalent number of the Aimco
Operating Partnerships outstanding common OP Units At December 31 2009 and 20082344719 Class HPUs
the sole class of HPUs to meet the performance benchmarks were outstanding The minimum performance
benchmarks were not achieved for HPU Classes II through IX Accordingly those HPUs had only nominal value at

the conclusion of the related measurement period and were reacquired by the Aimco Operating Partnership and

cancelled

NOTE 11 Aimco Equity

Preferred Stock

At December 31 2009 and 2008 we had the following classes of preferred stock outstanding

Balance

Annual Dividend
December 31

Redemption Rate Per Share 2009 2008
Perpetual Date1 paid quarterly thousands thousands

Class Cumulative Preferred Stock $0.01 par value 4050000 shares

authorized 4050000 shares issued and outstanding2 07/15/2008 9.3750% $101000 $101000
Class Cumulative Preferred Stock $0.01 par value 6000000 shares

authorized 6000000 shares issued and outstanding 07/31/2008 8.000% 150000 150000
Class Cumulative Preferred Stock $0.01 par value 8000000 shares

authorized 000 000 shares issued and outstandmg 03/24/2009 7750% 200 000 200 000
Class Cumulative Preferred Stock $0.01 par value 3450000 shares

authorized 3450000 shares issued and outstanding 09/29/2009 8.000% 86250 86250
Class Cumulative Preferred Stock $0.01 par value 3450000 shares

authorized 3450000 shares issu4 and outstanding 12/21/2009 7.875% 86250 86250
Series Community Reinvestment Act Preferred Stock $0.01 par value per

share 240 shares authorized 134 and 146 shares issued and outstanchng3 06/30/2011 67 000 73 000

Total
$690500 $696500

Less preferred stock subject to repurchase agreement4 30000
Preferred stock per consolidated balance sheets

$660500 $696500

All classes of preferred stock are redeemable at our option on and after the dates specified

Includes 10000 shares held by consolidated subsidiary that are eliminated in consolidation

During 2006 we sold 200 shares of our Series Community Reinvestment Act Perpetual Preferred Stock
$0.01 par value

per share or the CRA Preferred Stock with liquidation preference of $500000 per share for

net proceeds of $97.5 million For the period from the date of original issuance through March 31 2015 the

dividend rate is variable rate per annum equal to the Three-Month LIBOR Rate as defmed in the articles

supplementary designating the CRA Preferred Stock plus 1.25% calculated as of the beginning of each

quarterly dividend period The rate at December 31 2009 and 2008 was 1.54% and 5.01% respectively Upon
liquidation holders of the CRA Preferred Stock are entitled to preference of $500000 per share plus an

amount equal to accumulated accrued and unpaid dividends whether or not earned or declared The CRA
Preferred Stock ranks prior to our Common Stock and on the same level as our outstanding shares of preferred
stock with respect to the payment of dividends and the distribution of amounts upon liquidation dissolution or

winding up The CRA Preferred Stock is not redeemable prior to June 30 2011 except in limited circumstances

related to REIT qualification On and after June 30 2011 the CRA Preferred Stock is redeemable for cash in

whole or from time to time in part at our option at price per
share equal to the liquidation preference plus

accumulated accrued and unpaid dividends if any to the redemption date

In June 2009 we entered into an agreement to repurchase $36.0 million in liquidation preference of our CRA
Preferred Stock at 30% discount to the liquidation preference Pursuant to this agreement in June 2009 we
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repurchased 12 shares or $6.0 million in liquidation preference of CRA Preferred Stock for $4.2 million and

the holder of the CRA Preferred Stock may require us to repurchase an additional 60 shares or $30.0 million in

liquidation preference of CRA Preferred Stock over the next three years for $21.0 million If required these

additional repurchases will be for up to $10.0 million in liquidation preference in May 2010 2011 and 2012

Based on the holders ability to require us to repurchase an additional 60 shares ofCRA Preferred Stock

pursuant to this agreement $30.0 million in liquidation preference of CRA Preferred Stock or the maximum

redemption value of such preferred stock is classified within temporary equity in our consolidation balance

sheet at December 31 2009

In connection with our June 2009 CRA Preferred Stock repurchase discussed above we reflected the

$1.8 million excess of the carrying value over the repurchase price offset by $0.2 million of issuance costs

previously recorded as reduction of additional paid-in capital as reduction of net income attributable to

preferred stockholders for the year ended December 31 2009

During 2008 we repurchased 54 shares or $27.0 million in liquidation preference of our CRA Preferred Stock

for cash totalmg $24 million We reflected the $2 million excess of the carrymg value over the redemption pnce

offset by $0.7 million of issuance costs previously recorded as reduction of additional paid-in capital as

reduction of net income attributable to preferred stockholders for purposes of calculating earnings per share for the

year ended December 31 2008

All classes of preferred stock are pan passu with each other and are senior to our Common Stock The holders

of each class of preferred stock are generally not entitled to vote on matters submitted to stockholders Dividends on

all shares of preferred stock are subject to declaration by our Board of Directors All of the above outstanding

classes of preferred stock have liquidation preference per share of $25 with the exception of the CRA Preferred

Stock which has liquidation preference per share of $500000

The dividends paid on each class of preferred stock classified as equity in the years
ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 are as follows in thousands except per share data

2009 2008 2007

Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total

Per Amount Per Amount Per Amount

Class of Preferred Stock Share1 Paid Share1 Paid Share1 Paid

Perpetual

Class 2.34 9492 2.34 9492 2.34 9492

Class 2.00 12000 2.00 12000 2.00 12000

Class 1.94 15500 1.94 15500 1.94 15500

Class 2.00 6900 2.00 6900 2.00 6900

Class 1.97 6792 1.97 6792 1.97 6792

Series CRA 108412 1531 243813 4531 41661 8316

52215 55215 59000

Convertible

Class 4.254 8100

8100

Total $52215 $55215 $67100

Amounts per share are calculated based on the number of preferred shares outstanding either at the end of each

year or as of conversion redemption or repurchase date as noted

Amount per share is based on 134 shares outstanding for the entire penod 12 shares were repurchased June

2009 and received $6509 in dividends through the date of purchase

Amount per share is based on 146 shares outstanding for the entire period 54 shares were repurchased in

September 2008 and received $17980 in dividends through the date of purchase
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For the period from January 2007 to the date of redemption

Common Stock

In December 2008 October 2008 July 2008 and December 2007 connection with the Aimco Operatmg

Partnership special distributions discussed Note 10 our Board of Directors declared corresponding special

dividends payable on January 292009 December 2008 August 29 2008 and January 30 2008 respectively to

holders of record of our Common Stock on December 29 2008 October 27 2008 July 28 2008 and December 31

2007 respectively portion of the special dividends in the amounts of $0.60 per share represents payment of the

regular dividend for the quarters ended December 31 2008 September 30 2008June 30 2008 and December 31

2007 respectively and the remaining amount per share represents an additional dividend associated with taxable

gains from property dispositions Portions of the special dividends were paid through the issuance of shares of

Common Stock The table below summarizes information regarding these special dividends

January 2009 December 2008 August 2008 January 2008

Special Special Special Special

Aimco Special Dividends Dividend Dividend Dividend Dividend

Dividend per share 208 80 00 51

Outstanding shares of Common Stock

on the record date 101169951 88650980 85619144 92795891

Total dividend $2104 million $159 million $256 million $232 million

Portion of dividend paid cash 606 million 53 million 51 million 55 million

Portion of dividend paid through

issuance of shares $149.8 million $106.4 million $205.5 million $177.9 million

Shares issued pursuant to dividend 15627330 12572267 5731310 4594074

Average share price on determination

date 9.58 8.46 35.84 38.71

Amounts after elimination of the effects

of shares of Common Stock held by

consolidated subsidiaries

Outstanding shares of Common Stock

on the record date 100642817 88186456 85182665 92379751

Total dividend $209.3 million $158.7 million $255.5 million $231.9 million

Portion of dividend paid in cash 60.3 million 52.9 million 51.1 million 54.8 million

Portion of dividend paid through

issuance of shares $149.0 million $105.8 million $204.4 million $177.1 million

Shares issuedpursuant to dividend 15548996 12509657 5703265 4573735

As discussed in Note during December 2009 we adopted the provisions of ASU 2010-01 which relate to

accounting for dividends with components of cash and stock In prior periods we treated the shares of stock issued

in our special dividends similar to stock dividends with reclassification within consolidated equity at the

beginning of the earliest period presented In connection with our adoption of ASU 2010-01 we retrospectively

adjusted our consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2008 by increasing accrued liabilities and other by

$149.0 million representing the portion of our special dividend declared in December2008 that was paid in January

2009 through the issuance of common stock

During 2008 we issued approximately 17000 shares of Common Stock to certain non-executive officers who

purchased the shares at market prices hi exchange for the shares purchased the officers executed notes payable

totalmg $0 million No shares were issued under similararrangements durm 2009 These notes which are 25%

recourse to the borrowers have 10-year maturity and bear interest either at fixed rate of 6% annually or floating

rate based on the 30-day LIBOR plus 3.85% which is subject to an annual interest rate cap of typically 7.25% Total

payments in 2009 and 2008 on all notes from officers were $0.8 million and $1.5 million respectively In 2009 and

2008 we reacquired approximately 94000 and 31000 shares of Common Stock from officers in exchange for the

cancellation of related notes totaling $1.5 million and $1.0 million respectively
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In addition 2009 and 2008 we issued approximately 378000 and 225000 restncted shares of Common
Stock respectively to certain officers and employees The restricted stock was recorded at the fair market value of

the Common Stock on the date of issuance These shares of restricted Common Stock may not be sold assigned

transferred pledged hypothecated or otherwise disposed of and are subject to risk of forfeiture prior to the

expiration of the applicable vesting period ratably over period of four years

In 2008 and 2007 we purchased in the open market approximately 13.9 million and 7.5 million shares of

Common Stock respectively at an average price per share of approximately $34.02 and $43.70 respectively

During 2009 we did not repurchase any shares of Common Stock on the open market

Registration Statements

We and the Aimco Operating Partnership have shelf registration statement that provides for the issuance of

debt and equity securities by Aimco and debt securities by the Aimco Operating Partnership

NOTE 12 Share-Based Compensation and Employee Benefit Plans

Stock Award and Incentive Plan

We adopted the Apartment Investment and Management Company 1997 Stock Award and Incentive Plan or

the 1997 Plan to attract and retain officers key employees and independent directors The 1997 Plan reserved for

issuance maximum of 20 million shares which may be in the form of incentive stock options non-qualified stock

options and restricted stock or other types of awards as authorized under the 1997 Plan The 1997 Plan expired on

April 24 2007 On April 30 2007 the 2007 Stock Award and Incentive Plan or the 2007 Plan was approved as

successor to the 1997 Plan The 2007 Plan reserves for issuance maximum of 4.1 million shares which may be in

the form of incentive stock options non-qualified stock options and restricted stock or other types of awards as

authorized under the 2007 Plan Pursuant to the anti-dilution provisions of the 2007 Plan the number of shares

reserved for issuance has been adjusted to reflect the special dividends discussed in Note 11 At December31 2009

there were approximately 1.7 million shares available to be granted under the 2007 Plan The 2007 Plan is

administered by the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of the Board of Directors In the case of stock

options the exercise price of the options granted may not be less than the fair market value of Common Stock at the

date of grant The term of the options is generally ten years from the date of grant The options typically vest over

period of one to four or five years from the date of grant We generally issue new shares upon exercise of options

Restricted stock awards typically vest over period of three to five years

Refer to Stock-Based Compensation in Note for discussion of our accounting policy related to stock-based

compensation

We estimated the fair value of our options using Black-Scholes closed-form valuation model using the

assumptions set forth in the table below For options granted in 2009 and 2008 the expected term of the options was
based on historical option exercises and post-vesting terminations For options granted in 2007 the expected term of

the options reflects the average of the vesting period and the contractual term for the options with the exception of

grant of approximately 0.6 million options to an executive during 2007 for which the expected term used was equal

to the vestmg period of five years Expected volatthty reflects the historical volatility of our Common Stock durmg
the historical period commensurate with the expected term of the options that ended on the date of grant The

expected dividend yield reflects expectations regarding cash dividend amounts per share paid on our Common
Stock during the expected term of the option and the risk-free interest rate reflects the annualized yield of zero
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coupon U.S Treasury security with term equal to the expected term of the option The weighted average fair value

of options and our valuation assumptions for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 were as follows

2009 2008 2007

Weighted average grant-date fair value 2.47 4.34 6.28

Assumptions

Risk-free interest rate 2.26% 3.12% 4.70%

Expected diyidend yield 8.00% 6.02% 4.94%

Expected volatility 45.64% 24.02% 21.66%

Weighted average expected life of options
6.9

years
6.5 years 5.6 years

The following table summarizes activity for our outstanding stock options for the years ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 numbers of options in thousands

20091 20081 20071

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise

of Options Price of Options Price of Options Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 10344 $31.01 8555 $39.57 8598 $39.36

Granted 965 8.92 980 39.77 955 57.25

Exercised 14 37.45 1403 38.29

Forfeited 2436 32.03 1423 38.75 26 37.83

Adjustment to outstanding options

pursuant to special dividends n/a 2246 n/a 431 n/a

Outstanding at end of
year 8873 $28 22 10 344 $31 01 555 $39 57

Exercisable at end of year 6840 $29.65 7221 $29.51 6417 $37.75

In connection with the special dividends discussed in Note 11 effective on the record date of each dividend the

number of options and exercise prices of all outstanding awards were adjusted pursuant to the anti-dilution

provisions of the applicable plans based on the market price of our stock on the ex-dividend dates of the related

special dividends The adjustment to the number of outstandmg options is reflected the table separate from

the other activity during the periods at the weighted average exercise price for those outstanding options The

exercise prices for options granted exercised and forfeited in the table above reflect the actual exercise prices at

the time of the related activity The number and weighted average exercise price for options outstanding and

exercisable at the end of
year

reflect the adjustments for the applicable special dividends The adjustment of the

awards pursuant to the special dividends is considered modification of the awards but did not result in

change in the fair value of any awards and therefore did not result change total compensation to be

recognized over the remaining term of the awards

The intrinsic value of stock option represents the amount by which the current price of the underlying stock

exceeds the exercise price of the option Options Outstanding at December31 2009 had an aggregate intrinsic value

of $5.7 million and weighted average remaining contractual term of 4.4 years Options exercisable at Decem

ber 31 2008 had no aggregate mtrinsic value and weighted average remaimag contractual term of years No

stock options were exercised during the year ended 2009 The intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the

years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 was less than $0.1 million and $28.9 million respectively We may

realize tax benefits in connection with the exercise of options by employees of our taxable subsidiaries As no stock

options were exercised during the year ended December 31 2009 we realized no related tax benefits
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The following table summarizes activity for restricted stock awards for the years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 numbers of shares in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number of Grant-Date Number of Grant-Date Number of Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value

Unvested at begimung of year 893 $40 33 960 $46 08 088 $40 11

Granted 378 8.92 248 39.85 308 60.13

Vested 418 34.42 377 43.45 387 40.31

Forfeited 533 28.57 128 46.85 49 47.43

Issued pursuant to special

dividends1 138 9.58 190 22.51

Unvested at end of year 458 $24.23 893 $40.33 960 $46.08

This represents shares of restricted stock issued to holders of restricted stock pursuant to the special dividends

discussed in Note 11 The weighted average grant-date fair value for these shares represents the price of our

stock on the determination date for each dividend The issuance of the additional shares of restricted stock

resulted in no incremental compensation expense

The aggregate fan value of shares that vested during the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was

$3 million $16 million and $19 million respectively

Total compensation cost recognized for restricted stock and stock option awards was $8.0 million $17.6 mil

lion and $19.2 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Of these amounts

$1 million $3 million and $4 million respectively were capitalized At December 31 2009 total unvested

compensation cost not yet recognized was $10.1 million We expect to recognize this compensation over weighted

average period of approximately 1.5 years

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the temis of our employee stock purchase plan eligible employees may authorize payroll deductions up

to 15% of their base compensation to purchase shares of our Common Stock at five percent discount from its fair

value on the last day of the calendar quarter during which payroll deductions are made In 2009 2008 and 2007

20076 8926 and 3751 shares were purchased under this plan at an average price of $8.82 $23.86 and $44.67

respectively No compensation cost is recognized in connection with this plan

401k Plan

We provide 401k defined-contribution employee savings plan Employees who have completed 30 days of

service and are age 18 or older are eligible to participate For the period from January 2009 through January 29

2009 and durmg the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007 our matching contributions were made the

following manner 100% match on the first 3% of the participants compensation and 50% match on the

next 2% of the participants compensation On December 312008 we suspended employer matching contributions

effective January 29 2009 We may reinstate employer matching contributions at any time We mcurred costs in

connection with this plan of approximately $06 million $5 million and $5 million 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively

NOTE 13 Discontinued Operations and Assets Held for Sale

We report as discontinued operations real estate assets that meet the defmition of component of an entity and

have been sold or meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale We include all results of these discontinued

operations less applicable income taxes in separate component of income on the consolidated statements of

income under the heading income from discontinued operations net This treatment resulted in the retrospective

adjustment of 2008 and 2007 financial statement amounts
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We are currently marketing for sale certain real estate properties that are inconsistent with our long-term

investment strategy At the end of each reporting period we evaluate whether such properties meet the criteria to be

classified as held for sale including whether such properties are expected to be sold within 12 months Additionally

certain properties that do not meet all of the criteria to be classified as held for sale at the balance sheet date may
nevertheless be sold and included in discontinued operations in the subsequent 12 months thus the number of

properties that may be sold during the subsequent 12 months could exceed the number classified as held for sale At

December 31 2009 and 2008 we had four and 93 properties with an aggregate of 845 and 23348 units classified

as held for sale respectively Amounts classified as held for sale in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

are as follows in thousands

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

Real estate net $32773 $1059362

Other assets 953 14477

Assets held for sale $33726 $1073839

Property debt $29177 759327

Other liabilities 1226 12551

Liabilities related to assets held for sale $30403 771878

During the
years

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 we sold 89 151 and 73 consolidated properties

with an aggregate 22503 37202 and 11588 units respectively For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 discontinued operations includes the results of operations for the periods prior to the date of sale for all

properties sold or classified as held for sale as of December 31 2009

The following is summary of the components of income from discontinued operations for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Rental and other property revenues $152812 463232 599183

Property operating expenses 77267 228423 295741

Depreciation and amortization 51155 122549 152446
Provision for operating real estate impairment losses 54530 27420 5430
Other expenses net 9750 12892 7550

Operating loss income 39890 71948 138016

Interest income 112 1747 3747

Interest expense 30592 89356 117268
Gain on extinguishment of debt 259 31597

Loss income before gain on dispositions of real estate and income

taxes 70111 15661 56092
Gain on dispositions of real estate 221793 800335 117627

Income tax benefit expense 555 39794 2104

Income from discontinued operations net $152237 744880 171615

Income from discontinued operation attributable to

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated real estate partnerships 60008 $149383 68360

Noncontrolling interests in Aimco Operating Partnership 6891 57732 9592
Total

noncontrollin
interests 66899 207115 77952

Aimco 85338 537765 93663

Gain on dispositions of real estate is reported net of incremental direct costs incurred in connection with the

transaction including any prepayment penalties incurred upon repayment of property loans collateralized by the
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property being sold Such prepayment penalties totaled $29.0 million $64.9 million and $12.6 million for the years

ended December31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively We classify interest expense related to property debt within

discontinued operations when the related real estate asset is sold or classified as held for sale As discussed in

Note during the year ended December 31 2009 we allocated $10.1 million of goodwill related to our real estate

segment to the carrymg amounts of the properties sold or classified as held for sale Of these amounts $8 million

was reflected as reduction of gain on dispositions of real estate and $1.4 million was reflected as an adjustment of

impairment losses

NOTE 14 Earnings per Share

We calculate earnings per share based on the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock

participating securities common stock equivalents and dilutive convertible securities outstanding during the

period The following table illustrates the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands except per share data

2009 2008 2007

Numerator

Loss from continuing operations $197037 $117878 46109
Loss income from continuing operations attributable to

noncontrolling interests 47425 7880 17643
Income attributable to preferred stockholders 50566 53708 66016
Income attributable to participating securities 6985 4481

Loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco common
stockholders $200178 $186451 $134249

Income from discontinued operations 152237 744880 171615

Income from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling

interests 66899 207115 77952

Income from discontinued operations attributable to Aimco common
stockholders 85338 537765 93663

Net loss income 44800 627002 125506

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 19474 214995 95595
Income attributable to preferred stockholders 50566 53708 66016
Income attributable to participating securities 6985 4481

Net loss income attributable to Aimco common stockholders $1 14840 351314 40586

Denominator

Denominator for basic earnings per share weighted average
number

of shares of Common Stock outstanding 114301 88690 95107

Effect of dilutive securities

Dilutive potential common shares

Denominator for diluted earnings per share 114301 88690 95107

Earnings loss per conunon share basic and diluted

Loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco common
stockholders 1.75 2.10 1.41

Income from discontinued operations attributable to Aimco common

stockholders 0.75 6.06 0.98

Net loss income attributable to Aimco common stockholders 1.00 3.96 0.43
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As discussed in Note earnings loss per common share for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2007

have been retroactively adjusted for the effect of our adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 and FASB ASU 2010-0

As of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the common share equivalents that could potentially dilute basic

earnings per share in future periods totaled 8.9 million 9.2 million and 8.1 million respectively These securities

representmg stock options have been excluded from the earmngs per share computations for the
years

ended

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 because their effect would have been anti-dilutive

Participating securities consisting of unvested restricted stock and shares purchased pursuant to officer loans

receive dividends similar to shares of Common Stock and totaled 0.5 million 1.0 million and 1.2 million at

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The effect of participating securities is reflected in basic and

diluted earnings per share computations for the periods presented above using the two-class method of allocating

distributed and undistributed earnings During the year ended December 31 2009 the adjustment to compensation

expense recognized related to cumulative dividends on forfeited shares of restricted stock exceeded the amount of

dividends declared related to participating securities Accordingly distributed earnings attributed to participating

securities during 2009 were reduced to zero for purposes of calculating earnings per share using the two-class

method

As discussed in Note 10 the Aimco Operating Partnership has various classes of preferred OP units which

may be redeemed at the holders option The Aimco Operating Partnership may redeem these units for cash or at its

option shares of Common Stock During the periods presented no common share equivalents related to these

preferred OP units have been included in earnings per
share computations because their effect was antidilutive

NOTE 15 Unaudited Summarized Consolidated Quarterly Information

Summarized unaudited consolidated quarterly information for 2009 and 2008 is provided below in thousands

except per
share amounts

Quarter1

2009 First Second Third Fourth

Total revenues 297501 299059 296396 302807

Total operating expenses 265851 264524 276891 277984

Operating income 31650 34535 19505 24823

Loss from continuing operations 35344 43488 54659 63546

Income from discontinued operations net 2773 35860 45102 68502

Net loss income 32571 7628 9557 4956

Loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders 37698 29924 40490 6728

Loss per common share basic and diluted

Loss from continuing operations attributable to Aimco

common stockholders 0.33 0.39 0.46 0.57

Net loss attributable to Aimco common stockholders 0.34 0.26 0.34 0.06

Weighted average common shares outstanding2 110262 115510 115563 115871

Weighted average common shares and common share

equivalents outstanding2 110262 115510 115563 115871
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Quarter1

2008 First Second Third Fourth

Total revenues 296362 321278 321274 304256

Total operating expenses3 258269 263740 273586 389476

Operatmg mcome loss3 38 093 57 538 47 688 85220

Loss income from continuing operations3 33247 19627 75722 140726

Income from discontinued operations net 9587 362581 161667 211045

Net loss income 23660 342954 237389 70319

Net loss income attributable to Aimco common

stockholders 38857 239119 158313 9898

Earnings loss per common share basic and diluted

Loss income from continuing operations attributable

to Aimco common stockholders 0.49 0.48 0.56 1.60

Net loss income attributable to Aimco common

stockholders 0.43 2.72 1.84 0.11

Weighted average common shares outstanding2 89465 87790 85992 91515

Weighted average common shares and common share

equivalents outstanding2 89465 87790 86297 91515

Certain reclassifications have been made to 2009 and 2008 quarterly amounts to conform to the full year 2009

presentation primarily related to treatment of discontinued operations and newly adopted accounting standards

see Note

As discussed in Note in December 2009 we adopted the provisions of ASU 2010-01 which resulted in

reductions in the number of weighted average common shares and common share equivalents outstanding as

compared to the amounts previously reported

Total operating expenses operating income loss and loss income from continuing operations for the quarter

ended December 31 2008 includes $91.1 million provision for impairment losses on real estate development

assets which is discussed further in Note

NOTE 16 Transactions with Affiliates

We earn revenue from affiliated real estate partnerships These revenues include fees for property management

services partnership and asset management services risk management services and transactional services such as

refmancing construction supervisory and disposition including promote income which is income earned in

connection with the disposition of properties owned by certain of our consolidated joint ventures In addition we

are reimbursed for our costs in connection with the management of the unconsolidated real estate partnerships

These fees and reimbursements for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 totaled $18.5 million

$72.5 million and $42.1 million respectively The total accounts receiv4ble due from affiliates was $23.7 million

net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $3.4 million at December 31 2009 and $39.0 million net of allowance

for doubtful accounts of $2.8 million at December 31 2008

Additionally we earn interest income on notes from real estate partnerships in which we are the general partner

and hold either
par

value or discounted notes During the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 we did not

recognize significant amount of interest income on par value notes from unconsolidated real estate partnerships

Interest mcome earned on par
value notes from unconsolidated real estate partnerships totaled $8 million for the

year ended December 31 2007 Accretion income recognized on discounted notes from affiliated real estate

partnerships totaled $0.1 million $1.4 miffion and $8.1 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively See Note for additional information on notes receivable from unconsolidated real estate

partnerships
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NOTE 17 Business Segments

Our chief operating decision maker uses various generally accepted industry financial measures to assess the

performance and fmancial conditions of the business including Net Asset Value which is the estimated fair value

of our assets net of debt or NAV Funds From Operations or FF0 Adjusted FF0 or AFFO which is FF0 less

spending for Capital Replacements same store property operating results net operating income Free Cash Flow

which is net operatmg mcome less spendmg for Capital Replacements fmancial
coverage ratios and leverage as

shown on our balance sheet Our chief operating decision maker emphasizes net operating income as key
measurement of segment profit or loss Segment net operating income is generally defined as segment revenues less

direct segment operating expenses

We have two reportable segments real estate and investment management

Real Estate Segment

Our real estate segment owns and operates properties that generate rental and other property-related income through
the leasing of apartment units to diverse base of residents Our real estate segments net operating income also includes

mcome from
property management services performed for unconsolidated partnerships and unrelated parties

Investment Management Segment

Our mvestment management segment includes portfolio strategy capital allocation jomt ventures tax credit

syndication acquisitions dispositions and other transaction activities The expenses of this segment consist

primarily of the costs of departments that perform these activities These activities are conducted in
part by our

taxable subsidiaries and the related net operating income may be subject to income taxes Our investment

management segments operating results also include gains on dispositions of non-depreciable assets accretion of

loan discounts resulting from transactional activities and certain other income in arriving at income loss from

continuing operations for the segment

The following tables present the revenues net operating income loss and income loss from continuing

operations of our real estate and investment management segments for the years ended December 31 2009 2008
and 2007 in thousands

Corporate
Not Allocated

Investment to Segments
Real Estate Management and Certain

Segment Segment Eliminations Total

Year Ended December 31 2009
Rental and other property revenues $1140828 $1140828
Property management revenues primarily from

affiliates 5082 5082
Asset management and tax credit revenues 52193 2340 49853

Total revenues 1145910 52193 2340 1195763
Property operatmg expenses 521 161 521161
Property management expenses 2869 2869
Investment management expenses 15779 15779
Depreciation and amortization1 444413 444413
Provision for operating real estate impairment

losses 2329 2329
General and administrative expenses 69567 69567
Other expenses net 17891 17891
Restructuring costs

11241 11241

Total operating expenses 524030 15779 545441 1085250
Net operating income loss 621 880 36414 547781 110513

Other items included contmulng operations2 1659 309209 307550
Income loss from contmwng operations 621880 $38073 $856990 197037
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Corporate

Not Allocated to

Investment Segments and

Real Estate Management Certain

Segment Segment Eliminations Total

Year Ended December 31 2008

Rental and other property revenues $1137995 $1137995

Property management revenues primarily from

affiliates 6345 6345

Asset management and tax credit revenues 101 225 2395 98 830

Total revenues 1144340 101225 2395 1243170

Property operating expenses 526 238 526238

Property management expenses 385 5385

Investment management expenses 24784 24784

Depreciation and amortization1 392999 392999

Provision for impainnent losses on real estate

development assets 91138 91138

General and administrative expenses 99157 99157

Other expenses net 22568 22568

Restructuring costs 22802 22802

Total operating expenses 531623 24784 628664 1185071

Net operating income loss 612717 76441 631059 58099

Other items included in continuing

operations2 2227 173750 175977

Income loss from continuing operations 612717 74214 $804809 117878

Investment Corporate
Real Estate Management Not Allocated

Segment Segment to Segments Total

Year Ended December 31 2007

Rental and other property revenues $1093779 $1093779

Property management revenues primarily from

affiliates 6923 6923

Asset management and tax credit revenues 73755 73755

Total revenues 1100702 73755 1174457

Property operating expenses 503890 503890

Property management expenses 6678 6678

Investment management expenses 20507 20507

Depreciation and amortization1 347491 347491

Provision for operating real estate impairment

losses 1080 1080

General and administrative expenses 90674 90674

Other expenses net 19338 19338

Total operating expenses 510568 20507 458583 989658

Net operating income loss 590134 53248 458583 184799

Other items included in continuing operations2. 7305 238213 230908

Income loss from continuing operations 590134 $60553 $696796 46109
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Our chief operating decision maker assesses the performance of real estate using among other measures net

operatmg mcome excluding depreciation and amortization Accordingly we do not allocate depreciation and

amortization to the real estate segment

Other items in continuing operations for the investment management segment include accretion income

recognized on discounted notes receivable other income items and income taxes associated with transactional

activities Other items in continuing operations not allocated to segments include interest income and

expense ii provisions for losses on notes receivable iii equity in losses of unconsolidated real estate

partnerships and impairment losses related to unconsolidated real estate partnerships and iv gain on

dispositions of unconsolidated real estate and other

During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 for continuing operations our rental revenues

include $140.3 million $132.3 million and $121.4 million respectively of subsidies from government agencies

which represented 12.2% 11.6% and 11.0% respectively of our real estate segment revenues

The assets of our reportable segments are as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Total assets for reportable segments1 $7683449 $9074131

Corporate and other assets 223019 367739

Total consolidated assets $7906468 $9441870

Total assets for reportable segments primarily relate to the real estate segment

Our capital additions primarily relate to the real estate segment and totaled $275.4 million $665.2 million and

$689.7 million for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
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APARTMENT INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY

SCHEDULE III REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

For the Years Ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In Thousands

2009 2008 2007

Real Estate

Balance at beginning of year $11000496 $12420200 $12011693

Additions during the year

Newly consolidated assets and acquisition of limited

partnership interests1 19683 31447 31572

Acquisitions
107445 233059

Capital expenditures 275444 665233 689719

Deductions during the year

Casualty and other write-offs2 43134 130595 24594

Sales 1533511 2093234 521249

Balance at end of year 9718978 $11000496 $12420200

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at beginning of year 2815497 3047716 2901414

Additions during the year

Depreciation 478550 497395 477725

Newly consolidated assets and acquisition of limited

partnership interests1 2763 22256 128272

Deductions during the year

Casualty and other write-offs 5200 1838 5280

Sales 562240 705520 197871

Balance at end of year 2723844 2815497 3047716

Includes the effect of newly consolidated assets acquisition of limited partnership interests and related activity

Casualty and other write-offs in 2008 include impairments totaling $91.1 million related to our Lincoln Place

and Pacific Bay Vistas properties
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